UCSF UC San Francisco Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title Human immunodeficiency virus type I Tat-mediated gene regulation

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/9843r7cv

Author Jayakumar, Prerana

Publication Date 2006

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type I Tat-Mediated Gene

Regulation

by

Prerana Jayakumar

DISSERTATION

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Biomedical Sciences

in the

GRADUATE DIVISION

of the

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN FRANCISCO

Date	University Librarian

Degree Conferred:

Dedication

To my husband, for his long commutes and great pep talks, and my family, for their enthusiasm and patience

Acknowledgments

I have learned that a PhD is not simply a long process, but an experience of learning, and for that, I must thank my graduate mentors: Dr. Mark Goldsmith, who allowed me to believe in myself, and Dr. Eric Verdin, who took me on as a challenge and took pains to mold me into a true scientist. Dr. Doug Nixon, as my committee chair, provided organization, understanding, and enthusiasm, and Dr. David Erle, along with the Sandler Center for Functional Genomics, lent his critical eye and support. Dr. Melanie Ott and Dr. Warner Greene also lent me their ears and gave me advice when I most needed it. I am grateful to UCSF and to the University-wide AIDS Research Program for crucial funding.

The text of this dissertation includes material as it appears in the following papers, with coauthors listed in these publications who directed and supervised the research: Chapter 2A, Journal of Virology 2002, 76(14):6966-73 (Andreas Jekle), Chapter 3A, Journal of Virology 2005, 79(8):5220-6 (Oliver Keppler).

Thanks to Andreas Jekle for his patient mentoring, Oliver Keppler for pushing me, and Christian Callebaut for great discussions and advice. My 1999 Biomedical Sciences class (Andrea, Brian, Danny, Dave, James, Jason K, Jen S, Jen W, Jin-Sae, Karen, Lauren, Luke, Maria, Marla, Melissa, Nick, Rebecca, Sam, and Steve) stuck together and helped one another as best we could. Ann-Marie Roy, Nidhi Ahuja, Angelika Pedal, and Khaoula Bourara were always there for me. Thanks to

former and current Verdin, Ott, Goldsmith, and other Gladstone lab members (Brett, Laura, Dwayne, Herb, Björn, Tokameh, Maribel, Nandita, Veronique, Albert, Franck, Patricia, Sara, Katrin, Sebastian, Eva, Hye-Sook, Soong-yoo, Sheetal, Jon S., Steve C., Mel, Ninan, Cyril, Peggy, Birgit, Frank, Marielle, Gilad, Christophe, Kim, Becky, Myra, Karin) for their advice and friendship, as well as members of the Gladstone cores: Genomics (Chris B, Yanxia), Graphics (John and Chris), FACS (Marty), and Editorial (Gary and Steven).

I must thank my family for their genuine interest in my work and their unfailing belief in me. My dad for his great ideas out of left-field, my mom for listening patiently, my sister, for being an amazing little sister to admire, and my in-laws for taking care of lots of things while I was working.

Last of all, thanks to my husband, Narayan, who coached me through difficult times, listened to my practice talks, and suffered a long commute for seven years.

I thank all my unnamed family and friends for their restraint and patience, to whom I can finally answer, "Yes, I'm done!"

Abstract

HIV infection is characterized by progressive loss of CD4+ T cells and activation of the immune system. This immune activation is mediated by a number of factors, including viral proteins like Tat, as well as cytokines and chemokines. We investigated the role of Tat in activating gene expression as well as the role of a chemokine receptor, CXCR4, which is important for entry of HIV and cellular chemotaxis. We have found that CXCR4-mediated entry can occur efficiently in tissue macrophages, despite the view that macrophages are usually only targeted via CCR5. However, CXCR4-mediated entry into either T-cells or macrophages is inefficient in transgenic rats, compared with CCR5-mediated entry. In humans, pathogenic infection via CXCR4 evolves even in the absence of the accessory Nef protein. A splice variant of the ligand of CXCR4, SDF-1y, can inhibit HIV Tatmediated transcription. In contrast, HIV-1 Tat activates the expression of several genes including CXCR4 and Tsg101 by a transcriptional mechanism, leading to increased chemotaxis to SDF-1 and potential dissemination of infected T cells. Our work describes a complex interplay of HIV proteins, chemokines, and chemokine receptors, in which activation of chemokine-mediated pathways facilitates the pathogenesis of HIV.

vi

C 2.

Table of contents

Title Page *i*

Copyright blank page *ii*

Dedication iii

Acknowledgments iv

Abstract vi

List of tables ix

List of figures and illustrations x

Chapter 1: Introduction 1

- 1A. Introduction to HIV 1
- 1B. HIV pathogenesis 5
- 1C. Roles of CXCR4 8
- 1D. Roles of Tat 11

Chapter 2: Collaborations 17

- 2A. CXCR4 and Nef 17
- 2B. CXCR4 and rats 35
- 2C. SDF1 44
- 2D. Tat and SIRT1 65
- Chapter 3: CXCR4 and macrophages 91
 - 3A. Macrophage infection 91
 - 3B. Glycosylation 109

Chapter 4: Tat and microarrays 121

4A. Microarray studies 121

4B. Tat and CXCR4 129

Chapter 5: Tat and other genes 150

5A. Tat and Tsg101 150

- Chapter 6: Conclusions 160
- Chapter 7: References 163
- Chapter 8: Notes and Appendices 227

8A. Tables 227

8B. Figures 232

List of tables

- Table 1.1 Two major viral phenotypes
- Table 3.1 V1-V3 sequences, glycosylation sites, and V3 charge of R5, R5X4, X4 lab-adapted, and X4 dualtropic viruses.
- Table 3.2 Quantification of HIV-1 p24-positive macrophages in tonsil histocultures
- from two donors.
- Table 4.1 Genes upregulated by GFP, Tat72, or Tat101 on microarray
- Table 4.2 Genes downregulated by GFP, Tat72, or Tat101 on microarray.

List of figures and illustrations

- Figure 1.1 HIV life cycle
- Figure 1.2 HIV genome
- Figure 1.3 CXCR4 signaling pathways
- Figure 1.4 CXCR4 promoter
- Figure 1.5 Tat72 and Tat101
- Figure 1.6 Tat-mediated transactivation
- Figure 1.7 Two steps of transactivation
- Figure 1.8 Tat domains

Figure 2.1 – The D36/99 isolate depletes $CD4^{+}$ T-cells more efficiently and replicates faster than D36/95 in *ex vivo* human lymphoid cell cultures.

Figure 2.2 - D36/99 induces high levels of apoptosis among CD4⁺ T-cells in human lymphoid cell cultures.

Figure 2.3 - D36/99 induces depletion and apoptosis of both CCR5⁺ and CCR5⁻ CD4⁺ T-cells in human *ex vivo* lymphoid cell cultures.

Figure 2.4 - D36/99 can use CXCR4 as a coreceptor more efficiently than D36/95.

Figure 2.5 - D36/99 depletes and induces apoptosis in both the CCR5⁺ and CCR5⁻

subsets of CD4⁺ T-cells in human *ex vivo* lymphoid cultures.

Figure 2.6 – Human CD4 and CXCR4 are expressed on rat lymphocytes and macrophages.

Figure 2.7 – Entry and early gene expression in transgenic rat lymphocytes.

Figure 2.8 – Limited entry and early gene expression in transgenic rat macrophages.

Figure 2.9 – Entry and early gene expression in transgenic rat microglia.

Figure 2.10 – Cloning of human SDF-1 γ .

Figure 2.11 – Tissue-specific expression and function of SDF-1 γ .

Figure 2.12 – SDF-1 γ is predominantly a cytoplasmic protein with discrete nucleolar localization.

Figure 2.13 – SDF-1 γ binds specifically to TAR RNA in vitro.

Figure 2.14 – SDF-1 γ blocks Tat-dependent LTR transactivation.

Figure 2.15 – SDF-1 γ blocks both X4 and R5 virus infection in GHOST cells.

Figure 2.16 - Tat and nicotinamide cause T-cell hyperactivation

Figure 2.17 - Tat-mediated superinduction of NFkB response genes requires SIRT1

Figure 2.18 - Tat neutralizes SIRT1 inhibition on NF_KB promoter activity

Figure 2.19 - Tat binds to the acetyl lysine-binding site in SIRT1

Figure 2.20 - Tat inhibits the SIRT1 deacetylase activity

Figure 2.21 - Tat blocks the SIRT1 deacetylase activity and superinduces T-cell

activation and HIV transcription via NF κ B.

Figure 3.1 - Primary X4 viruses UG021 and J130 do not use CCR5 as a coreceptor and require CXCR4 for infection.

Figure 3.2 - Primary X4 viruses replicate in *ex vivo* human tonsil histocultures.

Figure 3.3 - Primary X4 isolates UG021 and J130, but not the TCLA-X4 strain NL4-

3, productively infect tissue macrophages in human tonsil histocultures.

Figure 3.4 - Tissue-resident macrophages in tonsils histocultures infected with primary X4 isolates are HIV-1 RNA positive.

Figure 3.5 - Confocal double-immunofluorescence microscopy allows determination of frequency of infected tissue macrophages.

Figure 3.6 - Markers for T cells and macrophages do not colocalize in infected tonsil histocultures.

Figure 3.7 – N-glycosylation pathway

Figure 3.8 – X4 dualtropic viruses NL4-3 and glycosylation mutants infect HeLa CD4-CCR5 cells.

Figure 3.9 – X4 dualtropic viruses and glycosylation mutants infect GHOST-CD4 cells.

Figure 3.10 – Glycosylation mutants fail to infect monocyte-derived macrophages.

Figure 4.1 – Schematic of virus preparation and infection.

Figure 4.2 – Tat expression in infected cells and GFP mean fluorescence intensity in

Tat-infected cells

Figure 4.3 – Activation of GFP expression by extracellular Tat.

Figure 4.4 – Microarray comparisons

Figure 4.5 – Microarray preparation

Figure 4.6 – CXCR4 RNA and protein are increased by Tat72 and Tat101

Figure 4.7 – Tat increases CXCR4 cell surface expression in infected cells

Figure 4.8 – Tat improves migration of T cells to SDF1alpha.

Figure 4.9 – Tat activates the CXCR4 promoter.

Figure 4.10 – The Tat-responsive element in CXCR4 is located between -600 and -

357 upstream of the start site.

Figure 4.11 – A conserved region in the Tat-reponsive element of CXCR4

Figure 4.12 – Model of in vivo CXCR4 upregulation.

Figure 5.1 – ESCRT complexes

Contraction in the second

- Figure 5.2 Tat upregulates Tsg101 RNA levels
- Figure 5.3 Tat101 slightly increases Tsg101 protein levels.
- Figure 5.4 Tat101 has no effect on Tsg101 levels in exosomes.
- Figure 5.5 Tat101 improves HIV budding from 293T cells.
- Figure 5.6 AIP1 protein levels in response to Tat.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1A. Introduction to HIV

Human Immunodeficiency Virus type I (HIV-1) is the etiological agent of AIDS (Barre-Sinoussi 1983, Gallo 1984, Popovic 1984, Levy 1984). Over 40 million people are infected (UNAIDS 2005), and although drugs targeting several stages of the life cycle are available or in production (Yin 2006), a vaccine or curative treatment remains elusive.

HIV-1 is a plus-stranded RNA retrovirus of the lentivirus genus (Coffin 1979). The virus is an enveloped virus surrounding a protein coat which encloses two strands of genomic RNA of 9.2 kilobases (Terwilliger 1989). The genome contains two longterminal repeats that are necessary for viral integration and act as transcriptional regulatory elements, including the promoter (Sanchez-Pescador 1980). The genome (Figure 1.2) encodes essential genes gag, which encodes the structural capsid proteins Gag (capsid CA [p24], matrix MA) and nucleocapsid (NC), pol, which encodes the reverse transcriptase (RT) and integrase (IN), pro, which encodes the viral protease (PR), env, which encodes the viral Env envelope protein. In addition, the genome encodes tat, the transcriptional activator, rev, necessary for RNA nuclear export, and accessory non-essential proteins nef, an infectivity factor, vif, which counteracts cellular restriction factors, *vpr*, viral protein R which is necessary for nuclear entry, and vpu, viral protein U which is involved in viral egress. These nine genes (Figure 1.2) encode a total of 15 proteins that participate throughout the viral life cycle (Figure 1.1) (reviewed in Greene 2002).

The mature HIV virion is coated with the envelope protein. Envelope is produced as a precursor protein called gp160, which is then cleaved into (SU, surface) gp120 and (TM, transmembrane) gp41 forms. Envelope is arranged as trimers on the virion surface (Doms 1991), with the gp120 protein making direct contacts with the cell. The gp41 molecule is a transmembrane protein, revealed only upon gp120 binding to the cellular receptors (CD4 and a coreceptor) and its subsequent conformational change. When gp41 is exposed, its fusion peptide makes contact with the cellular membrane and initiates fusion of the viral membrane with the cellular membrane (Sattentau 1993). This process leaves the viral membrane proteins on the cell surface (Dimitrov 1991), and releases the virion core, matrix, and some molecules of protease into the cytoplasm.

Inside the cell, the released virion core is coated with the capsid protein p24 and p6, processed forms of Gag. This pyramid-shaped core also contains some molecules of reverse-transcriptase and integrase, Vpr, and the nucleocapsid-coated RNA (Accola 2000). The virion RNA is uncoated by means of a process known only to be inhibited by the cellular protein TRIM5 α (Stremlau 2004).

The uncoated RNA is reverse transcribed into DNA by the viral reverse transcriptase using cellular dNTPs (Barre-Sinoussi 1983). The process of reverse transcription leads to the full reconstitution of the HIV LTRs and the formation of ends suitable for integration.

These viral DNAs are imported into the nucleus by a viral protein complex called the pre-integration complex (PIC), which contains Vpr, IN, MA, and other proteins (Farnet 1991). The complex enters the nucleus through the nuclear pore and

integrase causes the integration of the DNA into the host chromosomes (Kulkosky 1990). Preferential integration is thought to occur within transcribed units (Schroder 2002).

After integration, expression of the viral genome requires cellular factors for initiation (Zhou 2000; Alcami 1995), followed by expression of Tat, which allows efficient elongation of transcription by RNA polymerase II (Kao 1987). Viral RNAs that are produced are initially spliced by the cellular splicing machinery. In the presence of the viral protein Rev, unspliced and partially spliced RNAs are also exported to the cytoplasm via CREM1-mediated nuclear export, and these unspliced messages can be incorporated into new viral particles (Fischer 1994).

Spliced and partially spliced messages are translated in the cytoplasm to produce viral proteins (Fischer 1994). Proteins such as Gag-Pol (p160) must be cleaved by protease to produce functional proteins. Gag p55 is cleaved to produce p24 (CA), p17 (MA), and NC. It also produces p6, p1, and p2. Gag-Pol is cleaved to produce protease, two subunits of RT, and integrase (reviewed in Dunn 2002).

After protease cleavage, viral proteins pass through the normal cellular transport pathways for modification. Gag, bound to viral unspliced genomic RNA, as well as Env, assemble at the plasma membrane (Vincent 1999). Other cellular proteins, such as APOBEC3G (Zennou 2004) and Cyclophilin A (Franke 1994), also may be found at the site of assembly. Proteins of the vesicular transport pathway, including Tsg101 (Martin-Serrano 2001), assist in the creation of membrane curvature. The viral particle produced is once again enveloped, but does not contain a core, but only a Gag precursor. This immature particle is cleaved by protease to produce

mature particles (Navia 1990). Protease cleaves Gag to MA and CA, p6 and NC, and these form the outer and inner compartments, respectively, of the mature viral particle that is competent for infection (Figure 1.2)

Studies have shown that several cellular factors are necessary for productive viral infection (reviewed in Sorin 2006). However, many host factors necessary for infection remain unknown. Furthermore, while it is known that HIV can infect CD4+ T lymphocytes (Barre-Sinoussi 1983), macrophages (Gartner 1986), and dendritic cells (Cimarelli 1994), and that the virus can kill infected lymphocytes (Levy 1994), the mechanism of viral action on uninfected cells remains elusive. The observation that several HIV proteins are soluble and may exert effects on neighboring uninfected cells highlights the importance of studying these proteins in isolation.

1B. HIV Pathogenesis

HIV infects cells by means of a receptor CD4 and coreceptor (Kwong 1998). The progressive loss of CD4+ cells by HIV infection or by bystander apoptosis of cells leads to a weakening of the immune system, which in turn provides the conditions necessary for opportunistic infections and clinical AIDS (Finkel 1995).

Infection of T cells in vivo usually requires CD4 and also a coreceptor which is a chemokine receptor (Doms 2000). One of two major alternate coreceptors may be used, CCR5 or CXCR4. Typically, viruses using CCR5 for entry are less pathogenic, infect macrophages, are found in early infections, are non-syncytium-inducing, and are more often transmitted. CXCR4-using viruses, instead, are often cytopathic, primarily infect T cells, evolve later in infection, induce syncytia, and are rarely transmitted (Table 1.1) (Scarlatti 1997).

CCR5 viruses predominate earlier in infection (Scarlatti 1997), and several potential causes result in the shift of the *in vivo* population towards CXCR4-using population. Several theories exist to explain the evolution of CXCR4-using viruses, which occurs in approximately 50% of AIDS patients (Koot 1993). R5 viruses are thought to be more easily transmitted because of their infection of dendritic cells which line the genital mucosa (Berlier 2005). Even in patients infected with both R5 and X4 viruses, the R5 viruses' ability to infect many long-lived macrophages, may contribute to their survival (Gorry 2004). Also, as chemokines that bind CCR5, such as MIP1 and RANTES, are produced in response to R5 infection, X4 variants may emerge (Kinter 2000). Viral intrinsic properties such as envelope shedding, relative burst size, and their ability to infect more activated cells may result in greater viral

loads with R5 than X4 viruses (Roy 2005). In addition, antiviral immunity may play a role. Studies suggest that X4 viruses may be selectively inhibited by antibodies (Bunnik 2006), in part due to lower glycosylation (LI 2001), and by cellular responses (Gorry 2004). As immune function wanes in later stages of disease, X4 viruses may emerge. Rates of viral mutation may also play a role in the transition from X4 to R5 (Gorry 2004).

Aside from viral properties, the cytokine milieu plays a role in controlling and exacerbating infection. Cytokines such as the interleukins IL-2, IL-7, and IL-15 are known to increase viral infection of resting T cells (Kreisberg 2006). However, inflammatory cytokines such as the interferons and tumor necrosis factor may act in an antiviral fashion as they respond to viral RNA (Preble 1993; Wong 1998). Activation of these cytokine genes is also regulated by viral proteins (Ott 1996; Buonaguro 1992; Kim 2004; Kinter 2000; Robichaud 2000).

As mentioned above, chemokines also play a role in infection. Beta chemokines like Macrophage Inflammatory Protein-1 (MIP1) and Regulated on Activation Normal T cell Expressed and Secreted (RANTES) counteract R5 infection by binding to and signaling through CCR5, while SDF-1 counteracts X4 infection by binding to and signaling through CXCR4 (reviewed in Kinter 2000). In addition, other chemokine receptors such as CCR7, CX3CR1, CCR2, CCR3, and CCR4 play a role in HIV pathogenesis (Kinter 2000). CCR7 is downregulated upon infection, while CCR2 and CX3CR1 may be used as alternative coreceptors (Kinter 2000). CCR3 and CCR4 upregulation leads to increased T cell permissivity for infection (Ancuta 2006).

The cell type infected by the virus also affects viral pathogenesis. The majority of cells infected and targeted by HIV are CD4+ T cells, which are found in blood and lymphoid organs. Among T cell subsets, memory and activated cells produce more virus than naïve cells (Eckstein 2001a, Zhang 1999). Furthermore, because CCR5 is expressed more highly on memory cells and CXCR4 more highly on naive cells (Lacey 1997), these expression patterns may play a role in the evolution of viral tropism (Davenport 2002, Blaak 2000). Cytokines like IL-7 which cause proliferation of naïve T cells may also affect viral evolution (Llano 2001). The long survival of some memory cells further contributes to prolonged retention of viruses in the host.

In addition to T cells, HIV targets macrophages. Macrophages are relatively longlived, and unlike T cells, are not susceptible to activation- or infection-induced apoptosis. Studies have shown that infection of macrophages can contribute up to 50% of the infectious viral load (Johnson 1993; Eckstein 2001; Sherman 2003). Macrophages are typically infected by R5 viruses. However, recent studies have shown that macrophages are also susceptible to infection by viruses that solely use CXCR4 both in vitro and in vivo, despite their lower expression of CXCR4 (Jayakumar 2005; Yi 2005). Because macrophages reside in tissue, they have the potential to spread virus by close contact with T cells. Macrophages residing in the lung (alveolar macrophages), the gut, and brain (microglia) have all been shown to be infected with HIV-1, and may contribute to high viral loads. They are also potential reservoirs of infection after treatment.

1C. Roles of CXCR4

CXCR4, also called fusin or CD184, is a CXC-chemokine receptor expressed on a wide variety of cells. These receptors are seven-transmembrane proteins with a C-terminal region coupled to a $G\alpha$ i protein, upstream of phosphoinositol-3 kinase and the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways (Figure 1.3). CXCR4 and other CXC-receptors are sensitive to pertussis toxin, and when bound by their cognate ligand, induce Ca++ signaling. Active CXCR4 has been found in lipid raft regions of the cell membrane (Wysoczynski 2005).

CXCR4 is essential for early heart development, outward migration of mesenchymal stem cells (CD34+ cells), and differentiation of osteoclasts. Mice lacking both copies of CXCR4 die in embryogenesis. Furthermore, CXCR4 is necessary for the maturation of B cells into plasma cells, including the migration of these cells from the bone marrow. Expression of this receptor is also associated with neuronal cell migration (Peng 2004).

The exclusive ligand for CXCR4 is the chemokine stromal-derived factor, or SDF-1 (α or β). SDF-1 is an alpha chemokine and expressed in a variety of tissues. SDF-1 is also necessary for heart development and plasma cell development, and mice lacking SDF-1 also die during development.

CXCR4 and SDF-1 are implicated in a variety of cancers. Upregulation of CXCR4 is common among metastatic cancers, and migration of cells towards SDF-1 is thought to play a role in dissemination of transformed cells. An additional role for CXCR4 in cancers is in cooperation with integrins to promote cell adhesion and survival (Hartmann 2005). Furthermore, CXCR4 and SDF-1 have roles in heart development

and are crucial for angiogenesis, which is necessary for tumor maintenance (Gupta 1998). CXCR4 mutations are associated with WHIM (warts, hypogammaglobulinemia, infections, and myelokathexis) syndrome (Hernandez 2003).

The CXCR4 gene is known to be regulated by a number of cellular transcription factors (Figure 1.4). NF κ B, Sp1, and USF-1 positively regulate CXCR4, whereas the transcription factor YY1 downregulates CXCR4. The gene is upregulated upon stimulation of T cells with PHA/IL-2 or CD3 and CD28 (Secchiero 2000), where 62-64kD species of CXCR4 have been shown to be ubiquitinated and to associate with CD4 (Zaitseva 2005). CXCR4 expression is also induced by NFkB (Hebig 2003), vascular-endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Bachelder 2002), IL-6 (Odemis 2002), and insulin-like growth factor receptor (IGF1R) (Akekawatchai 2005). Follicular dendritic cells have also been demonstrated to increase CXCR4 on the T cell surface (Estes 2002).

In the context of HIV-1, SDF-1 and the HIV envelope protein gp120 bind to an overlapping site on CXCR4 and induce signaling. SDF-1 is a potent inhibitor of HIV binding to CXCR4. The binding of SDF-1 to CXCR4 is improved by tyrosine sulfation of CXCR4 (Farzan 2002). Mutations in the 3' untranslated region of *SDF1* have been associated with slower progression to AIDS or with later onset of evolution to X4 viruses (Marechal 1999; Winkler 1998). One study has shown that overexpression of CXCR4 may be associated with the emergence of X4 strains (Lin 2005).

In HIV pathogenesis, CXCR4 expression on M cells of the gut allows HIV transport across the gut monolayer to gain access to target T cells (Fotopoulos 2002).

Several HIV proteins can regulate CXCR4 expression. Nef downregulates CXCR4 protein levels from the cell surface by direct binding. Envelope binding to CXCR4 is also thought to downregulate CXCR4 expression. Extracellular forms of recombinant Tat have been demonstrated to upregulate CXCR4 expression on the cell surface by an unknown mechanism.

The V3 region of HIV-1 gp120 is the coreceptor binding site and associates with CXCR4. Binding to CXCR4 is dependent on as little as one amino acid within the V3 region of the envelope protein, and may be regulated by V3 glycosylation. In most strains, binding to CXCR4 is dependent on initial envelope binding to CD4 and a subsequent conformational change. Tat also binds to CXCR4 competitively at the SDF-1 or gp120 site and can downregulate CXCR4 expression by binding (Ghezzi 2000; Xiao 2000).

HIV opportunistic infections such as tuberculosis also induce CXCR4 expression, allowing infection of alveolar macrophages (Hoshino 2004). Lipopolysaccharides, however, downregulate CXCR4 expression in monocytes (Juffermans 2002).

1D. Roles of Tat

The HIV-1 *transactivator* of *transcription*, Tat, is an early gene in the viral life cycle. Originally known as p5, it is a 10kD protein encoded by two exons, the first 72 amino acids long and the second exon encoding an additional 29 amino acids (Jones 1993). Tat's role in infection occurs after integration, when the viral DNA must be transcribed into RNA in order to complete the cycle of infection. Early transcription, thought to be induced by immune activation of T cells, results in the expression of the Tat protein as well as the Rev protein. This early Tat is 101 amino acids long and encoded by multiply spliced mRNA. As Rev accumulates, unspliced RNAs are exported from the nucleus and a shorter 72 amino acid Tat protein is produced later in the infection cycle (Figure 1.5).

Both forms of Tat can bind to an RNA stem loop corresponding to the first 59 nucleotides of the HIV LTR, called the trans-activation responsive RNA (TAR). TAR is a stem loop structure, and mutations that disrupt the stem abolish Tat transactivation. Compensatory mutations, accordingly, restore TAR-Tat interactions. Tat binds to TAR at a small bulge at residues +22 to +24 via its arginine-rich motif (ARM) (Dingwall 1989; Cordingley 1990; Roy 1990; Gait 1993).

In the absence of Tat, RNA polymerase II cannot elongate efficiently from the HIV LTR due to hypophosphorylation of its C-terminal domain (CTD), although basal transcription occurs. The short transcripts that are produced form the stem loop structure that is TAR, to which Tat specifically binds in conjunction with the cellular protein Cyclin T1 (Fujinaga 1998). Cyclin T1 in turn recruits Cdk9 and other cellular transcription factors to form the positive transcriptional elongation factor b (PTEFb,

also known as Tat-associated kinase, TAK). CDk9 in PTEFb phosphorylates the polymerase at serine 2 and 5 of the CTD, resulting in more efficient transcription (Zhou 2000). The entire process, called transactivation (Figure 1.6), allows RNA polymerase II to transcribe the integrated virus into full-length RNA efficiently (see Figure 1.7), resulting in hundred-to-thousand-fold activation of the HIV LTR. This results in production of viral structural proteins and assembly and eventual budding of virus, completing the replication cycle. Thus, Tat is necessary at an early step for any production of virus, and viruses lacking Tat do not replicate.

The Tat protein has several domains (Figure 1.8). The N-terminal region contains an acidic domain. This is followed by the cysteine-rich region, which binds to CyclinT1 and coordinates zinc. The 16-residue hydrophobic core of the protein is followed by the arginine-rich motif (ARM), which binds to TAR, provides protein stability, and is responsible for Tat's nuclear and nucleolar subcellular distribution. The ARM overlaps with a basic region called the protein transduction domain (PTD), which is responsible for Tat's ability to enter cells by an active, but unknown, process. All of these domains are found within the first exon of Tat. The second exon is known only to contain an RGD motif which binds integrins. In this regard, it is notable that some molecular strains (LAI/BRU) of HIV-1 typically carry a shorter two-exon Tat86. However, other molecular and primary HIV-1 isolates encode full length Tat101. Beyond simple transactivation, post-translational modifications of Tat also affect transcription. Forms of Tat acetylated at Lysine-50 cannot associate with TAR. Instead, acetylated Tat is thought to associate with the histone acetyltransferase p300/CREB-binding protein-associated factor (PCAF), which in turns remodels the

local chromatin environment to allow transcription to proceed (Kaehlcke 2003; Dorr 2002, Nakatani 2002, Bres 2002). Tat can also be de-acetylated by the histone deacetylase SIRT1 (Pagans 2005). Tat is also reported to be ubiquitylated (Bres 2003) and phosphorylated (Endo-Munoz 2005).

In addition to transcription of HIV genes, Tat has other effects on the cell. Overexpression of Tat in lymphocytes results in apoptosis (Li 1995). Full-length Tat (Tat 101) can activate T cells and induce the production of IL-2 (Ott 1997), while both forms of Tat stimulate IL-8 production by T cells (Ott 1998). The protein transduction domain (PTD) of Tat allows it to enter cells, likely through endosomal or clathrin-mediated pathways (Vendeville 2004), activate the HIV LTR, and induce cytokine expression. Addition of Tat to macrophages and dendritic cells induces production of inflammatory molecules such as $TNF\alpha$ (Chen 1997) and interferonresponsive genes (Izmailova 2003). These immune activation effects have garnered interest in Tat as an immunomodulatory molecule in vaccines. Furthermore, Tat induces post-transcriptional changes through the upregulation of Tat-associated kinases (such as T-cell derived kinase, TTK) which in turn phosphorylate components of the basal transcriptional machinery (Nekhai 2002).

Previous experiments have shown that both Tat and Nef regulate gene expression in different cell types. HIV-1 Nef initiates a program of gene expression that mimics T cell activation by CD3 and CD28 antibodies (Simmons 2001). Tat also regulates cellular activation and can induce the expression of interferon-responsive genes, including inflammatory chemokines and chemoattractants in dendritic cells, an effect

recapitulated in HIV-1 infection (Izmailova 2003). These results make Tat a likely candidate for many viral effects on uninfected cells.

The mechanism of these changes is thought to be through the upregulation of key transcription factors such as NF κ B at the transcriptional level, possibly by binding to enhancer sequences (Yeung 2004; Dandekar 2004). Only in the case of the tumor necrosis factor beta gene (TNF β) is Tat known to act through a TAR-like element (Buonaguro 1994; Brother 1996).

Tat also represses the activity of many genes. Repression of some genes may be due to sequestration of transcription factors by Tat at the HIV promoter. However, for genes such as the mannose receptor (Caldwell 2000), β 2 microglobulin (Carroll 1998), and MHC class I (Matsui 1996; Weissman 1998), repression is enhanced by the presence of TAR and is targeted to the basal promoter via known Tat-associated factors (TAFs), potentially indicating a direct effect on transcription by Tat.

Tat interacts with a variety of proteins. Among the proteins identified to interact with Tat are transcription factors like NFAT, Sp1, TFIID, CREB-binding protein, and TFIIH, as well as histones and histone-associated proteins.

Several mutants of Tat have been identified. Mutants of the Cysteine-22 residue no longer bind to Cyclin T1 and cannot transactivate. Mutants in the ARM region also fail to transactivate due to lack of interaction with TAR. Mutants of acetylation sites, like Lysine-41, fail to transactivate for unknown reason, but other acetylation mutants, like Lysine-50, are defective only under certain conditions. Various mutants of Tat, including mutants of the second exon, have no known function.

1E. Figure Legends

Figure 1.1 – Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) viral life cycle. Adapted from Warner Greene.

Figure 1.2 – Schematic representation of HIV-1 genome organization. Open reading frames are shown as boxes, with alternative and shifted reading frames shown above or below. LTR: long terminal repeat.

Figure 1.3 – Pathways activated by CXCR4 ligation with SDF-1. From ttp://www.biocarta.com/pathfiles/cxcr4Pathway.gif

Figure 1.4 – CXCR4 promoter organization. Predicted transcription factor binding sites are shown, along with relative positions. Asterisks indicate published binding sites verified by experimental methods.

Figure 1.5 – Tat72 and Tat101 are produced by alternate splicing. Tat101 is produced in the absence of Rev-dependent nuclear export by splicing of an intron, and can be found both early and late in the infection cycle. Tat72 is produced only from transcripts exported to the cytoplasm after the accumulation of Rev and encodes exon 1 only, terminated by a stop codon in the intron.

Figure 1.6 – Tat-mediated transcription of the HIV-1 promoter. In the absence of Tat, transcription does not proceed efficiently. Tat recruits cellular cofactors Cyclin T1 and Cdk9 to phosphorylate RNA polymerase II and promote elongation. Similar mechanisms of activation may occur at cellular promoters.

Figure 1.7 – Tat mediated transcription occurs in two steps. In the early step in the absence of Tat, short transcripts accumulate. In the late step, Tat binds to TAR and activates transcription.

Figure 1.8 – Domains of Tat. Exon 1 contains the acidic domain, cysteine-rich region, the core, and the arginine-rich motif. Exon 2 contains an RGD motif. Critical residues for transactivation (Cys-22 and Lys-41) as well as the protein-transduction domain (PTD) are indicated.

Chapter 2: Collaborations

2A. CXCR4 and Nef

Paper: Coreceptor Phenotype of Natural Nef-deleted HIV-1 Evolves *in Vivo* Leading to Increased Virulence

2A.1 Abstract

The Sydney Blood Bank Cohort is a group of patients with slowly progressive infection by a human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) strain containing spontaneous deletions within the *nef*-LTR region. In 1999, 18 years after the initial infection, one of the members (D36) developed AIDS. In this work, we used an ex vivo human lymphoid cell culture system to analyze two viral isolates obtained from this patient prior to the onset of AIDS in 1995, and after disease progression in 1999. Both D36 isolates were less potent in depleting CD4⁺ T-cells compared to a reference dualtropic, nef-bearing viral isolate. However, the 1999 isolate was measurably more cytotoxic to CD4⁺ T-cells than the 1995 isolate. Interestingly, although both isolates were nearly equally potent in depleting CCR5⁺ CD4⁺ T-cells, the cytotoxic effect of the 1999 isolate towards CCR5⁻ CD4⁺ T-cells was significantly higher. Furthermore, GHOST cell infection assays and blocking experiments with the CXCR4 inhibitor AMD3100 showed that the later D36/99 isolate could infect both CCR5⁺ and CCR5⁻ CXCR4⁺ cells efficiently while infection by the 1995 isolate was restricted to CCR5⁺ cells. In conclusion, these data show that an *in vivo* evolution of the tropism of this nef-deleted strain towards an X4 phenotype was associated with a higher cytopathic potential and progression to AIDS.

2A.2 Introduction

In human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) -infected individuals, both viral and host factors regulate viral replication, depletion of CD4⁺ T-cells, and disease progression. Host factors include genetic determinants such as the expression of coreceptors (Dean et al 1996, Fauci 1996, Stewart 1997) and the ability to establish an efficient immune response (reviewed in McMichael 2001 and Rowland-Jones 2001). Furthermore, mutations in the HIV envelope protein Env that cause a change in coreceptor usage have been shown to influence disease progression (Connor 1997; Kreisberg 2001; Schramm 2000a; Schuitemaker 1992; Xiao 1998). In many, but not all, patients disease progression coincides with broadened coreceptor usage. HIV strains isolated early after infection encode Env proteins that utilize CCR5 as a coreceptor to enter host cells (R5 viruses), whereas viruses isolated at later disease stages often represent Env-variants that can utilize CXCR4 (X4 viruses) or both CCR5 and CXCR4 (R5X4 viruses) (reviewed in Berger 1999). In addition, viral accessory genes such as rev, tat, vif, vpr, vpu (Michael 1995; Yamada 2000; Zhang 1997) and nef (Deacon 1995; Mariani 1996) have been implicated in disease development. In particular, Nef is a multifunctional protein (Peter 1998) that enhances viral replication (Miller 1994; Spina 1994) and infectivity (Chowers 1994), modulates apoptosis (Geleziunas 2001; Robichaud 2000; Yoon 2001), and decreases the expression of CD4 (Aiken 1994), the major histocompatibility (MHC) class I (Schwartz 1996), and CD28 (Swigut 2001). Long-term studies have shown that disease progression is markedly delayed in humans or rhesus macaques infected with HIV or SIV strains, respectively, that carry deletions in the *nef* gene

(Daniel 1992; Deacon 1995; Kirchhoff 1995). Interestingly, spontaneous partial repair of the *nef* gene *in vivo* have been correlated with enhanced infectivity and disease progression (Carl 2000; Sawai 2000).

One of the best examined patient groups of long-term nonprogressors (LTNP) and long-term survivors (LTS) is the Sydney Blood Bank Cohort (SBBC) (Deacon 1995), which consists of one blood donor (D36) and eight transfusion recipients who were infected with an HIV-1 strain containing multiple spontaneous alterations in the viral genome. These alterations include deletions in the *nef* open reading frame and a part of the long terminal repeat (LTR) region as well as duplications and rearrangements within the LTR. Three of the cohort members remained asymptomatic for at least 14 years and are classified as LTNP (Birch 2001), two died of causes unrelated to HIV, and one member with systemic lupus erythematosus died of causes possibly related to HIV (Learmont 1999). Three members had declining CD4 counts and detectable viral loads and, therefore, are grouped as LTS (Birch 2001). One of these LTS, the original blood donor D36, developed AIDS 18 years after infection with this *nef*-deleted HIV-1 strain and started highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in 1999 (Learmont 1999).

In this study, we sought to determine whether the clinical progression of patient D36 corresponds to changes in the virulence of HIV isolates from this patient, and to identify possible mechanisms underlying such changes. Using a modified version of *ex vivo* human lymphoid histoculture, we compared virus isolated from patient D36 prior to disease progression in 1995 (D36/95) and after progression but before therapy was initiated in 1999 (D36/99). We found that the later viral isolate was more

cytotoxic than the earlier isolate and that this increased cytotoxicity was caused by a more efficient CXCR4 usage and expanded target cell range.

2A.3 Materials and Methods

Preparation of viral stocks.

NL4-3 was a gift from Malcolm Martin via the AIDS Research and Reference Program, Division of AIDS, National Institute of Allergy and Diseases, National Institutes of Health. The molecular clone 49-5 was a gift from Bruce Chesebro. Infectious virus stocks were prepared by transfecting 293T cells with proviral DNA as described previously (Atchison 1996). The primary isolates D36/95, D36/99, 7/86, and 1/85 were expanded by infection of heterologous peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC). 7/86 and 1/85 were gifts from Ruth Connor (Connor 1997). The p24 Gag concentrations of viral stocks were assessed by enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (NEN, Life Sciences, Boston, MA).

Culture and infection of human lymphoid tissues ex vivo.

Human noninflammatory tonsil tissue removed during tonsillectomy (provided by the National Disease Research Interchange (NDRI, Philadelphia, PA) the Kaiser Hospitals in San Francisco, South San Francisco and San Rafael) was prepared for lymphoid aggregate culture as previously described (Eckstein 2001; Kreisberg 2001). In brief, tonsil tissue was mechanically dispersed and isolated cells were transferred to 96-well U-bottom plates at a concentration of 1x10⁷ cells per ml, 200 µl per well. Cells were allowed to aggregate at the bottom of the well and were not dispersed for the remainder of the culture period. *Ex vivo* human lymphoid cell cultures were inoculated within 24 h of preparation with HIV-1 at 80 50%-tissue culture infective doses (TCID₅₀), as determined by terminal dilution of the virus

stocks in quadruplicate on heterologous phytohemagglutin-activated PBMC as described previously (Penn 1999).

Assessment of CD4⁺ T-cell depletion by FACS analysis.

At the indicated time points, cells from infected and uninfected lymphoid cell cultures were stained for cell surface markers CD3, CD4, CD8, and CCR5 as described previously (Penn 1999; Schramm 2000a), by using the following monoclonal antibodies: anti-CD3 (clone SK7, phycoerythrin conjugated), anti-CD4 (clone SK3, fluorescein isothiocyanate conjugated), anti-CD8 (clone SK1, PerCP conjugated) (Becton Dickinson) and anti-CCR5 (clone 2D7, allophycocyanin conjugated) (Pharmingen). Then, 10,000 lymphocytes positive for CD3 surface marker were counted and the data were analyzed with CELLQUEST software (Becton Dickinson). To facilitate comparison among experiments, CD4⁺ T-cell depletion was assessed by measuring the ratio of CD4⁺ to CD8⁺ T-cells. This value was normalized to the CD4/CD8 ratio of control (uninfected) samples.

Measurement of apoptosis.

At the indicated time points, cells from infected and uninfected lymphoid cell cultures were washed with phosphate-buffered saline, 2% fetal bovine serum, 2.5 mM CaCl₂, stained for cell surface markers CD3, CD4, and either AnnexinV-PE (Alexis) or 200 nM tetramethylrhodamine-methyl ester (TMRM, Molecular Probes) for 30 min at room temperature, washed again, and subjected to flow cytometric analysis. To determine activation of caspase-3, cells were incubated with 10 μ M PhiPhiLux-G₁D₂

(Alexis) for 1 h at 37°C, washed, stained for CD4 and CD3, and subjected to FACS analysis.

GHOST cell and HeLa infection assays.

GHOST cell assays were performed as reported previously (Cecilia 1998). Briefly, 20,000 CXCR4⁺ CD4⁺ (GHOST-X4) or CCR5⁺ CD4⁺ GHOST (GHOST-R5) cells were plated in 12-well plates and infected at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) =0.1. 72 h after infection, infected cells were identified by flow cytometric analysis. CXCR4⁺ or CCR5⁺ HeLa-CD4 cells were pretreated for at least 12 h with the indicated concentrations of AMD3100 and inoculated with HIV at a MOI=0.01. 72 h after infection, the concentration of p24 Gag in the culture supernatant was assessed by anti-p24-ELISA.
2A.4 Results

Characterization of the virulence of D36/95 and D36/99.

First, the clinical isolates from patient D36 were tested for their potential to deplete CD4⁺ T-cells in *ex vivo* human lymphoid cultures. The kinetics of HIV-induced CD4⁺ T-lymphocytes depletion was measured by staining cultures with antibodies to CD3, CD4 and CD8, and was displayed as a ratio of CD4⁺ to CD8⁺ T-cells as described previously (Eckstein 2001; Kreisberg 2001; Penn 1999; Schramm 2000; Schramm 2000a). We compared the two D36 isolates with two other primary isolates from a different cohort. These isolates called 7/86, an R5X4 strain and 1/85, an R5 strain (Connor 1997) are wildtype (WT)-nef strains. As expected, the number of CD4⁺ Tcells in 1/85-infected cultures decreased only slightly over time, since R5 strains can infect and deplete only the small subset of CCR5-expressing CD4⁺ T-cells (Grivel 2000; Penn 1999; Schramm 2000; Schramm 2000a). In contrast, the dual-tropic virus 7/86 depleted CD4⁺ T-cells markedly due to its expanded target cell range (Figure 2.1A) (Schramm 2000a). Overall CD4 depletion was less severe in cultures infected with either of the two D36 isolates than in cultures infected with the R5X4 reference strain 7/86 (Figure 2.1A). However, the later D36/99 isolate was measurably more cytopathic than the earlier D36/95 isolate with more severe CD4⁺ T-cell depletion despite comparable inoculum size (Figure 2.1A). The increased virulence of D36/99 was also reflected in faster replication kinetics. D36/99 replicated with a profile similar to the two reference strains, whereas replication of D36/95 was significantly delayed (Figure 2.1B).

The elevated potential of D36/99 to deplete CD4⁺ T-lymphocytes was paralleled by its ability to induce apoptosis in CD4⁺ T-cells. Apoptosis was measured independently by several assays: (1) AnnexinV-binding to phosphatidylserine as a marker for the loss of cell membrane asymmetry (Figure 2.2A); (2) activation of caspase-3, a key enzyme of the apoptotic signal transduction pathway (Figure 2.2B); and (3) depolarization of the mitochondrial membrane as a marker of the mitochondrial branch of apoptotic signaling (Figure 2.2C). To this end, cells were stained with antibodies to CD4 and CD3 along with AnnexinV-FITC, the membranepermeable caspase-3-substrate PhiPhiLux G₁D₂ or tetramethylrhodamine-methyl ester (TMRM), and subjected to FACS analysis (Bernardi 1999; Hirata 1998). Loss of TMRM binding to mitochondria is an indicator for the breakdown of the mitochondrial membrane potential (Bernardi 1999). Examination by all three methods showed that cultures infected with D36/99 had much higher levels of apoptosis in CD4⁺ T-cells compared to those infected with the earlier D36/95 isolate (Figure 2.2). However, apoptosis in D36/99-infected cultures was still slightly lower than that observed in cultures infected with the WT strain 7/86.

Depletion and apoptosis of CCR5⁺ and CCR5⁻ CD4⁺ T-cells.

Disease progression in HIV-infected patients has been shown to correlate with a change in coreceptor usage in many, though not all, individuals (Connor 1997; Schuitemaker 1992; Xiao 1998). Therefore, we addressed the question whether the increased potential of D36/99 to induce apoptosis and hence deplete CD4⁺ T-cells was caused by a broadened coreceptor usage. We used flow-cytometry to distinguish CD4⁺ T-cells into CCR5⁺ and CCR5⁻ subsets as described previously

(Grivel 2000; Kreisberg 2001; Penn 1999; Schramm 2000a). Interestingly, D36/95 depleted the CCR5⁺ subset of CD4⁺ T-cells to an extent comparable to that of both D36/99 and the R5X4 reference strain 7/86 (Figure 2.3A). In contrast, while D36/99 and 7/86 caused marked depletion of the CCR5⁻ subset of CD4⁺ T-cells, the earlier D36/95 isolate and the R5 reference strain 1/85 did not affect this subset significantly (Figure 2.3B). Similarly, D36/95 and 1/85 induced apoptosis exclusively in CCR5⁺ CD4⁺ T-cells, whereas D36/99 and 7/86 promoted apoptosis equally in both the CCR5⁺ and CCR5⁻ cellular subsets (Figure 2.3C and D). Thus, the effects of D36/95 appeared to be restricted to CCR5⁺ CD4⁺ T-cells, while cytopathic effects of the later D36/99 isolate include both CCR5⁺ and CCR5⁻ CD4⁺ T-cells.

Coreceptor phenotype of the D36 isolates.

To define the coreceptor usage by the two D36 isolates more directly and quantitatively, GHOST cell infection assays were performed. CCR5-expressing GHOST (GHOST-R5) cells and CXCR4-expressing GHOST (GHOST-X4) cells were infected with D36/95 and D36/99 at a MOI of 0.1 (Cecilia 1998). The prototypical strains 49-5 (R5) and NL4-3 (X4) were used as positive controls for CCR5 and CXCR4 usage, respectively (Toohey 1995). As expected, 49-5 infected exclusively GHOST-R5 cells as indicated by LTR-mediated expression of the fluorescent marker, whereas NL4-3 infected GHOST-X4 cells (Figure 2.4A). The residual infection of GHOST-R5 cells by the X4 strain NL4-3 was due to the endogenous low-level expression of CXCR4 in parental GHOST cells. Importantly, both D36/95 and D36/99 infected GHOST-R5 cells to an extent comparable to 49-5. In contrast, infection of GHOST-X4 cells by D36/95 was very limited in comparison to D36/99.

These results indicate that D36/99 has a significantly higher potential to infect CXCR4-expressing cells compared to D36/95 (Figure 2.4A).

We tested the differential CXCR4 utilization by these viruses further by analyzing their sensitivity to the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 (Donzella 1998; Schols 1997). Dose-response curves were determined using AMD3100 to inhibit infection of CXCR4⁺ CCR5⁺ HeLa-CD4 cells (Bestwick 1988; Kabat 1994) by D36/95, D36/99 and the two reference viruses 49-5 (R5) and NL4-3 (X4). Infection by either 49-5 or D36/95 was not significantly inhibited by AMD3100, thereby confirming their independence from CXCR4 (Figure 2.4B). In contrast, infection by NL4-3 or D36/99 was inhibited effectively by AMD3100 with a 50%-inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) of 38 nM and 85 nM, respectively (Figure 2.4B). Notably, even at AMD3100 concentrations as high as 2500 nM, infection with D36/99 could not be inhibited completely while that by NL4-3 was nearly fully abolished (Figure 2.4B). This suggests that D36/99 can use both CCR5 and CXCR4 as a coreceptor. Taken together, these results demonstrate that both D36 isolates can utilize CCR5 as a coreceptor, and that D36/99 can also use CXCR4 efficiently.

Finally, we analyzed the coreceptor usage of the D36 isolates within the biologically relevant *ex vivo* lymphoid cell culture system. Lymphoid cultures were pretreated with AMD3100 (250 nM) and infected with equal doses of D36/95 or D36/99. Depletion and apoptosis of CD4⁺ T-cells overall as well as specific depletion of the CCR5⁻ and CCR5⁺ subsets of CD4⁺ T-cells were determined 12 days after the infection. As expected, the modest depletion (Figure 2.5A) and apoptosis (Figure 2.5B) of CD4⁺ T-cells induced by D36/95 were not significantly affected by

AMD3100. In contrast, both CD4 depletion (Figure 5A) and apoptosis (Figure 2.5B) induced by D36/99 were strongly abrogated by AMD3100 (Figure 2.5A and 2.5B). Furthermore, analysis of the CCR5⁻ and CCR5⁺ subsets showed that AMD3100 prevented depletion of CCR5⁻ CD4⁺ T-cells by D36/99, but not depletion of CCR5⁺ CD4⁺ T-cells (Figure 2.5C). Again, depletion of the CCR5⁺ subset by D36/95 was unaffected by AMD3100 (Figure 2.5C). These results confirm that D36/99 has a broadened coreceptor usage that allows it to infect both CCR5⁺ cells and CCR5⁻ CXCR4⁺ CD4⁺ T-cells.

Prerana Jayakumar

2A.5 Discussion

Evidence from *in vivo* observations and *ex vivo* experiments has strongly pointed to a switch in coreceptor usage as an important factor in HIV disease progression. Although the precise mechanism remains unclear, such phenotypic and genotypic changes are thought to be the result of an evolutionary selection process (Connor 1997; Schuitemaker 1992; Xiao 1998). The present study reveals that the low level of replication in vivo of an HIV-1 strain with spontaneous deletions in the nef-LTR region (Figure 2.1B and Deacon 1995) was sufficient to allow evolution of the viral env gene from a predominantly R5 phenotype toward a predominantly X4 phenotype. Moreover, such viral evolution seems to have been dictated by the same evolutionary processes that cause changes in typical nef-WT HIV strains. Importantly, the change in coreceptor usage was manifested by an increased potential of the virus to infect CCR5⁻ CXCR4⁺ lymphocytes (Figure 2.4A and B) and to deplete and induce apoptosis in this T-cell subset of human lymphoid tissue (Figure 2.1A, Figure 2.3 and Figure 2.5). Earlier studies had implicated a more promiscuous coreceptor usage and a wider target cell range as a key pathological mechanism underlying disease acceleration following emergence of X4 strains in patients infected with typical nef-WT strains (Connor 1997; Schuitemaker 1992; Xiao 1998). The increased cytotoxicity of the D36 virus observed in this study strongly suggests that a similar evolution of the viral tropism is an important factor in the disease progression of patient D36 despite the absence of Nef. However, additional mechanisms not delineated here may be involved as well.

Recently, Kirchhoff and co-workers reported a case of a long-term nonprogressor infected with an HIV-1 strain with deletions in the *nef* gene that were found to be partially repaired (Carl 2000). Moreover, the virus with this "repaired" Nef protein displayed augmented infectivity and increased downregulation of CD4 and of MHC class I molecule expression (Carl 2000). Similarly, rhesus macaques infected with SIV strains with mutations of the *nef* start codon, as well as deletions and insertions in the coding sequence of *nef*, were able to express a truncated version of Nef with a reverted start codon after several months of infection (Sawai 2000). Virus isolates with these truncated Nef proteins were much more pathogenic than their parental strains and caused an AIDS-like disease in the macaques (Sawai 2000). In contrast, the increased cytopathicity of the D36/99 isolate reported here was not caused by a reversion or partial repair of the nef gene. Sequence analysis showed that the deletions in the *nef* gene of the D36/99 isolate are even more extensive compared to that of D36/95 (Birch 2001). Furthermore, immunoblot analysis of PBMC infected with the D36/95 and D36/99, respectively, revealed that the two D36 isolates do not express a Nef protein that can be recognized by a polyclonal anti-Nef antibody (data not shown). However, a contribution of further genetic rearrangements in the nef-LTR region to the enhanced cytotoxic potential of the later D36/99 isolate cannot be entirely excluded (Birch 2001).

Live attenuated HIV strains like the one seen in the SBBC have been proposed as a vaccine to prevent infection with wildtype HIV (Desrosiers 1992). A key challenge in developing a safe, effective attenuated virus vaccine is that a strong immune response seems to depend on the degree of viral replication (Ruprecht 1999).

However, even at a very low level, replication harbors the risk of evolution towards higher virulence. Several reports of spontaneous repair of deletions in the nef gene in vivo resulting in increased virulence and the onset of an AIDS-like disease (Dittmer 1995: Sawai 2000: Whatmore 1995) have challenged the safety of this vaccination concept. Therefore, vaccine candidates have been developed with multiple mutations in accessory genes (Desrosiers 1998; Gibbs 1995; Mills 2000). These second-generation vaccines are thought to be much safer but may still be able to elicit an effective immune protection (Johnson 1998; Mills 2000). However, the present study shows that the attenuation of a virus with deletions in the *nef* gene can be overcome not only by a repair of the *nef* gene, but also by compensatory changes in other genes. In particular, the deletions in the D36 virus did not prevent it from evolving to higher virulence by broadening its coreceptor usage. Indeed, in contrast to nef and other accessory genes, env is an essential HIV gene that cannot be deleted to provide a higher level of protection without completely abrogating replication. The high risk of using a live attenuated virus as a vaccine is further supported by the fact that two more members of the SBBC now have declining CD4 counts and detectable viral loads (Birch 2001), although the underlying mechanisms in these two cases remain unknown.

In conclusion, we have shown that an HIV-1 strain with multiple deletions in the *nef*-LTR region can still mutate to a higher level of virulence *in vivo* by widening its coreceptor usage and target cell range. This implies that the low level of replication of an attenuated virus is sufficient to allow substantial viral evolution and shows that the concept of live attenuated *nef*-deleted viruses as a vaccine is not safe.

Prerana Jayakumar

2A.6 Acknowledgments

We thank the members of the surgical staff at Kaiser Hospitals (San Rafael, San Francisco, and South San Francisco) for generous assistance in obtaining posttonsillectomy samples. We acknowledge the assistance of Heather Gravois, John Carroll, and Jack Hull in the preparation of this manuscript. We thank Peggy Chin, Valerie Stepps and Katherine Kedzierska for technical assistance and Dan Eckstein, Becky Schweighardt, Oliver Keppler, and Jason Kreisberg for valuable discussions.

B. S. was supported by the Boehringer Ingelheim Fund and P. J. was supported by the Biomedical Sciences Graduate program at the University of California San Francisco (UCSF). This work was supported by NIH grants to M.A.G. (R01 CA86814 and R01 AI43695) and by the J. David Gladstone Institutes.

Prerana Jayakumar

2A.7 Figure Legends

Figure. 2.1. The D36/99 isolate depletes CD4⁺ T-cells more efficiently and replicates faster than D36/95 in *ex vivo* human lymphoid cell cultures. (A) CD4 depletion induced by infection with viral strains D36/99, D36/95, 7/86, and 1/85 was assessed by FACS analysis at the indicated time points. Shown are the mean relative CD4/CD8 ratios (n=3) with SEM of a representative experiment from among experiments with 6 different donor tissues. (B) Viral replication was monitored in the same infections by assessing the accumulation of p24 in the culture medium at days 3, 6, 9 and 12 after infection using an anti-p24 ELISA. Shown are the mean values (n=3) with SEM of a representative experiments with 6 different donor tissues.

Figure. 2.2. D36/99 induces high levels of apoptosis among CD4⁺ T-cells in human lymphoid cell cultures. Apoptosis in CD4⁺ T-cells induced by infection with viral strains D36/99, D36/95, 7/86, and 1/85 was measured at the indicated time points independently by AnnexinV-binding (A), activation of caspase-3 (B), and depolarization of the mitochondrial membrane potential (C) using FACS analysis. Shown are the mean values (n=3) with SEM of a representative experiment from among experiments with 6 different donor tissues.

Figure. 2.3. D36/99 induces depletion and apoptosis of both CCR5⁺ and CCR5⁻ CD4⁺ T-cells in human *ex vivo* lymphoid cell cultures. CD4 depletion induced by infection with viral strains D36/99, D36/95, 7/86 and 1/85 within the CCR5⁺ (A) and CCR5⁻ (B) subsets of CD4⁺ T-cells was analyzed at the indicated time points by multiparameter FACS analysis. Shown are the mean relative CD4/CD8 ratios (n=3)

Same Same -

.

with SEM of a representative experiment from among experiments with 6 different donor tissues. In the same infections, apoptosis was measured in the $CCR5^+(C)$ and $CCR5^-(D) CD4^+$ T-cell subsets by AnnexinV-binding. Shown are the mean values (n=3) with SEM of a representative experiment from among experiments with 6 different donor tissues.

Figure. 2.4. D36/99 can use CXCR4 as a coreceptor more efficiently than D36/95. (A) GHOST-R5 (open bars) and GHOST-X4 cells (solid bars) were infected with D36/99, D36/95, NL4-3, and 49-5 at a MOI=0.1 and cultured for 72 h. Infected cells were identified by FACS analysis. Shown are the mean values (n=3) with SEM of a representative experiment from among 3 independent experiments. (B) CXCR4⁺ CCR5⁺ HeLa-CD4 cells were pretreated for 12 h with the indicated concentrations of AMD3100 and infected with D36/99, D36/95, NL4-3, and 49-5 at a MOI=0.01. Viral replication was measured 72 h after infection by assessing the concentration of p24 in the culture medium. Shown are the mean values (n=3) with SEM of a representative experiment from among 3 independent experiments.

Figure. 2.5. D36/99 depletes and induces apoptosis in both the CCR5⁺ and CCR5⁻ subsets of CD4⁺ T-cells in human *ex vivo* lymphoid cultures. Human *ex vivo* lymphoid cell cultures were pretreated with AMD3100 (250 nM) for 12 h and infected with D36/95 and D36/99. AMD3100 was replenished to the cultures at each media change. Depletion of total CD4⁺ T-cells (A) and of the CCR5⁺ and CCR5⁻ subsets of CD4⁺ T-cells (C) as well apoptosis of total CD4⁺ T-cells (B) was measured by FACS analysis 12 days after infection. Shown are the mean values (n=3) with SEM of a representative experiment from among experiments with 4 different donor tissues.

2B. CXCR4 and Rats

hCXCR4/hCD4 Transgenic Rat Tissues Partially Support HIV-1 Entry and Early Gene Expression *ex Vivo*

2B.1 Abstract

Small animal models of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) infection have so far proved elusive, despite efforts to introduce a variety of human genes into mice by transgenesis. Despite the introduction of human CD4, coreceptors, and CyclinT1, mice sustained a late block to HIV-1 replication. We have employed the outbred Sprague Dawley rats (Rattus norvegicus) as a potential small animal model of HIV-1 replication. Upon introduction of cell type-specific transgenic vectors encoding for human CD4 and CXCR4, human gene expression was noted in relevant HIV-1 target cells, including CD4 lymphocytes and macrophages. Lymphocytes from these animals supported entry and early gene expression at low levels with X4, but not R5 HIV-1 strains. However, macrophages from these double-transgenic animals remained refractory to infection with T cell line-adapted X4 HIV-1 viruses. Instead, they were partially susceptible to infection by primary X4 viruses, previously shown to productively infect human macrophages. These studies indicate in rats expressing the appropriate HIV receptor complex, X4 HIV-1 infection is not as efficient as R5 HIV-1 infection, and that infection of hCD4/hCXCR4-transgenic rat macrophages with X4 HIV-1 viruses may in part resemble characteristics of the infection in human macrophages.

2B.2 Introduction

Small animal models of disease are necessary in addition to in vitro studies, especially in cases of HIV-1, where human studies cannot be performed. In addition, a small animal model of HIV will provide a testing ground for vaccines, drugs, and immunological studies. Current models include the SCID-huThy-Liv mice, in which human tissue is implanted into mice, as well as transgenic mice expressing HIV genes or receptors. However, none of these support systemic infection of HIV, nor are they susceptible to infection leading to AIDS.

These limitations indicate a need for a small animal model of HIV that supports replication and which can be easily replicated. Rat cells support productive replication in vitro when infected with viruses pseudotyped with the VSV-G envelope protein (Keppler 2001). Recent studies have shown that transgenic hCCR5 expression in laboratory rats along with hCD4 renders macrophages from these animals susceptible to a moderate degree of productive infection (Keppler 2002). These hCD4(hCCR5-transgenic animals suppored entry and early gene expression in both CD4 T cells and macrophages. In T cells, a yet to be identified block at the later stages of replication apparently prevented productive replication. macrophages.

Given the promise of animals that co-express hCCR5 and hCD4, we tested the ability of CD4 T cells and macrophages from hCD4/hCXCR4-transgenic rats to support HIV replication. We found that these rats support significant levels of viral entry in lymphocytes, but only minimal entry in macrophages.

2B.3 Materials and Methods

Construction of transgenic rats

Rats transgenic for human CD4 (hCD4) were created as described previously (Keppler 2002). Rats transgenic for hCXCR4 were created as described for hCCR5, with the exception of the use of a hCXCR4 cDNA cloned into the identical transgene construct. Founders were generated by pronuclear microinjection of the transgene vector and identified by transgene-specific PCR. Transgenic founders were mated with nontransgenic Sprague-Dawley rats and F1 progeny were screened by flow cytometry for expression of human proteins in peripheral blood samples. Transgene-expressing F1 rats were interbred with previously established hCD4-transgenic animals.

Flow cytometry

FACS[®] analyses were performed as described previously (Keppler 2002), using FITC-, PE-, or APC-conjugated mAbs (BD PharMingen): anti-hCD4 (mAb Leu-3a); anti-hCXCR4 (mAb 12G5); anti–rat (r)CD3 (mAb G4.18); anti-rCD4 (mAb OX-35); anti-rCD8a (mAb OX-8); anti–rat macrophage subset marker (ED2-like antigen, mAb HIS36); anti-rCD11b (mAb WT.5); anti-rCD11b/c (mAb OX-42); and anti-rCD45RA (mAb OX-33).

Primary cell culture

Ex vivo cultures of primary rat lymphocytes, macrophages, or microglia, and cultures of PBMCs or human monocyte–derived macrophages were prepared and propagated as described previously (Keppler 2001).

Preparation of Viral Stocks

The molecular clone pNL4-3 was obtained from Malcom Martin (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD), via the National Institutes of Health (NIH) AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program. The molecular clone p49-5 (Chesebro 1992) was a gift from Bruce Chesebro (Rocky Mountain Laboratories, Hami Hou, MT). Infectious virus stocks were prepared by transfecting 293T cells with proviral DNA as described previously (Atchison 1996). Primary isolates UG021 and UG024 were obtained via the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program. The primary isolates J130 and J34, and type were gifts from Gabriella Scarlatti (San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Milan, Italy) and Ron Collman (University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA), respectively. Viral stocks were expanded by infection of heterologous human PBMCs. For concentrated infections, viral stocks were concentrated using Centricon[®] Plus-150 columns (Millipore) following the manufacturer's protocol. The infectivity of replicationcompetent viral stocks was determined by terminal dilution in guadruplicate on heterologous phytohemagglutinin-activated PBMCs. The p24 CA concentration was assessed by ELISA (NEN Life Sciences). The molecular clone pNL-4-3 Luc $E^{-}R^{-}$ (Connor 1995), a replication-incompetent NL4–3 provirus (along with mutations in *env*, *nef*, and *vpr*), carrying a luciferase gene within the *nef* locus driven by the 5' LTR, was a gift of Nathaniel Landau (Salk Institute for Biological Studies, La Jolla, CA) via the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program. pVSV-G, the mammalian expression vector for VSV-G protein (Emi 1991), was a gift from Jane Burns (University of California, San Diego, CA). The preparation of NL4–3 Luc E⁻R⁻ pseudotype viruses with autologous or heterologous envelopes (Env) has been described previously (Chan 1999).

Viral Infections

HIV-1 infections of ex vivo cultures were performed in 24-well (lymphocytes, macrophages) or 96-well plates (microglia, macrophages) with the indicated multiplicity of infection (MOI) or p24 CA concentrations. In infection studies on transgenic rat macrophages, the following reagents were used: anti-hCXCR4 mAb 12G5 (BD PharMingen) at 50 μ g/ml; zidovudine (AZT) (3'-azido-3'deoxythymidine; Sigma-Aldrich) at 100 μ M; Ritonavir (RTV) (Abbott Laboratories, Abbott Park, IL) at 1 μ M; LPS (*Escherichia coli* serotype 0128:B12; Sigma-Aldrich) at 0.01%. All rats were housed under SPF conditions with food and water ad libitum. Rats were killed with CO₂ and bilateral thoracotomy and organs were removed aseptically. Coded splenocyte, thymocyte, and PBMC samples were analyzed for the presence of human markers by flow cytometry as described above.

2B.4 Results

CXCR4 and CD4 expression in transgenic rats

Rats transgenic for hCD4 and the human chemokine receptor hCXCR4 were generated that express the transgenes in CD4(+) T lymphocytes, macrophages, and microglia. First, we could demonstrate hCXCR4 and hCD4 expression on these specific target cells (Figure 2.6). We also analyzed rat CD3, CD4, and CD8

T cell subsets, and found a slight increase in the relative frequency of CD8+ T cells in hCXCR4/hCD4 homozygous transgenic animals (Figure 2.6C). No other alterations in lymphocytes were detected. We found strong expression of hCD4 in transgenic lymphocytes, and moderate to low expression of hCXCR4 (Figure 2.6A). Similar results were found in macrophages (Figure 2.6B).

Entry and early gene expression in double-transgenic lymphocytes

Lymphocytes were extracted from the spleens and thymus of hCD4/hCXCR4transgenic animals and dispersed, followed by culture in Concavalin A and IL-2. Using a virion-based fusion assay (Cavrois 2002), we found that the X4 virus NL4-3 could fuse with hCD4/hCXCR4 transgenic but not hCD4 transgenic rat lymphocytes (Figure 2.7A) at a rate comparable to that of human PBMCs. Entry was completely inhibited by the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100. A control VSVgpseudotyped virus also entered rat cells efficiently (Figure 2.7A). Using a virus construct that expresses luciferase in the position of *nef* and contains a frameshift in *env*, we pseudotyped these viruses with envelopes from different R5 or X4 HIV-1 viruses. We infected cells with laboratory strains of isogenic luciferase viruses – NL4-3, LAI.2 and Ada-M. As expected, the R5 virus Ada-M was unable to enter rat hCD4+ hCXCR4+ lymphocytes. However, the X4 strains NL4-3 and LAI.2 were able to enter and drive luciferase expression to some extent in these cells (Figure 2.7B). We also found similar results in human lymphocytes isolated from peripheral blood and activated for 3 days. However, when we infected lymphocytes with infectious HIV-1, we found no productive infection in transgenic lymphocytes, as measured by p24-Gag (Figure 2.7C).

Entry and early gene expression in hCD4/hCXCR4-transgenic macrophages

We then tested whether macrophages from these transgenic animals would be susceptible to infection by X4 viruses. We isolated macrophages from freshly prepared splenocyte suspensions by adhesion to flasks for 5-7 days, washed away lymphocytes, leaving a majority of cells with macrophage-like morphology. We found that neither 49-5 nor NL4-3 were able to infect hCD4+ hCXCR4+ macrophages. This was not entirely unexpected, since these cells do not express human CCR5, which is required for 49-5 entry, and NL4-3 has been reported not to infect human macrophages efficienctly. In order to test whether hCXCR4 on macrophages was functional, we obtained several primary X4 HIV-1 viruses of subtype D that have been reported to infect human monocyte-derived macrophages, and we used their envelopes to create pseudotyped luciferase virus stocks to infect macrophages from hCD4/hCXCR4-transgenic rats. We found that only some of the macrophage-tropic X4 viruses were able to infect rat macrophages, as determined by a low level luciferase signal 3 days post infection, reflecting early viral gene expression (Figure 2.8). Addition of human serum, M-CSF, or administration of higher doses of viral inoculum did not augment infection (data not shown). These viruses were, however, able to infect human monocyte-derived macrophages isolated in a similar manner, and they were also able to infect macrophages in human lymphoid histoculture (Javakumar 2005, and Chapter 3A).

Infection of hCD4/hCXCR4-transgenic microglia

We next measured the susceptibility of rat microglia to infection by X4 viruses. In one double-transgenic animal, we found some evidence for infection and early gene expression in microglia, albeit at a very low level. The virus was unable to infect non-transgenic microglia in an infection conducted in parallel (Figure 2.9).

2B.5 Discussion

We have found that lymphocytes, macrophages, and microglia from hCD4/hCXCR4 transgenic rats were partly susceptible to infection by HIV-1 X4 viruses leading to expression of low levels of early HIV-1 gene products. These levels were lower than those found in rats transgenic for hCCR5 and hCD4 (Keppler 2002 and Goffinet 2007). Primary rat lymphocytes and microglia, but not macrophages, from double-transgenic rats support entry and early gene expression but not productive infection by X4 strains of HIV-1.

2B.6 Acknowledgments

We thank the members of the Gladstone Animal Care Facility (Gladstone Institutes) for their expert assistance with transgenic animals. We acknowledge the assistance of Marty Bigos and Valerie Stepps for flow cytometry, and Andreas Jekle, Jason Kreisberg, Marielle Cavrois, and Becky Schweighardt for viral preparation and valuable discussions.

2B.7 Figure Legends

Figure 2.6 – Transgenic tissues express human CD4 and CXCR4. (A) hCD4 and hCXCR4 expression on nontransgenic and transgenic homozygous rat lymphocytes from spleen, after culture with Concavalin A and IL-2 are shown. (B)

hCD4/hCXCR4 on transgenic macrophages, isolated by adherence after 5 days. (C) Rat CD4 and CD8 and hCD4/hCXCR4 expression on nontransgenic and transgenic homozygous rat lymphocytes from thymus, as in A. (D) hCD4/hCXCR4 expression in nontransgenic and transgenic rat blood. Representative results from flow cytometry after culture are shown.

Figure 2.7 – Transgenic lymphocytes support entry and early gene expression but not productive infection. (A) Virion-based fusion assay of activated rat lymphocytes. (B) Luciferase-reporter virus infection of rat lymphocytes. Activated lymphocytes were infected with pseudotyped luciferase viruses and luciferase activity was measured after 48 hours. Results are the mean of triplicate experiments and normalized to protein expression. (C) Infection of rat lymphocytes with replication-competent virus. p24-Gag was measured by ELISA at the indicated timepoints.

Figure 2.8 – Macrophages from transgenic rats support early gene expression with some X4 viruses. Luciferase expression in rat macrophages (as in Figure 2.7). Results are the mean of triplicate experiments and normalized to protein expression.

Figure 2.9 – Microglia from transgenic rats support early infection with X4 viruses. Luciferase activity was detected in microglia after culture for 14 days and infection for 2 days. Results are the mean of triplicate experiments from a single animal.

2C. SDF-1γ

Paper: Inhibition of X4 and R5 HIV-1 by human SDF-1 γ , a novel chemokine that interferes with HIV transcription

Christian Callebaut, Prerana Jayakumar, Brian J. North, Marielle Cavrois, Khaoula Bourara and Eric Verdin

2C.1 Abstract

Human *SDF1* encodes two known splice variants, SDF-1 α and SDF-1 β , which are the unique ligands of CXCR4. We have identified a new human splice variant of *SDF1*, SDF-1 γ . This isoform is expressed in several tissues and exhibits strong chemotactic activity on Peripheral Blood Lymphocytes (PBL). SDF-1 γ encompasses the full SDF-1 α protein and an additional 30 amino acid at the Cterminus. This extra domain shows significant homology to the arginine-rich motif (ARM) of the HIV Tat protein and acts as a nuclear localization sequence. Accordingly, SDF-1 γ binds to the target of Tat, the TAR RNA *in vitro*. Overexpression of SDF-1 γ , but not of SDF-1 α , inhibits HIV LTR transactivation by Tat and production of both X4 and R5 viruses. These observations demonstrate that SDF-1 γ is a novel HIV restriction factor that interferes with the entry of X4 viruses and with the transcription of both X4 and R5 viruses.

۰.

2C.2 Introduction

Chemokines were initially linked to HIV biology by the purification of three soluble factors able to inhibit HIV infection (Cocchi 1995). This discovery was immediately followed by the functional cloning of CXCR4, a chemokine receptor, as an HIV coreceptor (Feng 1996). Subsequently, the ligand for CXCR4 was identified as SDF-1 α , a chemokine capable of blocking HIV entry (Oberlin 1996; Bleul 1996). Since then, other chemokines and chemokine receptors, notably CCR5, have been characterized to play a significant role in HIV biology (Berger 1999). This has lead to the current nomenclature of viruses as X4 isolates, those using CXCR4 as a coreceptor, and R5 isolates, those viruses using the CCR5 family of receptors. A series of genetic mutations in human CCR5 restrict HIV infection, suggesting the importance of host factors to limit HIV replication. Other host factors have been shown to restrict HIV replication at various stages, including budding, reverse transcription, and packaging. However, there are no currently characterized host factors that inhibit HIV transcription.

HIV transcription is characterized by two temporally distinct phases. The early phase occurs after integration and relies only on cellular transcription factors. The late phase, characterized by a much higher rate of transcription, is Tatdependent (for review, see Karn 1999). This second phase of transcription involves a positive regulatory loop, since increased transcriptional elongation results in more Tat synthesis, leading to a further increase in transcriptional elongation (Bieniasz 1998). The Tat protein of HIV is a unique viral transactivator that binds to the Tat-responsive element (TAR), an RNA stem–loop structure that

. .

forms at the 5' extremity of all viral transcripts. In the absence of Tat, HIV transcription is highly inefficient because the assembled RNA polymerase II complex cannot elongate efficiently on the viral DNA template (Garber 1999). The binding of Tat to TAR stimulates the production of full-length HIV transcripts, and the integrity of the Tat/TAR axis critically determines the dynamics of viral replication in infected cells.

The role of Tat in HIV transcription has also recently been defined as an adaptor that coordinates the recruitment of critical co-factors at the HIV promoter. Distinct domains of Tat are involved in the recruitment of different cellular co-factors. The cysteine-rich region interacts with the cyclinT1/CDK9 complex (Wei 1998). Recruitment of CDK9 is thought to lead to hyper-phosphorylation of the C-terminal domain of RNA polymerase II and increased elongation efficacy. The arginine-rich motif (ARM) in Tat is essential for RNA binding to TAR and nuclear localization. Additionally, lysine residues in the ARM motif become acetylated by acetyl-transferases (Ott 1999) and regulate Tat-TAR-Cyclin interactions (Kaehlcke 2003).

We were interested in proteins sharing sequence similarity with Tat ARM. We found a high similarity to a novel splice variant of rat SDF-1, SDF-1 γ (Gleichmann 2000). This SDF-1 splice variant is identical in sequence to SDF-1 α but incorporates an additional 30 amino acids at the C-terminus. Interestingly, the additional domain located at the C-terminus of SDF-1 γ contains a region displaying strong homology to the RNA-binding motif of Tat (ARM). Notably, the two basic stretches and a central arginine residue (R) both essential for the

binding of the ARM domain to TAR are conserved (Calnan 1991). The high degree of conservation of the C-terminal domain of SDF-1 γ and the ARM domain of Tat suggested that SDF-1 γ might be able to bind to the TAR RNA element. Competition between Tat and SDF-1 γ for binding to TAR would inhibit Tat-mediated transactivation and Tat-dependent HIV transcription. We hypothesized that SDF-1 γ inhibits Tat-dependent HIV transcription and suppresses HIV replication by binding to TAR or mimicking other Tat functions. We propose a series of experiments that will further test this model and define the potential role of SDF-1 γ in HIV infection.

2C.3 Materials and methods

SDF-1γ Cloning (GenBank Accession numbers)

Human SDF-1 γ was cloned from human heart polyA+ RNA (Clontech, Mountain View, CA) by standard RT-PCR-based strategies. Oligonucleotides were designed according to the genomic sequence of the SDF1 gene. We used primer EV1276 (5'-TGAACTGTGGTCCATCTCGAGGTG) for the RT reaction (Superscript, Life Technologies), and EV1278 (5'-TCCGGCCCCCGACCCGCGCTCGTC) and EV1279 (5'-GTCCATCTCGAGGTGGCAGATAAC) primers for the PCR amplification. The 434 bp fragment obtained containing the SDF-1 γ ORF was subsequently cloned into pCR-Blunt (Invitrogen).

Alignments and deduced protein structure

After in silico translation of the deduced cDNA sequence, comparisons and

Prerana Jayakumar

alignments were carried out with MacVector 6.5.3 software (Oxford Molecular plc, UK). Deduced amino-acid sequences were analyzed by 'MOTIF: Searching Protein and Nucleic Acid Sequence Motif' (http://motif.genome.ad.jp/). Predicted nuclear localization sequences were identified using PSORT II software (http://psort.nibb.ac.jp/form2.html).

Tissue-blot

Human multi-tissue-expression array membrane (MTE, Clontech Palo Alto, CA) was hybridized with a SDF-1 γ specific oligonucleotide probe (EV1298) (Genset, La Jolla, CA), radiolabeled with 32P-g-ATP (Amersham) and polynucleotide kinase (NEB).

Northern-blot

Human multi-tissue-northern membrane was obtained from Clontech (12-Lane MTN Blot, Clontech Palo Alto, CA). 32P labeled probes corresponding to SDF-1 γ (NEB, Beverly, MA). The blots were prehybridized and hybridized with ExpressHyb hybridization solution (Clontech) and washed under high stringency conditions. Autoradiographs were analyzed with a FUJIX BAS1000 phosphorus imaging system (Fuji, Tokyo, Japan).

Plasmids and Mutagenesis

The SDF-1 γ ORF was subcloned into pcDNA3.1(+) vector (Invitrogen) for expression. The SDF-1 γ ORF was also subcloned to generate C-terminal FLAG-tagged fusion in a derivative of the pcDNA3.1(+) backbone (FLAG vector) by

· .

1

.

.

ł

ļ

standard PCR-based strategies and confirmed by sequencing. The C-terminal tail of SDF-1γ was cloned into pEGFP-C1 vector (Clontech).

Site-directed mutagenesis for SDF-1 γ constructs was performed with the QuikChange Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA).

Rabbit anti- SDF-1γ peptide KLH

We raised an antiserum against SDF-1 γ by immunizing rabbits with a peptide corresponding to the C-terminus (indicate peptide sequence or residues) of SDF-1 γ coupled to keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH).

SDF-1 γ was cloned into a vector containing the T7 promoter and a 13.5-kDa protein was expressed by in vitro translation. We raised an antiserum against SDF-1 γ by immunizing rabbits with a peptide corresponding to the C-terminus of SDF-1 γ coupled to keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) (repeated from above). In western blotting analyses, this polyclonal antiserum in unpurified form specifically recognized SDF-1 γ , but not SDF-1 α , in extracts of transfected 293T cells.

Soluble recombinant SDF-1 α is was purchased from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN) and used at the indicated concentrations.

Cells

HeLa, HEK-293T, and Jurkat cells were obtained from the ATCC. MAGI-C5 and GHOST X4R5 cells were obtained from the NIH AIDS Reagent Program. Cells were cultivated in DMEM or RPMI-1640 complemented with 10% fetal calf serum and 1% penicillin-streptomycin (Invitrogen).

Western blotting

.....

Samples (Cellular lysates) were separated on 15% SDS-polyacrylamide gels and transferred to Hybond ECL nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Inc.). Membranes were blocked with 5% blocking reagent (Bio-Rad, Richmond CA) in TBS-Tween (10 mM Tris-HCI [pH 7.5], 150 mM NaCl, and 0.1% Tween-20) and were probed with anti-FLAG M2 (Sigma), diluted 1:2000; anti-HA, or anti-lamin A (Cell Signaling Technology, Inc., Beverly, MA), each diluted 1:1000. Secondary detection was performed using HRP-coupled sheep antimouse IgG (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Inc.) or goat anti-rabbit IgG (Pierce Chemical Co., Rockford, IL) diluted 1:5000 and the ECL Western blotting detection system (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Inc.).

Chemotaxis

The chemotaxis assay, using a modified Boyden chamber method, was performed in order to evaluate the biological activity of rhSDF-1 (R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN) on PBMC (10^6 5-days-PHA-activated) or Jurkat cells. Control, SDF-1 α , or SDF-1 γ containing supernatants were produced by transfection of HEK-293T cells with pcDNA3.1, pcDNA3.1-SDF-1 α or pcDNA3.1-SDF-1 γ respectively. Supernatants were harvested 48hrs after transfection, passed through a 0.22 µm filter, aliquoted and stored at –20°C. Cells were suspended at a concentration of 10^6 cells/ml in RPMI 1640 medium containing 0.25% inactivated fetal calf serum (FCS). The cell suspension (100 µl) was transferred into the top chamber of a Transwell (Costar #3415; Corning, NY). Media containing rhSDF-1 or SDF-1 containing supernatant were put into the bottom

chamber of the Transwell (600 μ L). After incubation at 37°C for 5 h the transmigrated cells to the bottom chamber were manually counted.

Transfections and luciferase assays

Transfections with Tat-, and SDF-1-expressing plasmids were performed in 293T cells with the calcium phosphate precipitation method. Cells were harvested 48 hrs after transfection of plasmids DNA and analyzed for luciferase activity. Transient transfections into GHOSTX4R5 cells (NIH AIDS reagent program) were performed with FuGene 6 (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN). Cells and supernatant were harvested after 48 h, and luciferase activity was measured.

Protein assay Biorad

Protein concentration was measured in total cell lysates by the *Dc* Protein Assay Kit (BioRad, Hercules, CA)

Virus infections

X4 and R5 HIV isolates were produced from transfection of HEK-293 T cells with pNL4.3 (Adachi 1986) and p49-5 (Toohey 1995) DNA plasmids respectively.

Viral Replication

At the indicated time points, sample of culture media was taken from infected cells, mixed with Triton-X-100 (?) and stored at –20°C. The concentration of HIV-1 p24 in the media was measured by ELISA (NEN Life Science).

. - '

TAR binding assay

The TAR binding assay was performed as previously described (Dorr et al, beads (Amersham streptavidin-sepharose 2002). Briefly, Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ) were blocked for 1 hr at 4°C in binding buffer containing 3% nuclease-free BSA (NEB, Beverly, MA). After equilibration in binding buffer, 30 µl beads were incubated with 0.5 µg biotinylated TAR element (biotin-AATTCCAGATCTGAGCCTGGGAGCTCTCTGGA; Xeragon, Zurich, Switzerland) and incubated for 1 hr at 4°C. TAR bound to beads was mixed with 2 µL lysates from control, SDF-1 or Tat expression plasmids in vitro translated in the presence of 20 µCi [³⁵S]-L-methionine (Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ) using the TNT T7 coupled Reticulocyte Lysate System (Promega, Madison, WI). Reactions were incubated for 10 min at 30°C and washed twice with binding buffer prior the addition of loading buffer. Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE analysis, fixed and amplified (Amplify; Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) for 30 min, dried and exposed to a BioMax MR film (Kodak, Rochester, NY).

Immunofluorescence Microscopy

HeLa cells grown on coverslips were transfected with Fugene 6 (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN.) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cells on coverslips were washed twice in PBS for 10 min, fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (EMS, Ft. Washington, PA) for 10 min, followed by permeabilization in 0.5% Triton-X-100 in PBS for 10 min. After three washes for 10 min in PBS, cells were incubated in 10% BSA for 10 min and then incubated

for 1 hr with anti-Flag-M2 1:1000 in PBS + 0.1% Tween-20. Cells were washed three times 10 min in PBS + 0.1% Tween-20, followed by incubation with goat anti-mouse IgG (Fc specific) TRITC-conjugated secondary antibody (Sigma) diluted 1:100 in PBS + 0.1% Tween-20. Cells were then incubated in 20 ug/ml DAPI for 5 min, washed three times for 10 min each in PBS and once briefly in ddH₂O, and mounted on slides with Gel Mount (Biomeda Corp., Foster City, CA). Slides were visualized on a Nikon E600 microscope system equipped with a SPOT 2 Digital Camera. Confocal images were acquired by laser-scanning confocal microscopy with an Olympus BX60 microscope equipped with a Radiance 2000 confocal setup (Bio-Rad).

GFP Fluorescence

293T cells grown on coverslips were transfected with either GFP (pEGFP) or GFP-gamma-tail (pEGFP-SDF1- γ (69-98)). Cells were visualized after 48 hours.

Prerana Jayakumar

2C.4 Results

Rat SDF-1 γ cDNA was recently cloned from a cDNA library of injured nerves (Gleichmann 2000). Preliminary experiments using RT-PCR indicated that human SDF-1y mRNA was expressed in several tissues (data not shown). Using the information from the rat cDNA cloning, the human SDF1 gene organization (Bleul 1996) SDF-1 and the human locus sequence (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/, LOCUS AL137026), we designed primers to clone the putative human SDF-1 γ by standard RT-PCR methods. The open reading frame of the sequence amplified is shown in Figure 2.10A. Compared to SDF-1 α , SDF-1y contains an extra 30 amino-acid tail, encoded by a single additional exon, generating a novel protein with a predicted size of 98 amino acids (Figure 2.10A). The human protein is 94% identical to the rat isoform (97% for the mature form without the signal peptide) (Figure 2.10B). Both species of SDF-1 γ contain a highly basic region (103-115) that is similar to the Tat ARM. SDF1 gene organization is showing in Figure 2.10C. The gene contains one cryptic donor site in exon 3 that can be used with a lower efficiency to produce SDF-1 β and SDF-1 γ , both of which are generated by alternative splicing. Using a probe against exon I-III, a region common to all three variants, we observe that both SDF-1 β and SDF-1 γ result in mRNAs larger than that of SDF-1 α (Figure 2.11A). Overall, SDF-1 α can be seen as the main transcript, whereas SDF-1 β and SDF- 1γ are expressed at lower levels. In some tissues, like spleen or kidney, SDF-1 β



is the predominant alternative splice variant, whereas in tissues like heart or lung, SDF-1γ is more highly expressed.

The expression of SDF-1 γ in different tissues was examined by Northern blot using a probe specific for exon IVb (Figure 2.11B). A major transcript of 6.5 kb was detected in most tissues, with a lower expression in thymus, placenta and unstimulated PBLs. A weaker band corresponding to 9.0 kb might represent an additional differentially spliced isoform of the SDF-1 mRNA, or an alternative poly-adenylation site. The size of 6.5kb is in good agreement with the length of ESTs previously cloned (data not shown). Additionally, a dot-blot human multitissue-expression array membrane hybridized using the same probe showed a ubiquitous expression of SDF-1 γ mRNA (data not shown).

We first cloned SDF-1 γ into a vector under the control of a T7 promoter and showed that a 13.5-kDa protein was expressed by in vitro translation (not shown). We raised an antiserum against SDF-1 γ by immunizing rabbits with a peptide corresponding to the C-terminus of SDF-1 γ coupled to keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH). In western blotting analyses, this polyclonal antiserum in unpurified form specifically recognized SDF-1 γ , but not SDF-1 α , in extracts of transfected HEK-293T cells (Figure 2.11C). As previously shown, SDF-1 α is a strong chemoattractant for PBMCs (Aiuti 1999). To test whether SDF-1 γ has similar activity, supernatants from transfected cells were used in a chemotaxis assay using a modified Boyden chamber system. Both SDF-1 α and SDF-1 γ were able to attract PBMCs to a similar level (Figure 2.11D).

÷ -

.....

e • . 3

÷.,

We next wanted to determine the intracellular localization of SDF-1 γ . Using indirect immunofluorescence, we observed that tagged SDF-1 γ was predominantly cytoplasmic (a typical cell is shown in Fig 2.12a). Concurrent DAPI staining of nuclei showed that the discrete SDF-1 γ staining in the nucleus was nucleolar. The nucleolar expression seems limited to the "crown" of the nucleoli, where the snRNP complexes are mainly formed (references) (Fig 2.12a). This unexpected nuclear expression for a chemokine suggested that the additional residues in SDF-1 γ contain a nuclear localization signal (NLS). Computer analysis of the sequence showed the presence of four putative NLS's, two monopartite and two bipartite (Fig 2.12b). To confirm the function of these sequences, we created a fusion protein between the C-terminal tail of SDF-1 γ and the Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP). In 293T cells, GFP alone produces diffuse, whole-cell staining. In contrast, the fusion protein was only localized to the nucleus. We could also see more intense GFP signal in nucleolar-like structures within the nucleus (Fig 2.12c). We conclude that this C-terminal domain specific to SDF-1y contains at least one functional NLS responsible for its localization to the nucleus, and that this domain could be further useful for addressing heterologous proteins to this cellular compartment. Interestingly, Tat nuclear localization gives a similar pattern of expression (data not shown).

The high degree of homology between Tat consensus sequences (from Los Alamos National Laboratory) and a region of SDF-1 γ tail is shown in Fig2.13a. This degree of homology leads us to suggest that, like Tat, SDF-1 γ would be able to interact with TAR. To investigate this hypothesis, we used a very specific TAR-

ء ،

e -

RNA pull down assay, where TAR RNA is linked to biotin at its 5' extremity, incubated with *in vitro* translated radiolabeled Tat or SDF-1, bound to avidinagarose beads and pulled-down by centrifugation (Fig 2.13b). After extensive washing, Tat or SDF-1 was released from the beads by nuclease treatment. The eluted material was analyzed by SDS–PAGE, followed by autoradiography. Figure 2.12C shows that Tat binding to the synthetic TAR is saturable. Using the same assay, we showed that SDF-1 γ was binding to TAR. In contrast, SDF-1 α lacking this additional basic region showed no TAR binding (Fig 2.13d), suggesting that this domain was responsible for the specific binding of SDF-1 γ to the TAR element.

The presence of SDF-1 γ in the nucleus and its binding to TAR fulfill two prerequisites for potential inhibition of the HIV LTR by SDF-1 γ . To test whether SDF-1 γ can interfere with HIV Tat-mediated transcription we co-transfected an LTRluciferase reporter construct and Tat expression vectors with expression vectors for SDF-1 α or SDF-1 γ , and measured their effect on the activity of the HIV promoter. The HIV promoter was activated 10-fold in response to Tat (not shown). As we introduced and increased the SDF-1 γ concentration, we saw a dose-dependent inhibition of the luciferase activity (Fig 2.14a). SDF-1 α , in contrast, did not significantly inhibit Tat-mediated LTR activation. This implies that LTR inhibition is specific for the SDF-1 γ tail. This effect was also specific for the HIV promoter and was not observed with the promoters HSV–TK, CMV-IE, LTR stimulated with PMA and 4xNF- κ B activated with TNF α (Fig 2.14b).

Because SDF-1 γ was able to alter HIV transactivation, we postulated that it could also inhibit HIV infection independent of coreceptor usage. To test this hypothesis, we co-transfected HIV encoding vectors (pNL4.3 or p49-5) with expression vectors for SDF-1 in GHOST cells. HIV p24 gag antigen production in the supernatant was monitored by ELISA at day 3 (Fig 2.15a). As previously shown, the addition of SDF-1 α inhibited p24 production of the X4 virus NL4-3. SDF-1 γ also reduced the p24 output of NL4-3 to a similar extent. This inhibitory effect can be explained by the fact that the CXCR4 binding site in SDF-1 α is located in the first 17 amino acids of the mature protein and is identical in both isoforms. The same experiment was done with 49-5, an R5 isolate (isogenic of NL4-3). SDF-1 α increased virus production with the R5 isolate, similar to what has been reported (Marechal 1999). This effect is believed to be mediated through NFkB activation. In contrast, virus production was inhibited when the cells were transfected with SDF-1 γ (Fig 2.15b). The level of SDF-1 γ inhibition was comparable with both NL4-3 and 49-5 isolates. Similar results were obtained in MagiC5 cells, in which virus production was monitored by LacZ activity (not shown). Taken together, these experiments demonstrate that SDF-1 γ is the first chemokine that functions at multiple steps of the HIV life cycle. In contrast to previously characterized anti-HIV chemokines, SDF-1 γ acts to inhibit not only entry of X4 viruses but also transcription of both R5 and X4 isolates.

2C.5 Discussion

The rate of progression to AIDS correlates directly with the level of plasma viremia. Therefore, changes in viral transcriptional rates directly affect disease pathogenesis. Pro-inflammatory cytokines that activate the transcription factor NF- κ B are likely to activate HIV transcription and contribute to an increase in HIV replication. Other cytokines could exert opposing activities on the HIV promoter and inhibit HIV transcription and replication. Such cytokines could contribute significantly to the establishment of a latent infection or to a partial inhibition of HIV replication, thereby modulating the rate of disease progression. We have identified one such possible cytokine, the human ortholog of SDF-1 γ , the third splice variant of the *SDF1* gene. The open reading frame for this variant contains an additional domain of 30 amino acids, of which 66% are basic lysine or arginine residues. As previously shown for rat SDF-1 γ , human SDF-1 γ is ubiquitously expressed, with higher levels in heart.

Interestingly, one of the prime causes of lethality in CXCR4 and SDF1 knockouts in mice is heart defects. These defects are thought to be caused mainly by homing defects in these mice due to the lack of SDF-1 α , but may in fact be due to deficiencies in the non-chemotactic properties of SDF-1 γ due to its presence in the nucleus. We also report here that human SDF-1 γ exhibits equivalent chemotactic activity to SDF-1 α . Cai et al recently reported that the C-terminal alpha helix plays a role in the stability of SDF-1 α binding to its receptor (Cai 2004). Computer modeling of SDF-1 γ structure suggest that the additional 30
amino acids extends the alpha helix, suggesting a possible enhancement of binding to CXCR4 (data not shown). However, we showed here that neither the chemotactic activity nor the inhibition of X4 viruses through CXCR4 engagement is significantly different between SDF-1 α and SDF-1 γ . This suggests that the C-terminal domain may not stabilize SDF-1 γ binding to CXCR4.

As previously shown for the Tat basic domain, the C-terminal tail of SDF-1 γ confers nucleolar localization. In Tat, this region is also responsible for protein transduction. Preliminary results indicate that SDF-1 γ has protein transduction properties (CC, unpublished observations). We have also shown here that SDF-1 γ was able to bind TAR very efficiently, similar to Tat. In addition, Tat is thought to bind other RNAs. Consequently, we would like to evaluate SDF-1 γ binding to other RNAs/DNAs, including highly structured regions in the HIV genome.

The observation that SDF-1 γ inhibits both X4 and R5 isolates is a small soluble protein, and acts at the transcriptional level, suggests that it may be a good candidate as part of the CAF activity previously described (Levy 1994). Dr. Levy's laboratory identified several years ago a cellular antiviral factor (CAF), secreted by CD8+ T-cells (Mackewicz 1995), whose levels correlate inversely with the rate of progression to AIDS (Mackewicz, 1991). CAF was also shown to block HIV replication *in vitro*, at least partially by interfering with HIV transcription in CD4⁺ T cells (Chen 1993; Mackewicz 1995). We and others have recently shown that CAF specifically inhibits HIV transcription (Le Borgne 2000; Mackewicz 2000; Tomaras, 2000). Possible identity between CAF and SDF-1 γ is

under investigation. However, SDF-1 γ obviously does not fulfill all the requirements for CAF, e.g. it is not exclusively expressed in CD8+ T cells.

Despite this apparent lack of identity with CAF, SDF-1 γ may nonetheless play a role in the reported delay of AIDS progression associated with the SDF1 3'A genotype (Winkler 1998). This mutation present in the 3' UTR of SDF-1 β transcripts was shown to have little influence on SDF-1 β production, and the techniques used to evaluate the effect of the mutation were specific for SDF-1 β . However, the 3'A mutation is present in SDF-1 γ mRNA as well, and it may modify SDF-1 γ abundance and then be associated with a delay in HIV infection. Finally, this mutation may modulate alternative splicing in favor of SDF-1 γ . The role of this mutation in SDF-1 γ abundance will be investigated.

Recent reports showed that Tat was able to bind CXCR4 and act as a chemokine-like molecule. It has also been speculated that Tat is structurally related to chemokines. We have shown here that SDF-1 γ also recapitulates many of the properties of Tat, including (Xiao 2000) cysteine organization, basic domain, size, NLS, NOS, PTD, chemotaxis, CXCR4 binding, binding to GAGs, and TAR binding. Therefore, because SDF-1 is believed to be the ancestor of all known chemokines, very conserved among species, and has given rise to other chemokines by gene duplication, it is possible that HIV Tat also evolved from the same gene.

÷ •

2C.6 Acknowledgments

We thank John Carroll for graphics, Sarah Sande for manuscript preparation, and Stephen Ordway and Gary Howard for editorial assistance. This work was supported by The J. David Gladstone Institutes, by NIH grant AI54272 (to CC) and by a Universitywide AIDS Research Programs grant (to EV). We thank Drs. Warner Greene, Andreas Jekle, Melanie Ott, Alexander Dorr, and Claudia Hetzer-Egger for advice and discussion.

2C.7 Figure Legends

Figure 2.10 - Cloning of human SDF-1 γ . (A) The nucleotide sequence and the deduced amino acid sequence corresponding to the SDF-1 γ open reading frame are shown. The additional residues specific to SDF-1 γ are highlighted in black. (B) Alignment of the human and rat SDF-1 γ proteins. Proteins were aligned with Clustal. Identical residues are boxed in *black*; conserved residues are boxed in *gray*. Alignment of the Tat-ARM is shown. (C) Schematic representation of *SDF1* and its splicing variants. Exons I-IV are shown in black, and the new exon (Ivb) is shown in white. Solid lines indicate exclusive splicing; dotted lines show alternative splicing. SA, splice acceptor site; SD, splice donor site.

Figure 2.11 - Tissue-specific expression and function of SDF-1 γ . (A) Northern blot analysis of SDF-1 isoforms showing tissue distributions. (B) Western blot analysis of SDF-1 γ expression in transfected 293T cells. (C) Chemotactic activity of SDF-1 α and SDF-1 γ on PHA-treated PBMCs. A representative experiment of three is shown.

.

Figure 2.12 - SDF-1 γ is expressed in the cytoplasm and in the nucleolus. (A) HeLa cells were transfected with an expression vector encoding FLAG-tagged SDF-1 γ . Left panel shows staining with anti-FLAG antibody. Center panel shows staining of DNA with DAPI. Right panel shows a merged image in which DAPI is blue and SDF-1 γ -FLAG is red. (B) HeLa cells were transfected with an expression vector encoding a fibrillarin-GFP fusion protein and FLAG-tagged SDF-1 γ . Left panel shows GFP fluorescence of the fusion protein. Center panel shows staining with the anti-FLAG antibody. Right panel shows a merged image in which GFP is green and SDF-1 γ -FLAG is red. (C) Amino acid sequence of the specific SDF-1 γ C-terminal tail is shown. Bipartite nuclear localization signals (NLS) are underlined (1 and 2); monopartite NLS are boxed (3 and 4). (D) HeLa cells were transfected with expression vectors encoding GFP or GFP fused to amino acids 90–119 of SDF-1 γ (GFP- γ -Tail).

Figure 2.13 - SDF-1 γ binds specifically to TAR RNA in vitro. (A) Alignment of SDF-1 γ basic domain with Tat Arginine Rich Motif consensus sequences (from http://www.hiv.lanl.gov/content/hiv-db/ALIGN_CURRENT/ALIGN-INDEX.html). Capital letters indicate conserved residues in Tat for each consensus sequence. Boxed letters show alignment with SDF-1 γ (103-115). (B) Cartoon showing the TAR RNA pull-down assay. ³⁵S-labeled proteins were mixed with biotin-TAR. Complexes were pulled down with avidin-agarose before loading on SDS-PAGE gel. (C) Binding of Tat to TAR. ³⁵S-labeled Tat protein (0, 1, 3, and 9 uL of TnT extracts) was used as shown in panel B. Gels were dried and exposed overnight

in a PhosphorImager. Band intensities were plotted for each corresponding lane. (D) Binding of SDF-1 γ to TAR. ³⁵S-labeled SDF-1 γ proteins (3 uL of TnT extracts) was used as shown in panel B. Gels were treated as in C. Lanes 1 and 2: input (20%); lanes 3 and 4: pull-down.

Figure 2.14 - SDF-1 γ blocks Tat-dependent LTR transactivation. (A) 293T cells were co-transfected with fixed quantities of LTR-Luciferase and CMV-Tat plasmids, and EF-1a-renilla plasmid as an internal control. The co-transfection contained increasing quantities of control SDF-1 α or SDF-1 γ plasmids as indicated, complemented with control plasmids. (B) 293T cells were transfected with fixed quantities of different promoters linked to luciferase (LTR/PMA, 4xNF-kB/TNFa, HSV-TK or CMV-IE). As in A, cells were cotransfected with increasing quantities of SDF1 γ .

Figure 2.15 - SDF-1 γ blocks both X4 and R5 virus infection in GHOST cells. GHOST cells expressing CXCR4 and CCR5 were co-transfected with 100 ng of (A) pNL4.3 or (B) p49-5, and 0, 100, or 300 ng of control, SDF-1 α or SDF-1 γ encoding plasmids, complemented with empty plasmid. HIV infection was monitored by p24 released in the supernatant at day 3. p24 values are the average of duplicate samples. Values were normalized to control plasmid transfection.

. . [.] . .

2D. Tat and SIRT1

Paper: Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Tat Protein Inhibits the NAD⁺-Dependent Deacetylase SIRT1 and Induces T-Cell Hyperactivation Hye-Sook Kwon, Prerana Jayakumar, Lin-Feng Chen, Eric Verdin, Warner C.

Greene, and Melanie Ott

2D.1 Abstract

Symptoms of generalized immune hyperactivation shape the course and outcome of HIV-1 infection, but underlying causes of immune activation are not well understood. We find that the viral transactivator Tat hyperactivates T cells by blocking the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺)-dependent deacetylase SIRT1. Tat directly interacts with the deacetylase domain of SIRT1 and blocks the ability of SIRT1 to deacetylate lysine 310 in the p65 subunit of NF κ B. As a consequence, Tat hyperactivates the expression of NF κ B response genes, a function lost in SIRT1-/- cells. These results support a model, in which SIRT1 serves as a negative regulator of T-cell activation, which is inactivated by Tat during HIV infection.

L -

i -

[

Ĩ

and the second

2D.2 Introduction

Immune activation is a hallmark of HIV-1 infection and a significant factor in continuous viral replication and CD4+ T cell depletion (Douek 2003). In HIV-infected individuals, levels of circulating activation markers correlate with accelerated disease progression and shortened survival (Lawn 2001). HIV infection is critically dependent on the activated state of CD4⁺ T cells since the virus cannot replicate efficiently in resting T cells (Stevenson 1990). Quiescent T cells are refractory to infection because of blocks at the level of reverse transcription and proviral integration (Bukrinsky 1991; Chiu 2005). In addition, T-cell activation enhances viral transcription through activation of transcription factors, such as nuclear factor κB (NF κB) (Liu 2005).

HIV-1 infection itself manipulates the activation status of infected T cells through the expression of viral proteins, including Env, Nef and Tat (Chirmule 1996; Fackler 2002; Peruzzi 2006; Schindler 2006). The viral transactivator Tat potently activates HIV transcription and binds to an RNA stem-loop structure called TAR that spontaneously forms at the 5' extremities of all viral transcripts (Barboric 2005). Tat also influences the expression of cellular genes in infected T cells. For example, Tat synergizes with signals mediated via the T-cell receptor (TCR) and the CD28 coreceptor to superactivate interleukin (IL)-2 gene expression (Fortin 2004; Ott 1997; Westendorp 1994; Wu 2001).

IL-2 is a T-cell growth factor with critical functions in lymphocyte proliferation, survival and immune functions (Smith 1988). IL-2 expression is dependent on coordinated signals delivered via the TCR and coreceptors and is tightly

regulated at the transcriptional level. IL-2 is important during HIV infection: it primes nonactivated bystander cells for infection in the absence of antigenic stimulation (Kinter 1995; Polacino 1995; Unutmaz 1994). This important mechanism increases the pool of target cells permissive for HIV infection, specifically in the confines of the lymphoid organs (Kreisberg 2006).

While the function of Tat in viral transcription is well studied, the molecular mechanism of its immunomodulatory functions is less clear. Many previous reports linked Tat with the transcription factor NF_kB (Buonaguro 1994; Cota-Gomez 2002: Dhawan 1997: Hofman 1999: Lee 2004: Liu 2002: Lusic 2003: Ott 1997; Ott 1998; Scala 1994; Westendorp 1994; Westendorp 1995). Beside its central role in the regulation of the innate and adaptive immune response, NFkB is a critical regulator of HIV transcription. The HIV promoter contains two tandem NF κ B binding sites (Nabel 1987). The activity of the prototypical NF κ B complex (a heterodimer of p50 and p65 subunits) is regulated through association with inhibitory IkB molecules and posttranslational modifications. IkB molecules complexed to the NF_kB dimer in the cytoplasm are rapidly phosphorylated after T-cell activation via the TCR, allowing nuclear translocation of NF κ B (Ghosh 2002). After translocation, the p65 subunit undergoes posttranslational modifications, including reversible acetylation by the histone acetyltransferase p300 (Chen 2002; Kiernan 2003). The acetylation of lysines 218 and 220 enhances DNA binding and prevents assembly with IkB and nuclear export of p65, while acetylation of lysine 310 (K310) is critical for the transcriptional activity of NF_kB (Chen 2001; Chen 2002). The transcriptional activity of NF_kB is

1.

Ţ

1 .

.

t.

suppressed by the deacetylase activities of histone deacetylase 3 and SIRT1, two proteins that deacetylate p65 (Chen 2001; Yeung 2004). SIRT1 specifically deacetylates K310 in p65 and inhibits the antiapoptotic function of NF_KB (Yeung 2004).

SIRT1 is a homologue of the yeast transcriptional repressor silent information regulator 2p (Sir2p), an important regulator of longevity in yeast (Gasser 2001). Like Sir2p, SIRT1 requires nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) as a cofactor, which links its activity to the metabolic state of the cell. Despite its enzymatic activity on histone substrates *in vitro*, recent experimental evidence suggests that SIRT1 predominantly targets nonhistone proteins for deacetylation (Sauve 2006). We recently reported that Tat is a substrate for the deacetylase activity of SIRT1 (Pagans 2005). Acetylation of lysine 50 (K50) in Tat is mediated by the histone acetyltransferase activity of p300 (Kiernan 1999; Ott 1999) and human GCN5 (Col 2001) and generates binding sites for the bromodomains of PCAF (Dorr 2002; Mujtaba 2002) and Brg1 (Mahmoudi 2006). SIRT1 binds and deacetylates Tat at K50, a process necessary to recycle nonacetylated Tat protein for binding to TAR RNA and the cofactor pTefb (Kaehlcke 2003; Kiernan 1999).

Because SIRT1 is a regulator of NF κ B and interacts with the HIV Tat protein, we examined the effects of Tat on the deacetylase activity of SIRT1. We propose a molecular mechanism for the longstanding observation that Tat participates in the hyperactivation of immune cells infected with HIV.

.

2D.3 Materials and Methods

Cells and Plasmids

HeLa, 293 and Jurkat cells were cultured under standard tissue culture conditions. MEF cells derived from SIRT-/- cells (McBurney 2003)were obtained from M. McBurney (Ottawa Regional Cancer Center) and were grown as described (Pagans 2005). Expression constructs for human Myc-tagged SIRT1 (Langley 2002) were provided by T. Kouzarides (University of Cambridge), E-Selectin (De Luca 1994) and I κ B luciferase reporter constructs (Luecke 2005) by J. Pober (Yale University) and K. Yamamoto (University of California, San Francisco), respectively. Murine Sir2 deletion mutants (Fulco 2003) were gifts from V. Sartorelli (NIH) and the expression vector for p53 (Baker 1990) from B. Vogelstein (Johns Hopkins Oncology Center). Mutant constructs for SIRT1 HDAC domain were prepared by site-directed mutagenesis using FLAG-tagged SIRT1 as a template. Three copies of the NF κ B binding site present in the α subunit of the high-affinity IL-2 receptor promoter were cloned upstream of the thymidine kinase minimal promoter in pGL-2 basic vector.

Infection with LTR-GFP and LTR-Tat-GFP Lentiviral Vectors

LTR-GFP and LTR-Tat-GFP are HIV-based vectors derived from the pHR' series (provided by D. Trono, Swiss Institute of Technology Lausanne), in which GFP or Tat101 (corresponding to the two-exon form of the HIV-1 Tat gene) and GFP are under the control of the HIV-1 LTR through the use of an internal ribosome entry site (Jordan 2001). Each vector was cotransfected into 293T cells together with a

•

packaging construct (pCMV-R8.91) that provides all HIV genes required for production of infective particles and a plasmid encoding the vesicular stomatitis virus envelope G protein (VSV-G) to produce pseudotyped viral particles with broad host range and high infectivity. The next day, viral particles were harvested from the supernatant of transfected cells and quantified with a p24 ELISA assay. p24 (1500 ng) were used to infect 18×10⁶ Jurkat T cells. Infections were carried out in 6-well plates at 2400 rpm in a Beckman-Coulter centrifuge (Allegra 6R. rotor GH3.8A) for 2 h at 32°C in the presence of polybrene (1 μg/ml. Sigma). After infection, cells were washed repeatedly in phosphate-buffered saline and plated at a concentration of 5×10⁵ cells/ml in RPMI complete medium. Jurkat cells (10⁶) were stimulated with α -CD3 (3 µg/ml) and α -CD28 (1 µg/ml) antibodies 36 h after infection as described (Ott et al., 1998) or were preincubated with nicotinamide (10 mM, Sigma) for 1 h before treatment with α -CD3/28 antibodies. Flow cytometry analysis of GFP expression was performed (FACSCalibur, BD Bioscience). Infection efficiencies ranged from 70–98% GFP+ cells in individual experiments. Tat expression was visualized by western blot with polyclonal α -FLAG and α -actin (Sigma) antibodies.

Generation of SIRT1-Negative and -Positive MEF Cell Lines

Open reading frames corresponding to Myc-tagged human SIRT1 and FLAGtagged HIV-1 Tat (101 amino acids) cDNAs were inserted into murine stem cell virus (MSCV)-based retroviral vectors, MSCV-puromycin and MSCV-zeocin, respectively (Clontech). To obtain recombinant virus, 10 μ g of each constructs for SIRT1 and Tat expression along with control vectors were transfected into

*

. . . .

BOSC23 cells, a retroviral packaging cell line derived from the 293 human embryonic kidney cell line (Pear 1993), grown in a 10-cm dish until 80% confluence with Lipofectamine (Invitrogen). The supernatants were collected 48 h after transfection and filtered through a 0.45- μ m membrane. SIRT1-/- MEF cells (2 × 10⁵) in a 6-cm dish were incubated with 2 ml of the supernatant containing SIRT1 retrovirus and control virus together with polybrene (8 μ g/ml). Cells were selected after 48 h with puromycin (2.5 μ g/ml, Invitrogen) for 5 days. Polyclonal puromycin resistant MEF cells were then reinfected with Tat and its control retroviruses as the same condition above. Cells were reselected in the presence of both puromycin (2.5 μ g/ml) and zeocin (100 μ g/ml, Invitrogen). Four polyclonal populations of MEF cells grown in a 6-cm dish at 90% confluence were treated with recombinant human TNF α (20 ng/ml, Invitrogen) in the presence of both puromycin for 2 and 8 h. Cells were processed for RNA isolation.

RNA Purification, cDNA Synthesis, and Real-Time RT-PCR

Total RNA was extracted using RNA STAT-60 reagent (Tel-Test) according to the manufacturer's instruction. The first strand cDNA was generated using 2 μ g of total RNA and SuperScript reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen). Real-time RT-PCR was performed in duplicate on the ABI PRISM 7700 thermocycler (Applied Biosystems). Human IL-2 and murine E-selectin mRNAs were quantified by QuantiTect gene expression assays (Qiagen). Murine I κ B α and murine/human GAPDH mRNA concentrations were determined with SYBR Green I master mix (MCLab). Primers were designed using Primer Express software (Applied

- 1.0

. .

Biosystems). Mouse $I\kappa B\alpha$ (NM_010907); Forward: 367 TGGCCTTCCTCAACTTCCAG, Reverse: 487 TCTCGGAGCTCAGGATCACA. Mouse GAPDH (BC095932); Forward: 204 ACTCCACTCACGGCAAATTCA, Reverse: 324 GCCTCACCCCATTTGATGTT. Human GAPDH (BC001601); Forward: 344 AGTCCACTGGCGTCTTCACC, Reverse: 464 TGGTTCACACCCATGACGAA.

Gene expression was analyzed quantitatively using a comparative Ct method (Pfaffl 2001) (Applied Biosystems). The expression of each gene was first normalized to GAPDH expression by subtraction of the GAPDH Ct value to the one obtained for the gene at any condition tested (Δ Ct values). The $\Delta\Delta$ Ct was then calculated as the difference between the Δ Ct values from stimulated (α -CD3/28 antibodies or TNF α) and nonstimulated control samples. Relative expression ratios between stimulated and nonstimulated conditions were calculated by the equation, ratio = $2^{-\Delta\Delta$ Ct}. All real time RT-PCR were performed from at least three independent samples.

Transfections and Coimmunoprecipitations

Luciferase reporter constructs and expression vectors for various proteins were cotransfected into HeLa cells with 12-well plates and Lipofectamine. Twenty-four h after transfection, cells were lysed and processed for luciferase assays (Promega). Transfection efficiency was normalized by protein concentration. P values (paired t-test) were used for statistical analysis.

In coimmunoprecipitation experiments, 293 cells grown in 6-well plates at 70% confluence were cotransfected in triplicate using Lipofectamine and expression

.

. 1

vectors as indicated in the figure legends. Twenty-four hours after transfection, cells were lysed in P300 lysis buffer (250 mM NaCl, 0.1% NP40, 20 mM NaH₂PO₄ (pH 7.5), 5 mM EDTA, 30 mM sodium pyrophosphate, 10 mM NaF) containing protease inhibitors (Roche Molecular Biochemicals). Triplicates were pooled, and 2 mg of cell lysate was immunoprecipitated with either α -FLAG M2 agarose (Sigma) or α -T7-agarose (EMD Biosciences) at 4°C over night. Beads were washed three times in P300 lysis buffer, boiled in SDS loading buffer, and analyzed by western blotting with polyclonal α -FLAG (Sigma), α -Myc (sc-40, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), or monoclonal α -T7 (EMD Biosciences) antibodies.

For detection of acetylated p65 and p53 in cells, 293 cells were transfected using Lipofectamine and p65, wildtype p53, and various expression vectors as indicated in the figure legends. Transfection and lysis of cells were carried out with the same procedures used in coimmunoprecipitation experiment. Cell lysate (2 mg) was immunoprecipitated with either α -T7-agarose for p65 or with α -goat p53 antibody (sc-1311, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) together with protein G-Sepharose (Amersham Biosciences) at 4°C over night. Immunoprecipitated material was analyzed by western blotting with α -AcK310 p65 (Chen et al., 2005), α -AcK382 p53 (Cell Signaling Technology), monoclonal α -T7, and mouse α -p53 (sc-126, Santa Cruz Biotechnology).

In Vitro HDAC Assays.

FLAG-tagged SIRT1 expression plasmids (1 μ g) were transfected in 293 cells with lipofectamine reagent (Invitrogen). Transfection and lysis of cells were

Prerana Jayakumar

carried out with the same procedures used in coimmunoprecipitation experiment. Equal amounts of total cell extracts (2 mg) were immunoprecipitated with α -FLAG M2 agarose at 4°C over night. In vitro HDAC assays were performed as previously (Pagans 2005).

Recombinant p65 protein prepared from baculovirus-infected Sf9 insect cells (BD biosciences) was acetylated by immunoprecipitated full-length p300 expressed in 293 cells as described (Chen 2005). Acetylated p65 protein was incubated with recombinant SIRT1 (1 μ g/5U) in SIRT1 deacetylase buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 9, 4 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM DTT) in the presence of NAD⁺ for 3 h at 37°C. Reactions containing synthetic Tat (0.1 μ g) or nicotinamide (10 mM) were preincubated for 15 min at room temperature. Reactions were stopped by the addition of SDS loading buffer, and the mixture was boiled, and after brief centrifugation, analyzed by western blotting with rabbit α -AcK310 (Chen 2005) or α -p65 antibodies (sc-8008, Santa Cruz Biotechnology).

٠.

[

Ĺ

1.

ſ

÷ -

÷

,

Í

1 .

Prerana Jayakumar

÷.

2D.4 Results

Tat and Nicotinamide Hyperactivate T Cells Via the Same Cellular Pathway

To recapitulate the Tat effect on immune activation in a manner as close to the natural infection as possible, we used an HIV-based retroviral vector containing the full-length Tat (101 amino acids) and the GFP open reading frames under the control of the HIV promoter in the 5' long terminal repeat (LTR). We infected Jurkat T cells with viral particles containing this vector or a control vector expressing GFP alone. Infected cultures were stimulated with antibodies specific for the CD3 and CD28 receptors to mimic physiological T-cell activation.

Tat expression was visualized by western blot analysis (Figure 2.16A). Treatment with α -CD3/28 slightly increased the levels of Tat because of the stimulatory effect of these antibodies on the viral LTR. In cells expressing Tat, a ~1200-fold induction of IL-2 mRNA was measured in response to α -CD3/28 treatment, whereas IL-2 expression in cells expressing GFP was only induced ~250 fold (Figure 2.16B). A similar difference was observed when IL-2 protein levels were measured in the culture supernatant (Figure 2.16C). No effect of Tat was observed in nonactivated cultures. These results reproduced data previously obtained in purified CD4⁺ T cells (Wu 2001), peripheral blood lymphocytes (Ott 1997), and Jurkat T cells (Fortin 2004) infected with infectious HIV and support the model that Tat synergizes with T-cell activation to hyperactivate IL-2 production.

á

To examine the role of SIRT1 in IL-2 production, we treated Jurkat cells with nicotinamide, a natural byproduct of the deacetylase reaction of sirtuins and a feedback inhibitor of these enzymes (Bitterman 2002). Treatment with nicotinamide superinduced IL-2 mRNAs to similar levels as Tat in response to α-CD3/28 stimulation (Figure 2.16D). To test whether Tat and nicotinamide synergize in the hyperactivation of IL-2 expression, we treated Tat- or controlinfected Jurkat cultures with nicotinamide before activation. This experiment showed no additive effect of Tat and nicotinamide on IL-2 expression (Figure 2.16E). Tat superinduced IL-2 mRNA in the absence of nicotinamide, but no additional superinduction was measured in nicotinamide-treated cultures. Levels of Tat protein were equal in infected cultures treated with nicotinamide and control-treated cultures excluding the possibility that nicotinamide suppressed the expression of Tat (Figure 2.16F). These results demonstrate that Tat and nicotinamide target related cellular pathways and support the hypothesis that Tat hyperactivates T cells via SIRT1.

SIRT1 Is Required for the Hyperactivation of NF_xB Target Genes by Tat

T-cell activation is coupled to the activation of several transcription factors that regulate the transcriptional activation of the IL-2 gene (Liu 2005). We focused our efforts on NF κ B since its activity is regulated by SIRT1 (Yeung 2004). We and others previously reported that Tat enhanced IL-2 promoter activity via NF κ B binding sites within the IL-2 promoter (Fortin 2004; Ott 1997; Ott 1998; Westendorp 1994). We speculated that Tat, like nicotinamide, targets the SIRT1 deacetylase activity to hyperactivate NF κ B-responsive genes including IL-2.

.

We tested this hypothesis in cells derived from SIRT1-/- mice. Mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) were infected with a retroviral vector expressing SIRT1 or the empty vector alone. Polyclonal populations of SIRT1-expressing or SIRT1-negative cells were each infected with retroviral vectors expressing Tat or with the empty vector alone. This protocol generated four polyclonal MEF cultures, allowing the analysis of the Tat effect in the presence or absence of SIRT1 (Figure 2.17A). MEF cell lines were treated with TNF α to activate NF κ B. Expression of I κ B α , an endogenous NF κ B response gene, was examined by real-time RT-PCR. We found that Tat expression increased endogenous levels of I κ B α mRNA 3- to 4-fold over control-infected cells in response to TNF α (Figure 2.17B). Remarkably, this effect was only observed in cultures where SIRT1 expression had been reconstituted. No difference between Tat- and vector-infected cells was detected in SIRT1-negative cells, indicating that Tat-mediated superinduction of NF κ B response genes was dependent on SIRT1

A similar result was observed with E-selectin, another NF κ B response gene that is also superinduced by Tat in endothelial cells (Cota-Gomez 2002; Dhawan 1997; Lee 2004). After TNF α treatment, endogenous E-selectin gene expression was enhanced 6-fold by Tat in SIRT1-expressing, but not in SIRT1-negative cells (Figure 2.17C). Here, the Tat effect was only visible at 2 h after TNF α treatment. At 8 h, we did not measure any induction of E-selectin gene expression, consistent with the finding that E-selectin mRNA accumulation peaks 2 h after TNF α treatment and rapidly declines (Edelstein 2005). Tat had no effect on the

A

expression of the endogenous glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase gene (GAPDH), which was used as a control gene (Figure 2.17D).

Tat Neutralizes the Negative Effect of SIRT1 on NFxB Function

Next, we studied the effect of Tat on the $I\kappa B\alpha$ and E-selectin gene promoters. We transfected an $I\kappa B\alpha$ promoter luciferase construct together with expression vectors for p65, SIRT1, and Tat in HeLa cells (Figure 3A). SIRT1 suppressed the activation of the $I\kappa B\alpha$ promoter by p65, confirming that deacetylation by SIRT1 inactivates p65 activity (Yeung 2004). Coexpression of Tat restored p65 activity, indicating that Tat interfered with the deacetylation of p65 by SIRT1 (Figure 2.18A). No change in expression levels of p65 was observed by western blotting in the presence of SIRT1 or Tat (data not shown; Figure 2.20C). The suppressive activity of SIRT1 was dependent on the intact deacetylase activity of SIRT1, since a catalytically inactive SIRT1 mutant (P447E; described in Figure 2.19C) did not suppress the activity of p65 and was unresponsive to the action of Tat. Expression of Tat did not affect basal or p65-mediated activity of the $I\kappa B\alpha$ promoter in the absence of SIRT1 overexpression (Figure 2.18A).

The same results were observed using an E-selectin promoter luciferase construct. Again, SIRT1 reduced p65-activated E-selectin promoter activity, and Tat reversed the negative effect of SIRT1 (Figure 2.18B). No reduction was observed with the mutant SIRT1, which was also unresponsive to Tat (Figure 2.18B).

To verify that Tat and SIRT1 modulated the activities of the E-selectin and $I\kappa B\alpha$ promoters through NF κ B, we transfected p65-, Tat-, and SIRT1-expressing

2

constructs together with a NF κ B luciferase reporter. Expression of SIRT1 reduced the p65-mediated activation of the NF κ B reporter, while coexpression of Tat reversed this negative effect (Figure 2.18C). Again, expression of the catalytically inactive SIRT1 mutant did not interfere with the activity of p65, and additional Tat expression had no effect in this background (Figure 2.18C). Likewise, overexpression of a p65 mutant (K310R) which lacked the deacetylation site for SIRT1 and reduced activation of the NF κ B luciferase construct was unaffected by the SIRT1 and Tat (Figure 2.18C). These results demonstrate that Tat targets the SIRT1 deacetylase activity to hyperactivate NF κ B function.

Binding of Tat to the Deacetylase Domain of SIRT1

We showed previously that Tat and SIRT1 interact in cells (Pagans 2005). To map the Tat-interacting domain in SIRT1, we performed coimmunoprecipitation assays with SIRT1 mutants and Tat using deletion constructs of the murine SIRT1 protein as described (Fulco 2003). Gradual N-terminal deletions at amino acids 120, 236, or 341 did not affect coimmunoprecipitation with Tat (Figure 2.19A, lanes 1–3). However, deletion of the first 513 amino acids abrogated binding to Tat, indicating that the Tat-interaction domain lies between amino acids 342 and 512 of SIRT1 (Figure 2.19A, lane 4). Accordingly, expression of amino acids 236 to 510 was sufficient for the interaction between Tat and SIRT1 protein (Figure 2.19A, lane 5). The results of the coimmunoprecipitation studies are summarized in Figure 2.19B.

.

6. S. S.

الا د مه ما

The region spanning amino acids 342–512 harbors the catalytic domain of SIRT1, which is shared among all sirtuins (Sauve 2006). It is 98% conserved in murine and human SIRT1 proteins and consists of two distinct domains that bind NAD⁺ and the acetyl-lysine substrate, respectively (Avalos 2002). To determine whether Tat interacts with one of these subdomains, point mutations were introduced into human SIRT1 expression construct to disrupt NAD⁺-binding (R274A, N346A) or acetyl-lysine binding (F414D, E416A, V445E, P447E) (Figure 2.19C). In addition, we mutated two conserved cysteines (C371/374G) located in a zinc-finger like structure predicted to serve as a protein-protein interaction domain (Min 2001).

The catalytic activities of these mutants were measured by *in vitro* histone deacetylase (HDAC) assay using a radioactive acetylated histone peptide as a substrate. We transfected wildtype and mutant SIRT1 proteins into 293 cells and immunoprecipitated the FLAG-tagged proteins (Figure 2.19D). The immunoprecipitated material was tested for enzymatic activity. Incubation with wildtype SIRT1 or the R274A mutant resulted in deacetylation of the histone peptide in the presence of NAD⁺ (Figure 2.19D). The deacetylase activity of the F414D, E416A, and V445E mutants was severely impaired, while no activity was measured for N346A, C371/374G, and P447E mutants.

Next, we cotransfected wildtype and SIRT1 mutants together with T7-tagged Tat. Wildtype and mutant SIRT1 proteins were expressed at similar levels (Figure 2.19E, upper panel). After pull down with T7-agarose, immunoprecipitated complexes were analyzed for the presence of SIRT1 (Figure 2.19D, lower

*

panels). While binding to Tat was preserved in SIRT1 R274A, N346A and C371/374G, no binding to Tat was observed with any of the SIRT1 mutants carrying a mutation within the acetyl-lysine-binding domain (F414D, E416A, V445E, P447E). The same results were obtained when SIRT1 proteins were immunoprecipitated, and coimmunoprecipitation of Tat was determined (data not shown). These data demonstrate that Tat interacts with the substrate-binding domain of SIRT1.

Inhibition of the SIRT1 Deacetylase Activity by Tat

Since an intact acetyl-lysine binding function is critical for the deacetylase activity of SIRT1, we tested whether Tat binding affected the enzymatic activity of SIRT1. We performed *in vitro* HDAC assays with recombinant SIRT1 enzyme in the presence of synthetic Tat peptides (amino acids 1-72) (Kaehlcke 2003). Incubation of SIRT1 with Tat inhibited deacetylation of the histone peptide in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 2.20A). At equimolar concentrations of Tat and SIRT1, a 70% reduction in deacetylation was observed, while a complete suppression occurred when a 10-fold molar excess of Tat versus SIRT1 was included in the reaction.

Tat is itself acetylated and a substrate for the deacetylase activity of SIRT1 (Pagans 2005). To test the effect of acetylated Tat on the deacetylase activity of SIRT1, we incubated synthetic Tat carrying a single acetyl group at K50 (Ac-Tat) with SIRT1. Acetylated Tat inhibited deacetylation of the histone peptide with the same efficiency as nonacetylated Tat (Figure 2.20A). These results agree with

\$

2-

our previous data showing that Tat binds to SIRT1 regardless of the acetylation status of K50 (Pagans 2005).

Next, we examined the effect of Tat on deacetylation of p65 by SIRT1. We incubated *in vitro* acetylated recombinant p65 protein with recombinant SIRT1 and synthetic Tat proteins. The extent of deacetylation was determined by western blotting with antibody specific for acetylated K310 in p65 (α -AcK310 p65). SIRT1 deacetylated p65 in the absence of Tat (Figure 2.20B, lane 2). In the presence of Tat, deacetylation of p65 by SIRT1 was completely suppressed, confirming that direct interaction between Tat and SIRT1 inhibits the deacetylase activity of SIRT1 (Figure 2.20B, lane 3). The same inhibition of p65 deacetylation by SIRT1 was observed with nicotinamide (Figure 2.20B, lane 4). These results demonstrate that Tat functions as an inhibitor of the SIRT1 deacetylase activity and prevents deacetylation of p65 *in vitro*.

Hyperacetylation of Cellular Targets of SIRT1 in the Presence of Tat

To test the effect of Tat on p65 acetylation in cells, we transfected expression vectors for p65, SIRT1 and Tat into 293 cells and immunoprecipitated the p65 protein. To induce efficient p65 acetylation, we overexpressed the acetyltransferase p300 (Chen 2002). Overexpression of SIRT1 reduced acetylation of p65 at K310 caused by p300 (Figure 2.20C, lanes 2, 3). Coexpression of Tat partially restored p65 acetylation in the presence of SIRT1 (Figure 2.20C, lane 4). Interestingly, expression of a Tat mutant containing two glutamines at position 50 and 51 (Tat K50/51Q) and mimicking an acetylated Tat

4

protein in cells completely restored acetylation of p65 in the presence of SIRT1 (Figure 2.20C, lane 5).

Neither Tat nor SIRT1 proteins affected the expression of total p65 protein (Figure 2.20C). These results demonstrate that expression of Tat causes hyperacetylation of cellular p65 in the presence of SIRT1. They further suggest that acetylated Tat functions as a better SIRT1 inhibitor than nonacetylated Tat in cells, although both proteins bind to SIRT1 and inhibit the SIRT1 deacetylase activity with the same efficiency *in vitro* ((Pagans 2005), Figure 2.20A).

To further test the concept that Tat modulates acetylation levels of SIRT1 substrates, we analyzed the acetylation status of p53. p53 is deacetylated by SIRT1 at K382 (Vaziri 2001). We transfected an expression vector of p53 together with constructs for p300, SIRT1 and Tat in 293 cells and immunoprecipitated p53 with α -p53 antibody. Coexpression of p53 with p300 induced acetylation of K382 in p53 as determined by western blotting with antibodies specific for acetylated K382 (α -AcK382 p53). Overexpression of SIRT1 suppressed acetylation of K382 in p53 (Figure 2.20D, lane 2). The suppression was reversed when increasing amounts of Tat or Tat K50/51Q were coexpressed with SIRT1. Again, mutant Tat reversed the action of SIRT1 on p53 more efficiently than wildtype Tat, supporting the concept that acetylated Tat might act as a better inhibitor of SIRT1 in cells. These results demonstrate that Tat inhibits SIRT1 function in cells leading to hyperacetylation of SIRT1 substrates including p65 and p53.

4

i. . .

2D.5 Discussion

Our finding that Tat inactivates cellular SIRT1 provides the first molecular mechanism for the Tat-induced hyperactivation of T cells. It further uncovers a novel role of SIRT1 in T cell activation.

We find that Tat binds to the SIRT1 catalytic site and impairs the ability of SIRT1 to deacetylate K310 in NF κ B/p65. Consistent with previous data that deacetylation by SIRT1 inactivates NF κ B function we find NF κ B activity "superactivated" in the presence of Tat. Based on these results, we propose a model in which Tat hyperactivates T cells through inhibition of SIRT1 and derepression of NF κ B activity. In the absence of Tat, a balance of p300 and SIRT1 activities regulates p65 acetylation. This balance tightly controls the activation of cellular genes involved in the immune response of T cells (Figure 6A). During HIV infection, Tat expression induces a dysequilibrium and increases levels of acetylated p65 through inhibition of SIRT1 (Figure 2.21B). This increase hyperactivates the function of NF κ B and the expression of NF κ B responsive genes including IL-2.

One of the most studied NF κ B response genes is HIV itself. The two NF κ Bbinding sites in the HIV enhancer link HIV transcription to the activation status of the infected T cell. This is particularly important at the beginning of the infectious process and during reactivation from latency when Tat levels are limited. During these times, the action of cellular transcription factors, most importantly NF κ B, is essential for the production of full-length viral transcripts necessary for the synthesis of Tat. Once Tat accumulates to sufficient levels, it binds to TAR RNA

.-

ĥ

. . .

and dramatically increases the elongation competence of the RNA polymerase II complex through recruitment of the PTEFb complex. At that time, Tat may also enhance NF κ B function through inhibition of SIRT1 (Figure 2.21B). Our preliminary studies show that the two Tat functions (via TAR or via SIRT1) are genetically distinct. Tat mutants such as TatC22G and TatK41A, which are deficient in binding to PTEFb, are unaffected in their affinity for SIRT1 (H.-S. Kwon and M. Ott, unpublished observations).

Tat itself is deacetylated by SIRT1. Although SIRT1 is a negative regulator of NF κ B, it functions as a coactivator of Tat transactivation through deacetylation of K50 (Pagans 2005). We favor the model that deacetylation of Tat recycles acetylated Tat to the unacetylated form, which is the only Tat form able to engage in the formation of the Tat/TAR/PTEFb complex. Interestingly, binding of Tat to the SIRT1 deacetylase domain occurs independently from the acetylation status of K50 (Pagans 2005). However, we show here that a Tat K50/51Q mutant, which mimics an acetylated Tat protein in cells, restores p65 acetylation in the presence of SIRT1 more efficiently than wild type Tat. This raises the possibility that Tat might act as a "supersubstrate" of the SIRT1 enzymatic activity (Borgstrom 1975). Acetylated Tat is efficiently deacetylated by SIRT1, but stays bound to SIRT1 and blocks access of other substrates to the catalytically active site.

SIRT1 targets many transcriptional activators, including p65, p53, Forkhead transcription factors, as well as transcriptional coactivators PGC-1alpha and p300 (Sauve 2006). The observation that Tat inhibits a central regulator of the

Prerana Jayakumar

function of many transcription factors and transcriptional coactivators provides an explanation of Tat's reported pleiotropism. The finding that p53 is hyperacetylated in the presence of Tat supports the concept that Tat inhibits deacetylation of many SIRT1 targets. Whether the hyperacetylation of p53 is associated with increased apoptosis in Tat-expressing cells remains to be determined. Interestingly, p53 is hyperacetylated in SIRT-/- mice, but whether this hyperacetylation is associated with an increase in the apoptosis-inducing function of p53 is a matter of controversy (Cheng 2003; Kamel 2006). However, we show that the functional "knockout" of SIRT1 by Tat leads to an increase in NF κ B transcriptional activity. Tat specifically counterbalances the suppressive effect of SIRT1 on the function of p65, but not of a p65 mutant that cannot be acetylated on K310. These data support the concept that K310 acetylation is important for NF κ B activity and link the Tat effect to the hyperactivation of the T cell response during HIV infection.

T-cell activation is a highly controlled process and involves positive and negative regulatory mechanisms. Negative control prevents inappropriate activation or terminates ongoing activation in a timely manner. Our results showing that inhibition of SIRT1 by Tat or nicotinamide leads to T cell hyperactivation identify SIRT1 as a negative regulator of T-cell activation. This concept is supported by our preliminary findings that SIRT1 protein levels are strongly upregulated after activation of primary CD4⁺ T cells (H.-S. Kwon and M. Ott, unpublished data). A similar upregulation of SIRT1 protein levels has been described during fasting

6

and supports the model that SIRT1 is involved in life span extension induced by caloric restriction (Cohen 2004; Rodgers 2005).

The finding that Tat induces T-cell hyperactivation through inhibition of SIRT1 opens the possibility for therapeutic intervention. The role of yeast Sir2p and possibly human SIRT1 in lifespan extension has fueled the search for sirtuin activators (Grubisha 2005). One of the compounds that activates SIRT1 is resveratrol found in red wine (Howitz 2003). Interestingly, resveratrol was shown to lower the *K*m for the acetylated substrate, which might specifically counterbalance the blockade by Tat. Because of the many health benefits associated with red wine and resveratrol, the prospect of resveratrol-mediated restoration of SIRT1 function is an intriguing approach to the treatment of HIV-induced immune hyperactivation.

2D.6 Acknowledgments

We thank Drs. Narendra Chirmule, Tony Kouzarides, Michael McBurney, Jordan Pober, Vittorio Sartorelli, Didier Trono, Bert Vogelstein, and Keith Yamamoto for sharing their reagents with us. We thank Angelika Pedal, Thomas Conrad and Jennie Lovett for technical assistance, John Carroll for graphics, Garry Howard for editorial and Amanda Bradford for administrative assistance. H.-S. Kwon is supported by a fellowship from the University-wide AIDS Research Program (UARP) and M. Ott by grants from the Gladstone Institute and the NIH.

2D.7 Figure Legends

Figure 2.16. - Tat and nicotinamide cause T-cell hyperactivation (A) Western blot of Tat protein in Jurkat cells infected with lentiviral vectors expressing LTR-GFP and LTR-Tat-GFP. Infected cultures were activated for 2 h and 8 h with α -CD3/28 antibodies. (B) Real-time RT-PCR analysis of IL-2 mRNA levels in infected cultures 2 h after activation with α -CD3/28. Results are expressed as fold induction by α -CD3/28 treatment. (C) IL-2 protein levels measured by ELISA in the culture supernatant of infected cells 8 h after α -CD3/28 treatment. (D) Real-time RT-PCR analysis of IL-2 mRNA levels in Jurkat cells after treatment with nicotinamide and activation with α -CD3/28. (E) Real time RT-PCR analysis of IL-2 mRNA levels in Jurkat cells infected with lentiviral vectors expressing LTR-GFP or LTR-Tat-GFP after treatment with nicotinamide for 1 h and activation with α -CD3/28 antibodies for 2 h. (F) Western blot of Tat protein in Jurkat cells infected with lentiviral vectors after treatment with nicotinamide and



'n

. :

activation with α -CD3/28. In B–E averages of three independent experiments (±SEM) are shown.

Figure 2.17. - Tat-mediated superinduction of NF κ B response genes requires SIRT1 (A) Western blot of SIRT1-/- MEF cells infected with MSCV-based retroviral particles expressing SIRT1 or Tat. (B-D) Real-time RT-PCR analysis of endogenous I κ B α (B), E-selectin (C), and GAPDH (D) gene expression in the four MEF populations after incubation with TNF α (20 ng/ml) for 2 h and 8 h. Data are presented relative to values obtained in cells lacking Tat (100%) in a SIRT1-negative (vector) or SIRT1-positive (SIRT1) background. The mean of three independent experiments (±SEM) is shown.

Figure 2.18. - Tat neutralizes SIRT1 inhibition on NF κ B promoter activity Promoter reporter assays using (A) the I κ B α , (B) the E-Selectin, and (C) NF κ B reporter constructs. Luciferase constructs (0.2 µg) were transiently cotransfected with expression vectors for p65 or p65 K310R (1 ng), SIRT1 or SIRT1 P447E (0.2 µg), and Tat (50 ng) into HeLa cells. The mean of three independent experiments (±SEM) is shown.

Figure 2.19. Tat binds to the acetyl lysine-binding site in SIRT1 (A) Coimmunoprecipitation assay of Tat and SIRT1 deletion mutants. Myc-tagged murine SIRT1 deletion mutants (1 μ g) were coexpressed with FLAG-tagged Tat (1 μ g) in 293 cells. Immunoprecipitation was performed with α -FLAG agarose and western blotting with α -Myc and α -FLAG antibodies. (B) Schematic summary of Tat binding to SIRT1 deletion mutants. The relative localization of the human

SIRT1 HDAC domain is shown at the bottom. (C) Schematic representation of the SIRT1 HDAC domain and point mutations. (D) *In vitro* HDAC assays of immunoprecipitated SIRT1 mutants with and without NAD⁺. (E) coimmunoprecipitation of SIRT1 mutants and Tat in 293 cells. Cell extracts were immunoprecipitated with α -T7 agarose followed by western blotting with α -FLAG and α -T7 and antibodies.

Figure 2.20. - Tat inhibits the SIRT1 deacetylase activity (A) *In vitro* HDAC assay of recombinant human SIRT1. SIRT1 was preincubated for 15 min with increasing amounts of synthetic Tat or AcTat proteins. (B) *In vitro* HDAC assay of recombinant SIRT1 and recombinant acetylated p65 protein in the presence of nonacetylated Tat or nicotinamide. Western blotting was performed with α -AcK310 p65 and α -p65 antibodies. (C) T7-tagged p65 (0.5 µg), HA-tagged p300 (2 µg), Myc-tagged SIRT1 (0.1 µg), Tat and Tat K50/51Q mutant (50 ng) were coexpressed in 293 cells as indicated. Immunoprecipitations were performed with α -T7 agarose followed by western blotting with α -AcK310 p65 antibodies. (D) Full-length, untagged p53 (0.5 µg) was overexpressed in 293 cells, immunoprecipitated with α -goat p53 antibody followed by western blotting with α -AcK382 p53 and α -mouse p53 antibodies.

Figure 2.21. - Tat blocks the SIRT1 deacetylase activity and superinduces T-cell activation and HIV transcription via NF κ B. See text for details.

Chapter 3: CXCR4 and Macrophages

3A. Macrophage infection

Paper: Tissue-Resident Macrophages Are Productively Infected *ex vivo* by Primary X4 Isolates of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1

3A.1 Abstract

The infection of macrophages has been implicated as a critical event in the transmission and persistence of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1), and the development of the AIDS dementia complex. Here, we explore whether primary X4 HIV-1 isolates can productively infect tissue macrophages that have terminally differentiated *in vivo*. Using immunohistochemistry, HIV-1 RNA hybridization, and confocal immunofluorescence microscopy, we demonstrate that macrophages residing in human tonsil blocks can be productively infected *ex vivo* by primary X4 HIV-1 isolates. This challenges the model in which macrophage tropism is a key determinant of the selective transmission of R5 HIV-1 strains. The infection of tissue macrophages by X4 HIV-1 viruses may be of high relevance *in vivo* and contribute to key events in HIV-1 pathogenesis.

3A.2 Introduction

The entry of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) into cells is mediated by binding of the gp120 subunit of the envelope (Env) glycoprotein to its main receptor, CD4, on the cell surface. Binding initiates a conformational change in gp120 that allows subsequent interaction with cellular coreceptors, most notably the human chemokine receptors CCR5 and CXCR4 (Kinter 2000). In human cell lines and primary T cells, the expression of CD4 in conjunction with CXCR4 and/or CCR5 typically correlates well with an HIV isolate's ability to productively infect these cells. Most of our current knowledge about HIV-1 infection of macrophages has been inferred from experiments conducted with monocytederived macrophages (MDMs). Cultured MDMs express CD4. CCR5. and CXCR4 on the cell surface, albeit at relatively low levels (Collman 1999). Despite the presence of CXCR4, a number of reports demonstrated that MDMs could be productively infected only by R5 and R5X4 strains, but not by X4 strains (Adachi 1986; Fisher 1985; Gendelman 1988; Schmidtmayerova 1998; Schuitemaker 1991). Based on these observations, it was generally believed that the tropism of an HIV-1 strain for macrophages was directly linked to its ability to utilize CCR5 as a coreceptor. On the basis of an "R5 only" susceptibility of tissue macrophages a model of HIV transmission was proposed in which a strong selection for HIV-1 isolates with CCR5 coreceptor use may occur in vivo during transmission (van't Wout 1994).

In addition to their postulated role as a selective portal of entry, macrophages constitute an important long-term reservoir for HIV-1 in infected individuals

٠

- ·

. • • •

(Orenstein 1997) and may be critical for pathogenesis in the central nervous system (Kaul 2001). Remarkably, in rhesus macaques infected with a simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV)/HIV-1 chimera (SHIV), macrophages sustain a high level of plasma viremia for several months in the virtual absence of CD4 T lymphocytes (Igarashi 2002; Igarashi 2001; Igarashi 2003). In this model, the SHIV DH12R strain, which exclusively uses CXCR4, was shown to infect macrophages *in vivo*.

Recently, the dogma of an absolute restriction of X4 infection in macrophages has been challenged by the identification of primary X4 isolates that can replicate to high levels in MDM cultures (Naif 2002; Verani 1998; Yi 1999). Earlier studies analyzed the susceptibility of MDMs to X4 infection by using prototypic T cell line-adapted (TCLA) strains, including NL4-3, LAI.2, HXB2, and IIIB (Naif 2002; Verani 1998; Yi 1998). In contrast to these TCLA-X4 viruses, primary X4 isolates are not adapted to growth on transformed T cells. These primary isolates have an absolute requirement for CXCR4 as a coreceptor. This was demonstrated by a complete inhibition of infection by CXCR4 receptor antagonists as well as by their ability to replicate efficiently in CCR5-deficient MDMs from patients homozygous for the CCR5 delta 32 allele (Scarlatti 1995; Verani 1998; Yi 1998). To obtain MDM cultures, monocytes are typically purified from human peripheral mononuclear blood cells (PBMC) and differentiated in vitro using a variety of techniques (Collman 1989; Stent 1997; Yi 1999). It is unclear to what extent in vitro cultures of MDMs reflect the characteristics

х. И.

[

. .

> [

1 1

∮ %

!

ξ.

•• • ••

2**1** - 1

of tissue macrophages in general terms and, in particular, in the context of an HIV-1 infection.

In the current study, we investigated whether primary X4 viruses are capable of productively infecting macrophages that are residing within their native tissue. To address this, we conducted HIV-1 infections of explants of human tonsils. These tonsil blocks can be infected independent of exogenous stimuli and harbor a wide variety of cell types including T and B lymphocytes, dendritic cells, stromal cells, as well as macrophages that, importantly, have terminally differentiated *in vivo* (Glushakova 1995; Penn 1999).

3A.3 Materials and Methods

Virus stocks

Virus stocks were prepared as described in Chapter 2D.

Cell preparation

Human tonsil were obtained from Kaiser Hospitals and prepared as described (Schramm 2000).

Virus infections

Virus infections were performed as described in Chapter 2D.

CD3 Immunohistochemistry

Costaining for the CD68 and the T cell marker CD3 (polyclonal rabbit antiserum; 1:20; Diagnostic Biosystems) were performed as for HIV. As secondary and tertiary reagents, sheep anti-mouse IgG3 (1:100; Serotec Ltd.), Cy5-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit (1:100, Jackson Immunotherapy), and Cy2-conjugated donkey anti-sheep antibodies (1:50; Dianova) were used.

HIV Double Immunohistochemistry

After paraffin-embedding, sections from infected tonsil blocks were deparaffinized, hydrated through graded ethanols and briefly incubated in 3% hydrogen peroxide. Following epitope retrieval, sections were stained with an anti-p24 antibody solution (1:10; Kal-1, DAKO) and detected with the Envision (+) DAB Kit (DAKO). Subsequently, anti-CD68 mAb PG-M1 (1:100; DAKO) was applied and detected with the Envision Alkaline Phosphatase (DAKO) using the Vector Red Alkaline Phosphatase Substrate Kit (Vector). Slides were counterstained with hematoxylin. Analyses were performed as described (Autschbach 1999). As the primary antibody reagent, a mixture of anti-p24 mAb Kal-1 and anti-human CD68 mAb PG-M1 was used. Subsequently, sections were incubated with biotinylated goat anti-mouse IgG1 (1:100; Southern Biotech) and sheep anti-mouse IgG3 (1:100; Serotec Ltd.). A final incubation step included Cy3-conjugated streptavidin (1:1000; Dianova) and Cy2-conjugated donkey antisheep antibodies (1:50; Dianova).

3A.4 Results

Primary HIV-1 isolates J130 and UG021 use CXCR4, but not CCR5, as a coreceptor.

The primary isolates J130 and UG021 were reported to replicate in MDM cultures and have been shown to exclusively utilize CXCR4 as a coreceptor for cellular entry (Verani 1998; Yi 1999). To confirm the published coreceptor usage before infection of human tonsil blocks, we performed infection studies with expanded viral stocks on HeLa-H11 cells, which stably express CD4 and CCR5, besides
0.1

expression of endogenous CXCR4 (J.F. Kreisberg, personal communication). As controls, the prototypical TCLA-X4 NL4-3, which exclusively utilizes CXCR4 as a coreceptor, and the R5 molecular clone 49-5, which differs from NL4-3 only in the coreceptor-determining V3 loop region (C2-C3) (Toohey 1995), were used. The R5X4 HIV-1 primary isolate 7/86 served as reference isolate with MDM-tropism (Connor 1997). To selectively manipulate coreceptor accessibility, we used two coreceptor antagonists, TAK-779 and AMD3100, which specifically block the infection of R5 and X4 viruses, respectively. HeLa-H11 cells were infected for two days in the presence or absence of one of these coreceptor antagonists. Subsequently, the percentage of p24-positive cells (mAb KC57-RD1, Coulter) was scored by flow cytometry, and results were plotted relative to untreated infections (Figure 3.1).

As expected, infection with the primary X4 isolates J130 and UG021 was completely inhibited in the presence of the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100, but not TAK779. Confirming the specificity of the inhibitors, this phenotype mirrored that of the prototypic X4 strain, NL4-3. Conversely, the relative percentage of cells infected by the isogenic R5 HIV-1 virus 49-5 was drastically reduced by TAK-779, but not by the CXCR4 antagonist. Neither coreceptor antagonist alone abrogated infection of the dual-tropic primary isolate 7/86 (Figure 3.1). The observation that TAK-779 treatment alone did not have a significant effect likely reflects the ability of this isolate to use CXCR4 more efficiently than CCR5 either in general or, specifically, when CCR5 is blocked. The addition of both coreceptor antagonists completely inhibited infection by 7/86 (data not shown). These results

241 -

demonstrated that the expanded viral stocks of the primary isolates J130 and UG021 utilize CXCR4, but not CCR5, as a functional coreceptor.

Primary X4 viruses efficiently replicate in ex vivo human tonsil histoculture.

To assess the ability of the primary X4 HIV-1 isolates to replicate in human tonsil histocultures *ex vivo*, tissue blocks were infected and maintained in culture for 11 days under standard conditions as described (Eckstein 2001; Jekle 2003; Jekle 2002; Penn 1999; Schramm 2000a). The kinetics of viral replication were followed by determining the p24 concentration in culture supernatants (Figure 3.2) using an anti-p24 enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Reference viruses NL4-3 and 7/86 showed a typical replication kinetic (Jekle 2002) reaching a p24 concentration of approximately 70 ng/ml 11 days after infection. The primary X4 isolates J130 and UG021 displayed a slightly delayed replication kinetic with J130 reaching peak p24 concentrations comparable to NL4-3 and 7/86 (Figure 3.2). These results demonstrated the potential of these primary X4 isolates to efficiently replicate in human tonsil histocultures *ex vivo*. Tissue blocks infected with the individual HIV-1 strains were harvested at day 11, fixed in paraformaldehyde, paraffin-embedded and processed for further analyses.

Primary X4 viruses productively infect CD68-positive tissue macrophages. To determine whether primary X4 isolates can productively infect tissue-resident macrophages, we used immunohistochemistry or confocal immunofluorescence microscopy to identify p24 Gag antigen, which accumulates in productively infected cells during the late phase of the viral replication cycle. We also performed *in situ* hybridization for viral RNA transcripts using an antisense RNA

ت الديني . • المراجع . • المراجع .

probe cocktail that spans 90% of the HIV-1 genome (Ward 2000). To stain macrophages, either mAb PG-M1 to the CD68 antigen (Holness 1993; Micklem 1989; Pulford 1990) or mAb HAM56, which detects an as-yet undefined molecule on macrophages (Adams 1990; Gown 1986), were employed. By using staining of native tissue sections rather than a flow cytometry-based approach, macrophages could also be identified by their typical cytomorphological appearance, including their relative size, single nuclei (to distinguish them from syncytia of CD4 T cells), and pseudopods.

The mock-infected tonsil sections showed an intense brown staining for CD68 of cells with macrophage morphology (Figure 3.3B, C). There was a complete absence of p24 staining (red) in these sections, indicating a very low background for detection of the viral capsid protein. In agreement with the replication data obtained from culture supernatants (Figure 3.2), tonsils infected with all four viruses showed a robust cellular HIV-1 infection level reflected by an intense p24 staining (Figure 3.3D, G, J, M and "p24", red). All viruses showed productive infection of cells of lymphocyte morphology, most likely representing CD4 T cells (Figure 3.3E, F, H, I, L, N), and infection of CD4 T cells was independently demonstrated by multi-color flow cytometry of dispersed tonsil blocks as described (Eckstein 2001; Jekle 2003; Jekle 2002) (data not shown). By this analysis, the percentage of p24-positive CD4 T cells (CD3⁺CD8⁻) was in a similar range for all viruses at day 5-7 ranging from 5-15%. At day 11 post-infection, UG021 and J130 had depleted CD4 T cells by up to 90%, which was comparable to the depletion seen for NL4-3 (data not shown).

Prerana Jayakumar

~

. . . .

For NL4-3, a clear colocalization of immunohistochemical stainings for CD68 (Figure 3.3, "M", brown) and p24 could not be detected (Figure 3.3E, F). This is in line with the absence of convincing data for the a productive NL4-3 infection of MDM cultures under standard cultivation and infection conditions in previous reports (Adachi 1986; Fisher 1985; Gendelman 1988; Schuitemaker 1991). In striking contrast, in tonsils infected with the primary R5X4 isolate 7/86 and with primary X4 HIV-1 isolates J130 and UG021, colocalization of brown staining for CD68-positive macrophages and intense red p24 staining could frequently be detected (Figure 3.3H, I, K, L, N, O; double-positive cells indicated by black arrows). These results strongly suggested the productive infection of tissue-resident macrophages in *ex vivo* tonsil histocultures by primary X4 viruses.

HIV-1 RNA in situ hybridization in conjunction with CD68 immunohistochemistry. As an independent confirmation, sections from infected tonsil blocks were analyzed by HIV-1 RNA *in situ* hybridization (Fox 1993; Fox 1993a; Ward 2000) in conjunction with an immunohistochemical identification of macrophages. In mock-infected tissues no specific hybridization signal for viral RNA transcripts could be seen, indicating a low level of nonspecific hybridization (Figure 3.4A, B). Sections from tonsils infected with NL4-3 hybridized strongly with the HIV-1 RNA probe (Figure 3.4C, D). However, there was no colocalization of the hybridization signal and CD68 staining. In contrast, sections infected with the primary R5X4 (7/86) and the two primary X4 isolates (J130, UG021) revealed intense HIV-1 RNA *in situ* hybridization signals also in CD68-positive macrophages (Figure 3.4F, G, H, I, J, double-positive cells indicated by black arrows). These results

11

ſ

5

i -

F

f I

{

- .

٤

٠*.*

2

25 - 2010

support the results obtained by double-immunohistochemistry that, like 7/86, primary X4 isolates can productively infect tissue macrophages in human tonsils. *Detection and quantification of productively infected tissue macrophages using confocal double-immunofluorescence microscopy.* We then sought to corroborate the productive infection of tissue-resident macrophages by primary X4 isolates and to quantify their abundance. We stained p24 and CD68 by indirect double-immunofluorescence, which allowed for a rapid and more unambiguous identification and quantification of productively infected tissue macrophages upon examination of individual fluorochrome images as well as merged images (Figure 3.5).

For both primary X4 isolates, a significant number of macrophages showed a strong p24 staining (Figure 3.5A-C, D-F, indicated by arrows), reflected by a yellow image in merged pictures. As specificity controls, uninfected sections showed a low background staining for p24 (data not shown), and p24-negative macrophages as well as p24-positive, CD68-negative cells of lymphocyte morphology could frequently be detected in sections from infected tonsils (Figure 3.5). For infections with J130 and UG021 in tonsils from two donors, the frequency of p24-and CD68-double positive macrophages was considerable, ranging from 9.4 to 12.1%. Remarkably, this percentage was in the same range as determined for the primary R5X4 virus 7/86 (12.2–12.5%), but higher than that previously reported for the R5 molecular clone 49-5 (6%, Grivel 2000). The NL4-3-infected tissue showed a large number of p24-positive lymphocytes, since they did not colocalize with the CD68 macrophage marker. Upon careful examination,

2.3

three macrophages in the field of view shown in Figure 3.5 were scored positive (Figure 3.5G-I, indicated by arrows and insets) on grounds of a cytoplasmic staining for p24, albeit at low intensity. In contrast to the primary X4 isolates, strongly p24-positive macrophages could only very rarely (less than 0.5%) be detected in the context of an NL4-3 infection. At this point it is unclear whether this level of p24 staining reflects endocytosed virions or, indeed, represents a low level of productive infection of tissue macrophages by NL4-3.

Based on this evaluation, the frequency of p24-positive macrophages was at least 3- to 4-fold higher for the primary X4 isolates, compared to the TCLA-X4. Although we did not address the kinetics of macrophage infection, this percentage probably reflects the cumulative number of macrophage infections over the entire time course since HIV-mediated cytopathology of this cell type is believed to be limited and the half-life of infected macrophages has been estimated to be nearly two weeks (Perelson 1996).

Macrophages in infected tonsil tissue are CD3-negative. To address whether the colocalization of HIV-1 p24 and CD68 could, in part, be due to phagocytosis of infected CD4 T cells or T cell-macrophage fusion events, we performed a costaining for the CD68 and the T cell marker.

In contrast to the p24 staining (Figure 3.5, middle row), CD3 staining showed virtually no colocalisation with CD68 staining in any of the HIV-infected sections or the uninfected control (Figure 3.6). A very rare event of a CD3 signal within a CD68-positive macrophage is highlighted in panel I, possibly reflecting the presence of T-cell membrane fragments within a phagosome. However, the

7

P

ŧ

:: · · ·

subcellular localization of this signal was quite different from p24 signals detected both by immunohistochemistry (Figure 3.3) and confocal immunofluorescence microscopy (Figure 3.5). As a specificity control, the CD3 antiserum strongly stained cells of lymphocyte morphology in the tissue surrounding the macrophages. This indicates that the considerable level (up to 12%) of strongly p24-positive macrophages in primary X4-infected tonsil histocultures are probably not a consequence of engulfment of infected T cells or fusion events with T cells, but further supports the interpretation that these macrophages are productively infected by HIV-1.

3A.5 Discussion

The current study establishes the quantitative nature and specificity of the productive infection of tissue macrophages by primary HIV-1 isolates that exclusively utilize the CXCR4 coreceptor, in *ex vivo* tonsil histocultures. This HIV-1 model system provided a convenient experimental platform for the analysis of macrophages that have differentiated *in vivo* and are embedded within a natural tissue microarchitecture, complex cellular environment, and unaltered cytokine milieu. The productive infection of macrophages was demonstrated using several independent approaches.

The ability of certain primary X4 viruses and relative inability of prototypic TCLA-X4 viruses to productively infect cells from the monocyte/macrophage lineage was previously found in *in vitro* MDM cultures (Grivel 2000; Schmidtmayerova 1998; Verani 1998; Yi 1999) and is now shown for tissue-resident macrophages. In line with the recently proposed extension of the tropism classification of HIV-1

isolates addressing both target cell permissivity and coreceptor usage (Yi 1999), the primary isolates J130 and UG021 can be classified as X4 dual-tropic based on their *in vitro* coreceptor usage and their *ex vivo* cytotropism with concurrent infection of primary CD4 T cells and tissue macrophages in tonsil histocultures. The productive infection of macrophages may be a relatively common (Simmons 1998; Verani 1998; Yi 1999), although not a universal (Connor 1996; Rana 1997), feature of primary X4 isolates. This suggests that determinants other than macrophage tropism must be underlying the central role of R5 variants in HIV-1 transmission. According to our results, a model proposing an *in vivo* selection for R5 strains based on a postulated exclusive macrophage-tropism appears unlikely. This is also supported by studies that identified CD4 T cells as the only SIV- or HIV-infected cell type during primary infection (Schacker 2001; Zhang 1999).

Other investigators have addressed the molecular basis underlying the distinct MDM tropism of TCLA-X4 viruses as compared to primary X4 isolates. One important restriction lies at the level of cellular entry, related to the relatively low expression levels of CXCR4 and CD4 (Lapham 1999; Tokunaga 2001; Yi 1998), the lower affinity of TCLA-Env for the HIV receptor complex (Xiao 2000b), or the presence of specific forms of CXCR4 on MDM (Lapham 1999). Additional blocks appear to exist at post-entry steps in the replication cycle. In particular, signaling events mediated by the viral Env (Liu 2000), chemokines (Arthos 2000), or bacterial lipopolysaccharides (Moriuchi 1998) have been implicated.

Taken together, our data demonstrate that primary X4 isolates productively

-

n e Soor fr

.

infect a considerable fraction of macrophages residing within human lymphoid tissue. This shows that macrophage tropism is not an exclusive characteristic of R5 or R5X4 viruses and reemphasizes the question of which factors, other than coreceptor usage and macrophage tropism, determine the selective transmission of R5 strains *in vivo*.

+ -

а с •

3A.6 Acknowledgments

We thank Drs. Warner Greene and Hans-Georg Kräusslich for encouragement and support. We thank the members of the surgical staff at Kaiser Hospitals (San Rafael, San Francisco, and South San Francisco) for generous assistance in obtaining posttonsillectomy samples. Special thanks to John Carroll, Jack Hull, Chris Goodfellow, Stephen Ordway, and Garry Howard for their assistance in the preparation of this manuscript. We are grateful to Drs. Cecil Fox and Roland Penzel for excellent technical assistance and Dr. Andreas Jekle, Jason Kreisberg, Dr. Marielle Cavrois, Dr. Christian Callebaut, Peggy Chin, Ann-Marie Roy, Drs. Lauren Eckstein, Nico Michel, and Oliver Fackler for valuable discussions. This work was supported by NIH grants (CA86814 and Al43695) to M.A.G., by the J. David Gladstone Institutes, and the University of Heidelberg. P.J. is a graduate student in the Biomedical Sciences Program at the University of California, San Francisco.

3D.7 Figure Legends

Figure. 3.1 - Primary X4 viruses UG021 and J130 do not use CCR5 as a coreceptor and require CXCR4 for infection. HeLa CD4/CCR5 cells (HeLa-H11) were infected with two primary X4 isolates (UG021, J130), the TCLA-X4 virus NL4-3, R5 virus 49-5, or the R5X4 primary isolate 7/86. Infected wells were either left untreated (open bars), treated with the CCR5 antagonist TAK-779 (0.5 μ M, hatched bars), or with the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 (1 μ M, closed bars) 30 min prior to viral challenge and throughout the course of infection. Two days post-infection the percentage of HIV-infected cells was scored by intracellular p24 staining and FACS analysis. Values are arithmetic means + S.D. (n=3) and are presented as relative percentages of untreated infections.

Figure. 3.2 - Primary X4 viruses replicate in *ex vivo* human tonsil histocultures. Tissue blocks were infected with 80 TCID₅₀ doses per tissue block and culture supernatants collected at the indicated time points. Arithmetic means of duplicate samples from a representative donor (T190) are shown.

Figure. 3.3 - Primary X4 isolates UG021 and J130, but not the TCLA-X4 strain NL4-3, productively infect tissue macrophages in human tonsil histocultures. Tonsil blocks were either mock-infected or infected with 80 TCID₅₀ of either NL4-3, 7/86, J130, or UG021. At day 11 post-challenge, tissue blocks (6-12 blocks per donor) were harvested. Sections were costained for the p24 antigen (red staining) and the macrophage marker CD68 (brown staining). Cells showing red staining only, representing p24 staining, are labeled "p24". Cells showing a brown staining only, representing CD68 macrophage marker staining, are labeled "M".

Double-labeled cells are highlighted by black arrows. Magnifications: Left micrograph column 20X, middle and right micrograph column 63X (b, 20X). a, H&E stain.

Figure. 3.4 - Tissue-resident macrophages in tonsils histocultures infected with primary X4 isolates are HIV-1 RNA positive. Tonsil blocks were infected and processed as described for Figure 3. Viral infection was detected by HIV-1 RNA *in situ* hybridization (Ward 2000). In parallel, CD68-positive macrophages were identified with mAb HAM56 and an immunohistochemical staining reaction (brown staining). HIV-1 RNA/CD68-double positive macrophages are highlighted by black arrows. Magnifications: Left column 20X, right column 63X.

Figure. 3.5 - Confocal double-immunofluorescence microscopy allows determination of frequency of infected tissue macrophages. Productive HIV-1 infection was detected by staining with the anti-p24 mAb Kal-1, CD68-positive macrophages were detected using mAb PG-M1. Quantitative analysis of macrophage infection was based on evaluation of individual fluorochrome images as well as the digital merge by a pathologist (I.B.). Slides were viewed with a Laserscan microscope (Leica spectral confocal microscope TCS-SL). Magnification 20X.

Figure. 3.6 - Markers for T cells and macrophages do not colocalize in infected tonsil histocultures. The CD3 antigen was detected using a rabbit polyclonal antiserum, CD68-positive macrophages using mAb PG-M1. Confocal digital images for Cy2 and Cy5 were acquired independently. Cy5 images are

presented in red to allow better assessment of merged pictures. Images were evaluated by a pathologist (F.A.). Magnification 63X.

ية. 1977 - حوالية يهيد الاقتر المعارية. 1971 - قالية المعارية.

- - ·

3B. Glycosylation

Prerana Jayakumar, Oliver Keppler, Becky Schweighardt, and Mark Goldsmith

3B.1 Abstract

Glycosylation comprises half the weight of the HIV-1 envelope and is responsible in part for viral immune evasion from antibodies. However, this advantage comes at the cost of permitting less efficient access of viral envelope proteins to host proteins. This effect may be pronounced in cells where the stoichiometry of viral coreceptor or receptors is crucial for efficient entry, such as in macrophages, which express low levels of CXCR4. We noted that viruses that use CXCR4 for entry into macrophages tend to lack specific V1-V3 glycosylation sites and studied whether deglycosylation of these residues results in macrophage entry. We found that deglycosylation alone was not sufficient for macrophage entry. However, all the viruses analyzed which use solely CXCR4 for macrophage entry lack a V1-V3 glycosylation site and have an intermediate V3 charge, indicating a possible recognition motif for dual-tropic X4 viruses.

3B.2 Introduction

The HIV envelope proteins are heavily glycosylated. Nearly 50% of the weight of the 120kD envelope protein is due to glycosylation moieties, all of which are N-glycosyl groups. These mannose-rich oligosaccharide groups are co-translationally added by enzymes in the rough endoplasmic reticulum.

The process of N-glycosylation begins cotranslationally. As the approximately 850-residue protein is translated from spliced RNA (Earl 1990; Coffin 1997), the envelope binds to a signal recognition particle and is transferred to the

endoplasmic reticulum (ER). In the ER, the protein's signal peptide is cleaved, and the envelope forms a trimer (Lu 1995). The enzyme oligosaccharyl transferase adds a glucose₃-mannose₉-*N*-acetylglucosamine₂ (a 14-sugar precursor) to the asparagine groups on the growing protein, transferring it from a dolichol lipid intermediate. The consensus site for glycosylation requires an Asparagine (N) residue, followed by a non-proline residue and a serine or threonine (NXS/T). The standard HIV envelope sequence contains 24 sites for Nlinked glycosylation in gp120 (88, 136, 141, 156, 160, 186, 197, 230, 234, 241, 262, 276, 289, 295, 301, 332, 339, 356, 386, 392, 397, 406, 448, and 463). There are seven glycosylation sites in gp41 (611, 616, 624, 637, 674, 750, and 816). Of these 31 glycosylation sites, not all are always glycosylated (Alberts 2002; Coffin 1997).

The 14-sugar carbohydrates are then processed in the ER and Golgi to create the complete N-glycan. In the ER, the three glucose residues and one mannose are removed on each sugar, and the envelope oligomerizes and must be folded correctly. The envelope is exported to the Golgi, where further mannose residues may be removed, usually three. In the Golgi, further N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNac) residues, usually one, are added, and typically two more mannose residues are removed. Finally, in the trans-Golgi, two types of complete N-glycans may be produced: high mannose, which contain 5 or more mannose groups, or complex oligosaccharides, which may contain other sugar groups in addition to mannose, such as galactose, GlcNac, *N*-acetylgalactosamine, fucose and sialic acid (Figure 3.7). HIV envelope contains 11 high-mannose



Prerana Jayakumar

oligosaccharides and 13 complex oligosaccharides. Because complex carbohydrates are more modified than high-mannose forms, complex glycosylation occurs to a greater extent on the surface of the protein, whereas high-mannose glycosylation occurs in relatively inaccessible regions of the envelope. In addition, gp120 has an immunologically "silent" face that is heavily glycosylated (and likely accessible). The other regions of the protein may be inaccessible due to their role in trimer or oligomer interactions.

Glycosylation plays several roles in HIV pathogenesis. Glycosylation of the envelope provides protection from host neutralizing antibodies, rendering them completely ineffective (reviewed in Hunter 1990). Several anti-HIV antibodies, including the b12 antibody known to be neutralizing, are ineffective due to the occlusion of their native antigens by glycosylation. It is thought that glycosylation is the primary reason for the failure of the humoral response to HIV.

Glycosylation also provides protection from cellular or extracellular proteases that might degrade the envelope and reduce infectivity. It may further stabilize the virion envelope, preventing envelope shedding. In this regard, it has been reported that X4 envelopes may be more susceptible to envelope shedding.

Glycosylation may also be necessary for proper folding and assembly of the HIV envelope. Viruses produced in the absence of glycosylation (in insect cells, for example) or in the presence of a glycosylation inhibitor like tunicamycin (which inhibits dolichol) are unable to bind CD4 and are likely incorrectly folded. In contrast, *in vitro* deglycosylation of fully folded and processed envelope proteins leads to no decrease in receptor binding (Fenouillet 1989; Li 1993).

Prerana Jayakumar

On the contrary, glycosylation may also prevent binding of the envelope to its receptor or coreceptor. In this regard, it has been found that glycosylation of envelope may occlude the CD4 binding site. Glycosylation could also affect infectivity negatively in other ways. Saifuddin et al. have reported that the 11 high-mannose group-containing N-glycosylation sites on gp120 may bind more efficiently to cell-surface mannose binding lectins (MBLs), which play a role in complement-mediated opsonization and phagocytosis (Saifuddin 2000). These high-mannose residues are crucial for entry, as demonstrated by the fact that deoxynojirimycin, which inhibits the glucosidase I that produces high-mannose residues. is necessary for HIV syncytium formation. In contrast. deoxymannoiirimycin, an inhibitor of alpha-mannosidase I and of complex oligosaccharides, had no effect (Gruters 1987; Montefiori 1988; Pal 1989).

Glycosylation is also thought to play a role in HIV coreceptor tropism. It has been shown that two N-glycosylated residues in gp120, when mutated, confer CD4-independent entry to the X4 isolate m7NDK (Dumonceaux 1998). CXCR4 viruses also tend to have a smaller number of glycosylation sites than do R5 viruses (http://www.aids.harvard.edu/conferences_events/2004/world_aids_04_present/4 _Chakabva.pdf and our observations). This suggests that CXCR4 viruses may be more susceptible to antibody-mediated neutralization, and therefore less likely to be selected early in infection. Also, specific sites (along with V3 charge) in the V3 variable regions are associated with CXCR4 tropism (Clevestig 2006; Polzer 2002; reviewed in Dong 2005). In particular, a glycosylation site (g15) within the V3 region of gp120 has been shown to confer increased infectivity to X4 viruses

and in some cases, to confer CXCR4 usage on otherwise R5 viruses. Two other sites immediately outside the V3 region (here called g13 and g17) have also been implicated in coreceptor usage (Polzer 2002).

CXCR4 is traditionally associated with T cell infection, but recent studies have shown that macrophages are also susceptible to CXCR4 infection (Collman, Jayakumar). These X4 macrophage-tropic viruses (dualtropic X4) are associated with lower CD4 counts.



3B.3 Materials and Methods

Virus stocks

Viruses were obtained and prepared as in Chapter 2D. Glycosylation-deficient viruses were a gift of Michael Schreiber (Bernhard Nocht Institute for Tropical Medicine, Hamburg, Germany) and were produced by calcium phosphate transfection of 293T cells.

Virus infections

Infections were performed as described in Chapter 2D.

Cells

Macrophages were isolated and prepared as described in Chapter 2D. Cells were replated into 24-well dishes for further studies and infections. HeLa CD4/CCR5 cells were a gift of Warner Greene. GHOST CD4, CD4/CCR5, and CD4/CXCR4 cells were obtained from the NIH AIDS Reagent and Reference Program.

Sequence Analysis

Sequences obtained from the HIV sequence database (http://hiv-web.lanl.gov) were aligned using Multalign. The sequence of tybe was determined by sequencing using T7 and M3 primers. Glycosylation sites were determined by the consensus NXT or NXS, where X is not P. V3 charge was determined for the V3 region only using the calculation (R+K)-(D+E) (i.e., the number of positively charged residues minus the number of negatively charged residues).

3B.4 Results

We sought to determine the genetic determinants of X4 macrophage tropism in a panel of viruses previously shown to infect monocyte-derived macrophages (Jayakumar 2005; Collman 1989). We obtained these primary virus isolates and cultured them on PBMCs for no more than a week to produce viral stocks. We quantified the viruses by p24 ELISA and TCID50 on activated human PBMCs. Viral stocks were normalized, frozen and thawed once for subsequent analysis. To ensure that these viruses were all replication competent, we infected HeLa CD4-CCR5 cells with equal 50% tissue culture infectious doses (TCID50s) of the X4-lab strain NL4-3, R5-lab strain 49-5, X4/R5-dualtropic 89.6, and our X4-dualtropic viruses. The viruses used were UG024, UG021, (subtype D), J130, J34, and tybe (subtype B).

We also used three mutants of NL4-3. These mutants are lacking in one, two, or three glycosylation sites. As shown in Figure 3.8, X4-dualtropic viruses were able to infect HeLa CD4-CCR5 cells and result in robust infection kinetics, similar to lab-adapted strains and other primary isolates.

To ensure that these viruses also were not altered in their tropism, we measured coreceptor usage on GHOST cells that were stably transduced with CD4 only (GHOST CD4), CD4 and CXCR4 (GHOST X4), or CD4 and CCR5 (GHOST R5). GHOST cells express a low level of CXCR4 on their cell surface. These cells contain an LTR-driven GFP reporter construct. Upon viral entry, reverse transcription, integration, and transcription, infected cells will express GFP. As shown in Figure 3.9, the X4 lab-adapted strain NL4-3 was unable to infect

GHOST CD4 or GHOST CCR5 (not shown) cells. In agreement with NL4-3's

1999 - 19

CXCR4 usage, it was only able to infect GHOST X4 cells (data not shown). Similarly, 49-5 infected only GHOST CCR5 cells (data not shown). In contrast, all of the glycosylation mutants (g15, g15/17, and g13/15/17) were able to infect the low-CXCR4 GHOST-CD4 cells. Similarly, UG021, UG024, and tybe were also able to infect GHOST-CD4 cells. None of these viruses is able to infect cells that do not express CD4 (e.g. 293T cells, data not shown).

These results indicate that loss of glycosylation in the V3 and surrounding regions of NL4-3 can lead to improved sensitivity to CXCR4. Furthermore, these results suggest that like the glycosylation mutants, some viruses that use CXCR4 to enter macrophages also are more sensitive to CXCR4. This is supported by studies that show that artificial introduction of increased CXCR4 in macrophages supports NL4-3 infection of macrophages (Tokunaga 2001).

The correlation between macrophage-tropic X4 viruses and glycosylation mutants suggested that the NL4-3 mutants might be able to infect monocytederived macrophages. Therefore, we produced concentrated stocks of viruses expressing the envelope protein of these mutants along with a NL4-3 based replication-incompetent luciferase virus. However, none of the mutants was able to significantly infect macrophages. Concentrated stocks of replication-competent viruses also demonstrated no infection (Figure 3.10).

Therefore, we speculated that macrophage infection by X4 viruses might involve glycosylation in addition to other envelope sequence changes or V3 charge. We analyzed the sequences of a number of viruses, including our X4-dualtropic viruses, as shown in Table 3.1.

Prerana Jayakumar

As shown, the three X4-dualtropic viruses we tested (UG021, UG024, and tybe) had lower V3 charges compared to X4 T-tropic viruses, but had higher charges than R5 viruses, indicating an intermediate charge between these virus types may be responsible for macrophage tropism of X4 viruses. These X4-dualtropic viruses also demonstrated loss of glycosylation sites g13, 15 and/or 17.



3B.5 Discussion

We have shown that dual-tropic X4 viruses replicate efficiently and can more efficiently use lower levels of CXCR4. These viruses lack several key V3 glycosylation sites. However, glycosylation alone is not sufficient for macrophage entry, as glycosylation-deficient viruses do not infect macrophages. We suggest that a combination of lower V3 charge and glycosylation changes in the V1-V3 region contribute to macrophage infection by X4 viruses.

In our sequence analysis, several other X4-dualtropic viruses also showed loss of glycosylation. However, R5X4 dualtropic viruses did not appear to follow this trend. The dualtropic virus 89.6 did not show any loss of glycosylation, and does have a slightly high V3 charge (+7), and has been shown to infect macrophages in the absence of CCR5. Furthermore, the R5X4 dualtropic virus DH12, also shown able to infect macrophages through CXCR4, has a high V3 charge, though it does lack g15. Several R5 viruses also lack glycosylation sites, though the role of these changes on R5 tropism is unknown. A few X4 viruses reported to infect only T cells also lacked glycosylation sites. The ability of some of these viruses to infect macrophages is unknown, possibly explaining their X4-T cell tropic classification.

A recent study has further elucidated the determinants of macrophage tropism, suggesting that not only V3 charge and glycosylation, but also certain amino acid changes in V3, V5 and V1V2, play a role in macrophage tropism. Specifically, a methionine or leucine to isoleucine at position 326 in V3 (previous to g17) is necessary, along with cysteine or proline in V1 and charged residues in V2.

(Ghaffari 2005). In UG021, UG024, and tybe, this residue is indeed an isoleucine. These viruses were also more sensitive to the CXCR4 inhibitor AMD3100 (data not shown).

The authors found no correlation of envelope glycosylation with macrophage tropism by X4 viruses, but a study of the envelope sequences indicates that the two viruses studied contain altered glycosylation sites. D01 lacks g13 and has a shifted g17, whereas D02 lacks g15. The net V3 charge of these viruses is 5, an intermediate charge. This suggests that a combination of V3 charge and glycosylation may indeed play a role in macrophage tropism of X4 viruses.



.~

3B.6 Acknowledgments

We thank Jason Kreisberg, Marielle Cavrois, and Wes Yonemoto for critical discussion. Technical assistance was provided by Duncan Mieklejohn.

3B.7 Figure Legends

Figure 3.7 – The mammalian N-glycosylation pathway.

Figure 3.8 – X4 dualtropic viruses NL4-3 (A) and glycosylation mutants (B) infect HeLa CD4-CCR5 cells. Cells were infected with equal p24 of virus, washed after 12 hours, and supernatant p24 was measured by ELISA at the indicated timepoints. Results are the mean of triplicate experiments.

Figure 3.9 – X4 dualtropic viruses and glycosylation mutants infect GHOST-CD4 cells. Equal titers of various viruses were used to infect GHOST-CD4 cells. The percent GFP+ cells was determined by flow cytometry and is the result of triplicate experiments.

Figure 3.10 – Glycosylation mutants fail to infect monocyte-derived macrophages. Equal p24 (MOI 0.01) of glycosylation mutants g15, g15/17, g13/15/17 was used to infect human monocyte-derived macrophages. Cell supernatants were collected after 3 or 5 days and p24 was measured by ELISA.

Chapter 4: Tat and microarrays

4A. Microarray studies

Prerana Jayakumar, Peter Henklein, Melanie Ott, and Eric Verdin

4A.1 Abstract

The HIV-1 Tat protein is a transcriptional activator of the HIV promoter. Tat also regulates the level of activation of immune T cells (Ott 1997). We have analyzed the expression of 21,000 human genes using oligonucleotide microarrays in response to Tat expression. Two splice variants of Tat, Tat72 or Tat101, and the green fluorescent protein (GFP) were expressed from a bicistronic mRNA under the control of the HIV promoter using an HIV-based retroviral vector in Jurkat cells. A total of 68 genes were significantly upregulated greater than 2-fold by Tat72 or Tat101. Among the upregulated genes was Tsg101, a protein recently implicated in the budding of HIV.

ر الم الم الم الم

4A.2 Introduction

We have studied the effects of both endogenous and extracellular Tat on T cell activation and cellular transcription. The interaction of Tat with cellular factors has also been a major focus of study. In order to carry out studies of endogenous viral Tat expression, systems to express Tat from retroviral vectors have been established. The tat 101 and tat 72 open reading frames were cloned into an HIV retroviral vector under the control of the HIV LTR, followed by an internal ribosome entry site (IRES) and green fluorescent protein (GFP). These genomic vectors can be packaged using a retroviral packaging vector expressing the gag and *pol* genes of HIV. The virus is pseudotyped with the envelope of vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV G protein). Resulting viral particles can infect cells of many types to high levels (>90%) in a single cycle of infection and exhibit green fluorescence (GFP expression) as a marker of Tat expression. Viral titers can be quantified both by the expression of the viral gag/p24 protein as well as by the rate of GFP expression upon infection of target cells as analyzed by flow cytometry.

Such viruses are produced by transfecting 293T cells with genomic vectors, the packaging vector, and the envelope plasmid. We have titered these virus stocks on Jurkat T cells to determine the kinetics of infection and ensure the infectivity of the viruses (Figure 4.1). Infections are carried out with increasing quantities of viral supernatant. The minimal amount of p24 antigen necessary to get maximal infection within 48 hours was quantified and used for subsequent experiments.

4A.3 Materials and Methods

Extracellular Tat

Synthetic Tat protein was isolated as described (Dorr 2002). Clone A2 and A72 were cultured and created as described (Jordan 2003). Cells were cultured in complete RPMI and treated with the indicated concentrations of synthetic Tat72 for 24 hours before flow cytometry analysis.

Virus preparation

Viruses were prepared as described in Chapter 2D.

Virus infection

Cells were infected as described in Chapter 2D.

Cells

Jurkat and 293T cells were cultured under standard tissue culture conditions. A common stock of Jurkat cells was obtained, frozen once, and freshly thawed (at most one month in culture) cells were used for all experiments. Cells were cultured in RPMI (Gibco) containing 1% penicillin-streptomycin and 1% L-glutamine (both Gibco). Uninfected Jurkat and 293T cells were treated similarly to infected cells in all experiments.

Flow cytometry

Cells were suspended in phosphate-buffered saline containing 2% fetal bovine serum. Flow cytometry was performed on a FACSCalibur (BD Biosciences), acquired with CellQuest software, and analyzed using FlowJo (www.flowjo.com).

RNA preparation and isolation

RNA was prepared as described in Chapter 5.

Microarray analysis

Microarrays were performed and analyzed as described in Chapter 5.



4A.4 Results

We infected Jurkat T cells with these viruses and determined GFP expression. As shown in Figure 4.2B, Jurkat cells infected with these viruses expressed Tat. Tat101 was expressed at a greater level than Tat72, likely due to improved stability. We then measured GFP levels on infected cells. All the infections resulted in 90% GFP+ cells. Only viruses expressing Tat were able to activate viral GFP expression to a detectable level (Figure 4.2C).

Furthermore, we have used a purified preparation of synthetic Tat as a source of extracellular Tat. Added to Jurkat cells, this Tat preparation can activate the HIV LTR at concentrations ranging from 6.25-100ug/ml (Figure 4.3).

We used Jurkat cells infected for 48 hours for further microarray studies. The strategy of microarray comparison is outlined in Figure 4.4. The microarray preparation method is outlined in Figure 4.5.

Microarray studies resulted in the identification of a number of genes, shown in Table 4.1 and 4.2. Tat101 resulted in the increase of a larger number of genes than Tat72. Virus infection alone resulted in the increase of a number of genes, as expected. However, none of these genes was uniquely upregulated by the GFP virus alone.

4A.5 Discussion

We have performed microarray studies on Jurkat T cells using printed microarrays. Our microarray experiments were performed in Jurkat cells, which are a CD4+ T cell line, representative of the population of cells that is a target of HIV infections. Although these cells are not primary cell cultures, they are

untransformed (Schneider 1977). However, the non-clonal and pseudodiploid nature of these cells may make them different from primary cells in several regards. Nevertheless, Jurkat cells are well-studied, easy to infect, and provide sufficient material for microarray analysis.

Our results indicate that Tat72 and Tat101 have important differences in their ability to activate cellular genes. The fact that only a 29 amino acid difference can lead to profound changes in cellular transcriptional profiles may indicate that the heretofore relatively uncharacterized second exon of Tat has unknown functions. Mutation of the RGD (integrin-binding) motif in Tat101 will be necessary to determine whether activation of these genes requires integrin-binding or cellular adhesion. Further study is necessary to verify additional individual genes and to replicate the induction of these genes by Tat in primary lymphocytes and other cell types, including macrophages.

ч - с Ч - ст. **с**ај

4A.6 Acknowledgments

We thank Chris Barker and Yanxia Hao at the Gladstone Genomics Core, Tanuja Goulet, Jay Sandler, Madeleine Rodriguez, Andrea Barczak, and David Erle at the Sandler Center for Functional Genomics, and Herb Kasler for microarray studies, reagents, and technical expertise. We acknowledge the assistance of John Carroll for graphic design, and Melanie Ott for discussion and advice.

4A.7 Figure Legends

Figure 4.1 – Schematic of virus preparation. Viruses were prepared by calcium phosphate transfection of 293T cells, and supernatants were quantified for p24. Viruses were used to spin infect Jurkat T cells, which were subsequently used in flow cytometry (to determine infection kinetics) or microarray studies.

Figure 4.2 – Expression of Tat and GFP in infected Jurkat cells. (A) LTR-Tat-IRES-GFP constructs used. Constructs without Tat, with Tat72, and with Tat101 were used. (B) Tat expression by Western blot. Lysates were harvested after 48 hours and boiled in Laemmli buffer, and run on a 15% polyacrylamide gel. Rabbit anti-flag (Tat) and mouse anti-tubulin alpha primary antibodies were used. (C) GFP mean fluorescence intensity. After infection, an aliquot of cells was harvested at the indicated time points and GFP was measured by flow cytometry. Results are the average of triplicate experiments (±SEM).

Figure 4.3 – Activation of the LTR by extracellular Tat. Jurkat latent clone A72 (Jordan 2003) was treated with the indicated concentrations of synthetic Tat protein. After 24 hours, cells were analyzed by flow cytometry.

•

.

Figure 4.4 – Strategy of microarray comparison. All samples were individually compared with uninfected cells, which were mock-infected by spinning with DMEM media, HEPES, and polybrene.

Figure 4.5 – Microarray preparation. Total RNA isolated from cells is reverse transcribed into amino-allyl cDNA, followed by labeling with Cy3 or Cy5 dyes, and competitive hybridization on a 20,000 gene microarray slide.

Prerana Jayakumar

4B. Tat and CXCR4

Paper: Tat expression in T cells leads to increased CXCR4 expression and increased chemotaxis to SDF-1

4B.1 Abstract

Using DNA microarrays, we identified the HIV coreceptor, CXCR4 as a cellular gene that is reproducibly activated by Tat72 and Tat101, both at the RNA and protein levels (by flow cytometry). At a functional level, this increase in CXCR4 expression is paralleled by an increase in the chemotaxis of cells that express Tat to SDF-1, the CXCR4 ligand. Using GPF expression as a marker for cells expressing Tat, we also observed that CXCR4 expression and increased chemotaxis only occurred in Tat-expressing cells, excluding a cell non-autonomous role for Tat. Using a CXCR4 promoter reporter construct, we also observed that Tat72 and Tat101 wild-type, but not the mutants K41A and C22G, activated the CXCR4 promoter. The part of the CXCR4 promoter necessary for Tat activation is restricted to between -600 and -357 from the transcriptional start site. The results indicate that Tat alters chemokine receptor expression and activity and could modulate the homing of infected cells in vivo.

4B.2 Introduction

The Tat protein of human immunodeficiency virus type I (HIV-1) is a potent transactivator of HIV-1 transcription. Tat binds to the Tat-responsive element TAR, an RNA stem loop structure, to recruit cellular factors that in turn activate RNA polymerase II to allow for processive transcriptional elongation.

The role of Tat is not limited to the HIV-1 promoter. Several studies have examined the role of Tat in activation of other promoters. In T-cells, Tat has been demonstrated to induce the secretion of cytokines such as IL-2 and IL-8 (Ott 1996), by activation of a CD28-responsive element (IL-2) or NF- κ B (IL-8). Tat also activates NF-kB directly, potentially by binding to unknown sites in the NFκB promoter. In basophils, Tat stimulates the release of TH2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 (Marone 2001), and IL-1 in endothelial cells (Lee 2004). In dendritic cells, by contrast, Tat induces a TH1 response, including secretion of TNF α and IL-12 (Fanales-Belasio 2002). In astrocytes (Kutsch 2000), Tat induces secretion of interferon-responsive genes including the chemokines IP-10, HuMIG, MCP2, and MCP3, as well as RANTES (EI-Hage 2005). In astrocytes, macrophages, glia, and in Kaposi's sarcoma, Tat upregulates MCP-1 (Conant 1998, Kelly 1998, Mengozzi 1999, McManus 2000), resulting in cellular migration (Weiss 1999). This upregulation is at the transcriptional level, and Tat acts by activating the TGF-beta pathway and increasing the binding of Smad, SP1, NF- κ B, and AP-1 transcription factors to the MCP-1 promoter (Lim 2000; Abraham 2003). Tat also induces VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 adhesion molecules as well as IL-6 in Kaposi's sarcoma (Kelly 1998). In epithelial cells, Tat upregulates CXCR4, CCR3, SDF-1,

1. . . .

RANTES, IL-6, TGF β , BMP-1, BMP-2, L-10, IL-19, and IL-20 (Bettaccini 2005). Other studies have shown Tat induction of other signaling molecules and transcription factors.

Tat has also been shown to upregulate the expression of chemokine receptors. Recombinant Tat72 upregulates CCR5 and CCR3 on macrophages (but not lymphocytes) (Huang 1998). At the blood brain barrier, Tat upregulates CCR1 and CCR3 (Shaw 1999), and activates secretion of CCL2, CXCL8, CXCL10, CCL3, CCL4, and CCL5 in microglia (D'Aversa 2004).

Tat has further been shown to downregulate the beta chemokine MIP1 alpha, a ligand of CCR5. Other studies have shown upregulation of MIP1 alpha and beta in glia and lymphocytes (McManus 2000, Kim 2004), along with upregulation of MIP2, CXCL10, and XCL1 (Kim 2004) or other chemokines in microglia (Sheng 2000). Tat mimics several beta chemokines, such as MCP1, MCP3, and eotaxin, likely through basic residues in the protein, and thereby influences receptor levels (Albini 1998).

Studies in resting or activated CD4+ T cells, macrophages, erythrocytes, and glia have demonstrated the upregulation of CXCR4 by synthetic Tat protein. Only in macrophages, however, have physiological picomolar levels of Tat been demonstrated to induce CXCR4 (Secchiero 1999). These studies have shown that the upregulation of CXCR4 results in improved HIV infection of uninfected cells treated with Tat. CXCR4 is also inhibited by pertussis toxin, as are many Tat-mediated effects, suggesting that G proteins are involved in Tat effects, and lending support to the idea that Tat might act through CXCR4 (Rizzi 2004).
In contrast, recombinant Tat has also been demonstrated to downregulate CXCR4 by binding via its basic domain to the ligand-binding site on the chemokine receptor and result in diminished X4 HIV infection (Ghezzi 2000; Xiao 2000). Interestingly, an inhibitor of Tat transactivation, CGP64222, also inhibits CXCR4-mediated entry (Daelemans 2000). Furthermore, rhesus macaques treated with Tat toxoid, a chemically-inactivated form of Tat used as a vaccine, demonstrate reduced CXCR4 and CCR5 levels (Pauza 2000). In neurons, Tat upregulates the CXCR4-ligand SDF-1 α (Langford 2002).

Most of studies of CXCR4 have used synthetic extracellular Tat or recombinant purified Tat proteins. A few studies have used adenoviral Tat or CMV-promoter driven Tat. None of these studies has addressed the role of virally-produced intracellular Tat driven by the HIV-1 LTR at endogenous levels on CXCR4 expression, nor is the mechanism of CXCR4 upregulation known.

The majority of studies also investigate Tat1-86 or Tat72 (one exon Tat), with few differences explored between Tat72 and two-exon Tat101. We chose to investigate roles of two forms of the Tat protein, Tat 1-72 and Tat 1-101, for their effects on gene expression by microarray analysis in Jurkat cells. We found CXCR4 among the upregulated genes, and investigated the mechanism of upregulation by Tat.

in dia amin'ny fisiana Ara-dia amin'ny fisiana amin'ny fisiana amin'ny fisiana amin'ny fisiana amin'ny fisiana amin'ny fisiana amin'ny

4B.3 Materials and methods

RNA extraction

Infected and uninfected cells were pelleted by centrifugation and resuspended in Trizol (Invitrogen) and stored at -80° C. Total RNA was harvested according to manufacturer's directions, quantified, and analyzed for purity on a 1% formaldehyde gel as well as on an Agilent Bioanalyzer.

Gene-specific RNA Quantification

CXCR4 RNA levels were determined by SYBR Green quantitative PCR (Qiagen). cDNA was made from total RNA using ImProm II reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen). cDNA was subjected to PCR with 2x HotSYBR PCR Reaction Mix (Molecular Cloning Laboratories) on an ABI Prism 7700 Sequence Detector (AME Bioscience). Human GAPDH (BC001601); Forward: 344 AGTCCACTGGCGTCTTCACC, Reverse: 464 TGGTTCACACCCATGACGAA. Human CXCR4 (NM_003467); Forward: GTTACCATGGAGGGGATCAG, Reverse: CAGATGAATGTCACCTCGC

Microarray analysis

Total RNA from Jurkat cells was prepared from three independent experiments for each condition (mock-infected, infected with control LTR-GFP vector, Tat72, or Tat101) after 48 hours using Trizol (Invitrogen). For each probe, 20ug of total RNA was reverse-transcribed using ImProm II reverse transcriptase (Promega), 500 μ M dATP, dCTP, and dGTP, 350 μ M aminoallyl dUTP (Sigma), and 150 μ M dTTP. After RNA degradation by alkaline hydrolysis, cDNA was recovered by ethanol precipitation and coupled to NHS-Cy3 or Cy5 (Amersham). Cy3 and Cy5labeled probes were purified with the Qiaguick PCR purification kit (Qiagen). Probes were resuspended in Ambion hybridization buffer with 30% formamide and hybridized to glass slides printed with 20,000 human-gene specific 70mer oligonucleotides (Operon 7.0 mouse oligonucleotide set, Qiagen). Hybridizations were performed at 50°C for 40 hours in hybridization chambers (Die Tech). Slides were washed twice with 1x SSC/0.03% SDS, twice with 0.2x SSC, and twice with 0.05x SSC, and scanned on a GenePix 4000B scanner (Axon Instruments). Fluorescence data was acquired with GenePix 6.0 software. Median fluorescence ratios were subjected to LOWESS and print-tip normalization, without background subtraction, on Acuity 4.0 software. Ratio data were then analyzed for statistical significance using paired t-tests. For each condition, comparisons were made between infected (control, Tat72, or Tat101) with mock-infected samples from three independent experiments. These were compared with arrays in which mock-infected samples were self-hybridized (mock vs mock). This allowed comparisons to be performed indirectly between the GFP and Tat conditions. Each of the three arrays for each sample was performed with dye-swapped replicates, for six arrays per sample, and eighteen arrays in total. Statistically significant genes were analyzed by paired t-tests with a confidence interval of 95%.

Western blot

Infected and uninfected cells were pelleted by centrifugation, washed with PBS, and resuspended in 2x Laemmli buffer containing DTT, or in IPLS, as indicated. Lysates were normalized for protein content by the Biorad Protein Assay and 134

· · ·

separated on 10 or 15% acrylamide gels (Biorad). Proteins were transferred to Hybond XL 0.2um membranes with transfer buffer containing 20% methanol. Membranes were blocked with 5% milk (Biorad) in TBS-Tween (10 mM Tris-HCI [pH 7.5], 150 mM NaCl, and 0.1% Tween-20) and probed with rabbit anti-FLAG M2 (Sigma), mouse anti-tubulin (Sigma), mouse anti-actin (Sigma), or rabbit anti-CXCR4 (Abcam), diluted 1:1000. Secondary detection was performed with goat anti-mouse or anti-rabbit HRP (Pierce), diluted 1:2000. Membranes were analyzed by ECL (Amersham) or Supersignal West Femto (Pierce) with 0.2 micron Hybond film.

Plasmids and Mutagenesis

Tat72 and Tat101 LTR and CMV constructs are as described (Jordan et al. 2003, see also Figure 4.2A). CXCR4 promoter luciferase constructs pGL-CXCR4 and – 357, -93, -42 were a gift of Hiroyuki Moriuchi. Forward: -1000 GTAACCCGGGAAGACGCCGAGTATGGGGACC, -800 GTAACCCGGGCTG-TGATGGTAATACCCACACGG, -600 GTAACCCGGGCTCCAGAATTATGCCA-AATCCTACC and Reverse: GGAATGCCAAGCTTACTTAGATCT. PCR products were cut with Smal and BgIII, and recloned into the parent vector pGL2-basic (Invitrogen). pCMV-luciferase was obtained from Promega.

Flow cytometry

Cells were pelleted at 1500rpm in a tabletop centrifuge for 5 minutes and stained with fluorescence-conjugated antibodies in the presence of phosphate-buffered saline containing 2% fetal bovine serum. The following antibodies were used at a

۰. د

1:25 dilution: CXCR4-PE, CXCR4-APC, CD4-PerCP (Leu3a), CCR7-PE (Beckton Dickinson). All flow cytometry was performed on a FACSCalibur cytometer (Beckton Dickinson), with acquisition using Cell Quest software, and analyzed by FlowJo software (Treestar).

Chemotaxis

The chemotaxis assay was performed using a modified Boyden chamber method (R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN) using peripheral blood-derived lymphocytes (activated for 3 days with PHA and IL-2, R&D Systems) or Jurkat cells. At the indicated times, cells were suspended at a concentration of 5 x 10⁶ cells/ml in RPMI 1640 medium containing 0.25% inactivated fetal calf serum (FCS). 100µl of cells were placed in the upper chamber of a 3µm Transwell (Costar #3415, Corning, NY) dish. Cells were incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C in the presence or absence of 250nM AMD3100 (Sigma). After incubation, 600µl of media containing indicated concentrations of SDF-1 α , RANTES, or CXCL21 (R&D Systems) were added to the bottom chamber of the Transwell dish. Plates were incubated for 3.5hrs and cells in the upper and lower chamber were analyzed by flow cytometry. Cell numbers were normalized using TruCount beads (Beckton Dickinson).

Transfections and luciferase assays

Transfections with virus expressing plasmids were performed in 293T cells with the calcium phosphate precipitation method. Cells were harvested 48 hrs after transfection of plasmids DNA and analyzed for luciferase activity. Transfections

into Jurkat cells were performed by electroporation at 250V, 900μ F (Biorad electroporator). Cells were harvest 24 hrs after transfection and analyzed for luciferase activity (Promega luciferase assay).

Protein assay

Protein concentration was measured in total cell lysate by the *Dc* Protein Assay Kit (BioRad, Hercules, CA)

Virus preparation

HIV isolates were produced from calcium phosphate transfection of HEK-293 T cells with the following vectors: packaging construct CMV Δ R8.2 (from D Trono, EFPL, Lausanne, Switzerland), pMD.G (CMV-VSV.G, from D Trono; Naldini 1996), and a lentiviral vector containing either LTR-GFP (pRRLGFP-W, from D Trono) or LTR-Tat101-IRES-GFP (Jordan 2001; Jordan 2003). In experiments involving HIV-1, NL4-3 GFP+ Nef- (a gift from N Landau, Salk Institute, San Diego, CA) was pseudotyped with the VSV envelope. Viruses harvested after 48 hours and filtered through a 0.2 μ M membrane. Various amounts of virus supernatant were titered by infection of 1 x 10⁶ Jurkat cells in the presence of 4 μ g/mI polybrene (hexadimethrine bromide; Sigma), and virus-associated p24 (Gag) protein was measured by fluorescence-linked antigen quantification as described (Hayden 2003) and ELISA (Alliance).

Prerana Jayakumar

Viral infections

Eighteen x 10^6 Jurkat T cells were infected by centrifugation with 1500ng p24-Gag of each virus in a total volume of 5ml, with 10mM HEPES (pH 7.5, Invitrogen) and 4µg/ml polybrene. Infections were carried out in 6-well plates (Falcon) at 2400 rpm in a Beckman-Coulter centrifuge (Allegra 6R, rotor GH3.8A) for two hours at 32°C. After infection, cells were washed with PBS and plated at 0.5 x 10^6 cells/ml in RPMI containing 10% fetal bovine serum, 1% penicillin, and 1% streptomycin. GFP expression was measured after 24 hours to verify infection levels using a FACSCalibur flow cytometer (Beckton Dickinson) and CellQuest software (BD Biosciences), and data were analyzed with FlowJo (Treestar).

Sequence analysis

CXCR4 promoter region sequence from -600 to -357 (Figure 5A) was analyzed for evolutionarily conserved regions by the UCSC Genome Browser (Kent 2002; Karolchick 2003; Lander 2001) at <u>http://genome.ucsc.edu</u>. Analysis of this sequence for transcription factors was performed by TRANSFAC TfBlast (Altschul 1997) and PATCH at <u>http://gene-regulation.com</u>, and by TF-SEARCH at <u>http://www.cbrc.jp/research/db/TFSEARCH.html</u> with default parameters. Hits present at multiple sites or present in two out of three search programs were considered significant.

Prerana Jayakumar

4B.4 Results

Microarray results

To study Tat in a viral context, we expressed Tat from a vector driven by the HIV-1 LTR and containing GFP with an internal ribosomal entry site (IRES). We used three alternative vectors: LTR-Tat72-IRES-GFP, LTR-Tat101-IRES-GFP, or the control vector LTR-GFP (Figure 4.2A). These vectors were packaged with a HIV-1 packaging vector expressing essential viral proteins and with a vesicularstomatitis virus G protein envelope (VSV-G). Infection of Jurkat cells with these viruses resulted in expression of the appropriate Tat protein. As shown in Figure 4.2B, Tat72 and Tat101 were expressed at 48 hours after infection. Tat101 appeared to be expressed more highly despite equal levels of infection. To determine if this was due to increased transcription, we also measured GFP expression in Jurkat cells. All infections resulted in 90% GFP+ cells (data not shown). However, the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of GFP expression was low in the control LTR-GFP vector, because it lacks Tat to transactivate the LTR (Figure 4.2C). By contrast, GFP MFI was identical in Tat72 and Tat101 infected cultures and increased over time, indicating that Tat was functional in these cells. These results also indicate that Tat101 was not transcribed more highly than Tat72 and that increased protein expression is likely due to the greater stability of Tat101 protein or RNA.

We performed microarray analysis with Jurkat cells 48 hours after infection. All infected cell populations were compared with a standard uninfected cell population. Studies were performed in triplicate and resulted in a set of

: ·, ·,

significantly up- and down-regulated genes. Notably, Tat101 induced the expression of a large number of genes uniquely (Figure 4.2D and Table 4.1). No genes were upregulated by the control vector alone, and few genes were downregulated by any of the infections (Table 4.2). Several genes were found at the intersection of Tat72 and Tat101 (Figure 4.2D), indicating genes upregulated by either form of Tat (Table 4.2)

Tat upregulates CXCR4 RNA and protein

We chose to investigate one Tat-induced gene further, CXCR4. Microarray results for CXCR4 are shown in Figure 4.6A. To verify Tat's induction of CXCR4, we measured CXCR4 RNA levels by SYBR Green. Tat72 and Tat101 both increased CXCR4 RNA relative to the control vector (Figure 4.6B). We went on to measure CXCR4 protein expression by Western blotting. As shown in Figure 4.6C, Tat72 and Tat101 increased CXCR4 protein in Jurkat cells.

Cell surface CXCR4 expression

We next verified CXCR4 protein expression at the cell surface. We used flow cytometry to detect cell-surface CXCR4 mean fluorescence intensity. Uninfected Jurkat cells express CXCR4. However, infection with LTR-GFP often resulted in reduced CXCR4 expression (data not shown). Relative to LTR-GFP, Tat72 and Tat101 virus infection resulted in increased cell surface expression of CXCR4 in the infected (GFP-expressing cells) only (Figure 4.7A).

Because Tat contains a protein transduction domain and can enter uninfected cells, we also measured CXCR4 expression in uninfected cells in the same population. Increases in CXCR4 expression on both infected and uninfected cells

.

would indicate transfer of Tat from infected to uninfected cells. However, we found no increase in CXCR4 expression in uninfected cells with either Tat72 or Tat101 (Figure 4.7B), indicating either an inability of Tat to exit infected cells or to enter uninfected cells and activate CXCR4 expression. Similar results were found in blood-derived lymphocytes activated with PHA and IL-2 (Figure 4.7C and D). We also measured the cell surface expression of non-related proteins not demonstrated to be upregulated by Tat. Neither Tat72 nor Tat101 upregulated the expression of CCR7 (Figure 4.7E) or CD3 (not shown).

Chemotaxis

Although Tat increases CXCR4 expression only in infected cells, these cells are not likely more susceptible to HIV infection, as uninfected cells might be. Instead, we studied the sensitivity of Tat-infected cells to the CXCR4 ligand SDF-1. We performed chemotaxis assays with Jurkat cells in Transwell chambers. Uninfected cells migrated downward in response to SDF-1 in the lower chamber only (Figure 4.8A). We then went on to study migration of Tat-infected cells using increasing doses of SDF-1 α . LTR-GFP, LTR-Tat72, and LTR-Tat101 expressing cells migrated downward in response to SDF-1. In agreement with greater CXCR4 expression, more uninfected cells migrated than LTR-GFP infected cells. However, infection with Tat72 or Tat101 relieved this defect in migration, as shown in Figure 4.8B. As with CXCR4 expression, increased migration was only seen in infected cells and not in uninfected cells (Figure 4.8B and C). The cellautonomous effect of Tat on CXCR4 expression was also evident in primary lymphocytes (Figure 4.8D and E).

··. .:

Migration of all infected cells was completely inhibited by the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 (Figure 4.8F). We also measured migration of cells to other chemokines. Jurkat cells did not migrate to the beta chemokine RANTES, as these cells do not express CCR5. Tat also had no effect on the CCR7 ligand CXCL21 (Figure 4.8F).

Tat activates the CXCR4 promoter

Upregulation of CXCR4 by Tat at the RNA level indicated a possible transcriptional activation of the CXCR4 promoter by Tat. To test this possibility, we expressed CMV-promoter driven Tat constructs to provide a steady level of Tat. We also used a 1.2kb CXCR4-promoter construct driving a luciferase reporter, pGL-CXCR4 (Moriuchi 1997). We cotransfected these constructs into Jurkat cells and measured normalized luciferase activity. CXCR4 was expressed in uninfected cells, and empty CMV vector or CMV-FLAG had no effect on CXCR4 luciferase activity (Figure 4.9 and data not shown). Tat72 increased CXCR4 promoter activity 3-fold, while Tat101 increased luciferase 5-fold (Figure 4.9). To test the specificity of Tat for this effect, we also cotransfected two mutants of Tat, C22G, which does not interact with CyclinT1, and K41A, which is unable to transactivate the HIV LTR. Neither of these mutants was able to activate CXCR4 luciferase (Figure 4.9).

Tat-responsive promoter element

To map the elements in the CXCR4 promoter, we tested the ability of truncated CXCR4 constructs to respond to Tat. Cotransfection of CXCR4 promoter constructs from –357 or shorter did not result in activation by Tat, indicating that

े न्द् . **२** २

the responsive element was upstream of this region (Figure 4.10). We constructed upstream truncation mutants of CXCR4 at positions –1000, -800, and –600. All of the elements were responsive to Tat, but not to Tat mutant C22G (Figure 4.10). This indicates that the Tat-responsive element is located between –600 and –357 of the CXCR4 promoter (Figure 4.11).

4B.5 Discussion

We have demonstrated that Tat72 and Tat101 activate CXCR4 gene expression, increase cell surface expression, and improve chemotaxis to the CXCR4 ligand SDF-1. Tat's effects appear to be cell-autonomous; only infected cells are susceptible to increased CXCR4 and chemotaxis. These effects are also specific to CXCR4 and inhibited completely by CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100, suggesting that no other chemokine receptors are responsible for improved migration to SDF-1 in T cells.

It is interesting that uninfected cells, however, express greater levels of CXCR4 than infected cells. The inhibition of CXCR4 expression by infection with LTR-GFP virus indicates that viral infection alone may reduce CXCR4 expression, possibly through the activation of interferons, which have been shown to downregulate CXCR4 (Shirazi 1998). This may be relevant in vivo, where CXCR4 levels can be downregulated by infection and prevent superinfection. However, subsequent upregulation of CXCR4 by Tat would allow migration of infected cells to SDF-1 gradients. CXCR4 upregulation could lead to chemotaxis of lymphocytes to lymph nodes, where large numbers of uninfected cells reside. The recruitment of infected cells to lymphoid organs may be a mechanism of viral spread. In lymph nodes, these cells can also be activated by antigen-presenting cells (APCs), resulting in greater viral gene expression and viral budding. In fact, studies have shown that SDF-1 is expressed on high endothelial venules (HEVs) in the lymph node (Okada 2002) and in lymph nodes of infected patients (Derdeyn 1999).

We also find that Tat activation of CXCR4 requires a specific element in the CXCR4 promoter. We found that this element contains a distinct 33nt region that is highly conserved among mammals (Figure 4.11B). This region (Figure 4.11A) includes a C/EBP binding site (Figure 4.11C). The element also contains a predicted binding site for IL-6 responsive element binding protein (Figure 4.11C). IL-6 is known to be induced by Tat through C/EBP (Lee 2005; EI-Hage 2005; Nath 1999; Zidovetzki 1998; Ambrosino 1997), and in turn, IL-6 activates CXCR4 in astroglia (Odemis 2002). The cascade of Tat effects through activation of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1, and TNF α via transcription factors like C/EBP may result in downstream effects of chemokine receptor activation, interferon responses, and activation of other genes seen in Tat microarray studies. However, because Tat effects appear to be cell-autonomous, it is more likely that Tat may directly activate CXCR4 by activation of C/EBP, NF-1, and other transcription factors in the absence of cytokine activation. Interestingly, although CXCR4 can be activated by NFkB, we did not find any putative NFkB sites in this region of the promoter. However, we found that addition of NFkB did not further increase Tat-mediated activation of CXCR4 (data not shown).

The increase in CXCR4 and chemotaxis by Tat is countered by the downregulation of CXCR4 by HIV-1 Nef. Nef has been shown to downregulate cell surface CXCR4 to a great extent post-translationally (Michel 2006, Hrecka 2005). Unlike Tat, Nef requires a physical interaction with CXCR4. These studies have also shown that in replication-competent full-length HIV, CXCR4 is downregulated (Hrecka 2005 and F.Kirchhoff, personal communication),

ार २

· -

indicating that Nef may counteract Tat's effects on CXCR4. However, in cells such as macrophages and neuronal cells where Nef has less of an effect on cells, or in Nef-deficient viruses, Tat may play a role in cell migration and virus dissemination (Figure 4.12).

For this and other genes, Tat101 appears to produce a greater increase in protein expression than does Tat72. In cell surface expression, Tat101 induces CXCR4 earlier than Tat72, and it activates the CXCR4 promoter to a greater extent. These results may be explained by the greater stability of Tat101 (Figure 4.2B and C), or they could be a result of differences between the proteins themselves. The fact that Tat72 is only slightly less active than Tat101 lends credence to the former hypothesis. Further studies are necessary to elucidate the pathway of CXCR4 transcriptional activation by transcription factors and subtle differences between the two forms of Tat.

•••

• .

÷

4B.6 Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Melanie Ott, Christian Callebaut, Laura Saunders, Andrea Barczak, David Erle, Douglas Nixon, and Mark Goldsmith for advice and discussion. Christophe Kreis, Tanuja Goulet, Angelika Pedal, Marty Bigos, and Dwayne Bisgrove provided technical assistance. Microarrays were performed at the Sandler Center for Functional Genomics. PJ is funded by the Universitywide AIDS Research Program and the UCSF Biomedical Sciences Graduate Program. This work was funded by the National Institutes of Health (EV).

4B.7 Figure legends

Figure 4.6: Tat increases CXCR4 RNA and protein expression. (A) CXCR4 RNA, as determined by microarray. Results are the average of triplicate experiments (±SEM). (B) CXCR4 RNA, as determined by SYBR Green PCR. Ct values were normalized to GAPDH. Results are the average of triplicate experiments (±SEM). (C) Western blot of CXCR4. Boiled Laemmli lysates were separated on a 10% polyacrylamide gel and blotted with rabbit anti-CXCR4 antibody (12G5).

Figure 4.7 – Cell surface expression of CXCR4 protein. (A) Mean fluorescence intensity of CXCR4 in infected GFP+ Jurkat cells. A representative time course is shown. (B) Mean fluorescence intensity of CXCR4 in uninfected GFP- Jurkat cells in the same population as A. A representative time course is shown. (C and D) Mean fluorescence intensity of CXCR4 in infected GFP+ (C) and uninfected GFP- (D) PBMCs. A representative time course is shown. (E) Mean fluorescence intensity of CCR7 in infected GFP+ Jurkat cells.

• •1

• ...

•**.**,

Figure 4.8 – Tat improves chemotaxis to SDF-1 α . (A) Chemokinesis of uninfected cells to SDF-1 α placed in different chambers of a transwell. (B and C) Chemotaxis of infected (B) and uninfected (C) Jurkat cells to increasing amounts of SDF-1 α . Live migrated cells were quantified by flow cytometry and normalized to total cell number. Results are the average of quadruplicate wells (±SEM). (D and E) Chemotaxis of infected (D) and uninfected (E) PBMCs to increasing amounts of SDF-1 α . Live migrated cells were quantified by flow cytometry and normalized to total cell number. Results are the average of quadruplicate wells (±SEM). (D and E) Chemotaxis of infected (D) and uninfected (E) PBMCs to increasing amounts of SDF-1 α . Live migrated cells were quantified by flow cytometry and normalized to total cell number. Results are the average of quadruplicate wells (±SEM). (F) Tat-induced Jurkat migration to SDF-1 α is CXCR4-specific. 250nM AMD3100 was added to cells in the upper chamber 30 minutes prior to chemotaxis experiments. 250nM of RANTES or CXCL21 were added to the lower chamber of transwells instead of SDF-1 α .

Figure 4.9 – Tat activates the CXCR4 promoter. CMV-Tat72 and CMV-Tat101 were electroporated into Jurkat cells along with pGL-CXCR4. Luciferase activity was measured after 24 hours and normalized to cellular protein content. Mutants K41A and C22G are mutants of Tat101. Results are the average of triplicate experiments (±SEM).

Figure 4.10 – The Tat-responsive CXCR4 promoter element is between -600 and -357. (A) CXCR4 promoter truncation mutants (indicated) were elecroporated along with CMV-empty vector, CMV-Tat72, CMV-Tat101, or CMV-Tat101-C22G. Luciferase values were measured after 24 hours and normalized to cellular protein content. Results are the average of triplicate experiments (±SEM).

•••••

•1

Figure 4.11 – A conserved region in the Tat-responsive element of CXCR4. (A) Sequence of -600 to -357. The conserved region is shown in red. (B) Conservation plot among mammalian species of the Tat-responsive element. (C) Transcription factors with predicted binding sites within the Tat-responsive element. Proteins with sites in the conserved region are shown in red.

Model of in vivo CXCR4 upregulation. Infected cells expressing Tat and having upregulated CXCR4 traffic in response to SDF-1 chemokine gradients to lymphoid organs, where many target cells reside. This may provide a means of virus dissemination and access to antigen-presenting cells.

Several and the second second

مرید اور میلی مرکز اور میلی مرمز میلی مرکز اور میلی مرکز اور میلی مرکز اور میلی مرکز

10741772 2 TE C

....

<u>د</u>.

Chapter 5: Tat and other genes

5A. Tat and Tsg101

5A.1 Abstract

The HIV-1 Tat protein potently modulates the expression of a number of cellular genes. We asked whether two alternative splice forms of Tat, Tat72 and Tat101, could activate the expression of cellular genes. Among the genes differentially regulated by the two forms of Tat is the vesicular budding protein Tsg101, which is also necessary for HIV-1 release. We found that Tsg101 was uniquely upregulated by Tat101. The increase in Tsg101 RNA results in increased budding and viral release. Our results suggest a novel link between the early and late stages of HIV infection.

en and a state of a st TERLET PARTY

WAREN AND KINARE

KHINTER SOLET

BL CAREER STORE AND AND

et formere of the model of the former of the

•

5A.2 Introduction

We recently determined a number of genes upregulated by Tat72 and Tat101. Among the genes upregulated by Tat101 but not Tat72 is Tsg101. Tsg101 is a member of the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) family of proteins. Tsg101 (also known as Vps23p), STAM1/2, Hrs, and Vps28 comprise the ESCRT-I complex (reviewed in Slagsvgold 2006). Proteins shown to associate with the RNA polymerase II elongation factor ELL were named the ELL associating proteins (EAP) and formed ESCRT-II (Kamura 2001). ESCRT-III consists of the charged multivesicular body proteins (CHMP) (Howard 2001). These three protein complexes are involved in vesicular sorting of proteins from the plasma membrane to the late endosome and the multivesicular body.

Tsg101 was originally identified as a tumor suppressor. Deletion of Tsg101 in mouse fibroblasts resulted in tumor formation in mice (Li 1996). Subsequent studies revealed that the viruses, including HIV, cannot exit the plasma membrane in the absence of Tsg101 (Martin-Serrano 2001). This was shown to be true for several other ESCRT components (Strack 2003; Slagsvgold 2006). Viruses as diverse as Ebola, Marburg, EIAV, HIV, and others require components of the ESCRT machinery to bud from the cell (Slagsvgold 2006). ESCRT-I components, including Tsg101, tether the Gag or structural protein of these viruses to the plasma membrane, and ESCRT-II components bridge ESCRT-I and ESCRT-III. ESCRT-III contains an ATPase (Vps4), which in turn is thought to allow release of the complex from the membrane. Furthermore, an

ş⊾tertisingter ⊴init an di

n ang 1997 ng mang 2007 ng mang 2007 Ng mang 2009 ng 100 for 2007 ng mang 200 Ng mang 2009 ng 2007 ng mang 2007 Ng mang 2007 ng mg 2007

¢,

adapter, AIP1/Alix connects some Gag proteins to the CHMP/ESCRT-III complex (Figure 5.1) (Slagsvgold 2006).

Studies have shown that HIV viral particles form aberrantly in the absence of either Tsg101 or AIP1, and that the particles that are produced are not infectious (Martin-Serrano 2001; Strack 2003). Furthermore, these complexes are thought to be adapted by the virus at the plasma membrane, away from the multivesicular body.

The ESCRT complexes are also thought to play a role in the release of small 100nm particles called exosomes (de Gassart 2004). These particles are released by the maturation of the multivesicular body and its fusion with the plasma membrane. The release of these particles is thought to play a role in the transfer of antigens from antigen presenting cells to lymphocytes, as has been shown with the MHC class II molecule (Raposo 1996). One hypothesis is that viruses have used the exosomal pathway to bud into multivesicular bodies and be released into the extracellular medium directly, rather than budding at the plasma membrane. This has been shown to be the case in macrophages, but not in lymphocytes. This "Trojan horse" hypothesis surmises that viral evolution proceeded from an exosomal origin (de Gassart 2004).

ESCRT components are primarily thought to be involved in budding, with a poorly described role in transcription. Therefore, we asked whether Tat-mediated upregulation of Tsg101 would lead to an increase in Tsg101 protein, and whether this increase indicated improved viral budding.

REAL OF STREET

Manes Consulate Phaten

è.

5A.3 Materials and Methods

Plasmids

Tat vectors were prepared as described in Chapter 2D. pMDLgRRE and pRev were obtained from D.Trono. CMV-Tsg101 was a gift of Wes Sundquist (University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT). LTR-luciferase constructs were a gift from Warner Greene.

Virus stocks and infections

Viruses were prepared and infected as described in Chapters 2D and 4A.

Tsg101 RNA quantification

RNA was prepared as described in Chapter 2D. Tsg101 RNA was detected by SYBR Green PCR using HotSYBR (MCLab) and with the primers Tsg101 (NM_006292); Forward: 462 TTATCTACATGAATGGAAACACCCACAG, Reverse: 798 GTCCTCGCTGATTGTGCCATCCCTACTG. Human GAPDH (BC001601); Forward: 344 AGTCCACTGGCGTCTTCACC, Reverse: 464 TGGTTCACACCCATGACGAA.

Viral budding assay

Virus budding was determined by transfection of 293T cells using Fugene reagent (Roche). Transfected cells were plated at a density of 0.05 million in 24-well plates (Falcon). At the indicated time points, supernatants and PBS-washed cells from the same well were harvested and lysed. p24-Gag was measured by ELISA (Alliance).

Exosome isolation

CTER LA COLLEGE SUN **B**asargeanymanad

En contra de contra de la contr

Kenders and A. Alt.

.**ч**

e.

Exosomes were isolated by serial centrifugation as described (Fritzsching 2002). Exosomes were isolated from 293T cell media and protein was normalized to cell number.

Western blotting

Western blots were performed as described in Chapter 2D. Mouse anti-Tsg101 antibody was obtained from eBiosciences and used at 1:1000 dilution after blotting with 1% milk (Biorad). Rabbit anti-AIP1 antiserum was a gift of Dr. Wes Sundquist (University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT).

Warstopanane maria a

Кжазорнов си сос

÷

5A.4 Results

We infected Jurkat T cells as above and measured Tsg101 RNA in the presence and absence of Tat using SYBR-Green real-time PCR. As shown in Figure 5.2, only Tat101 increased Tsg101 RNA levels compared to uninfected or LTR-GFP infected samples. Tat72 also had no significant effect on Tsg101 RNA levels. The amount of increase was greater with Tat101 than with Tat72, reaching a fivefold increase.

We then went on to measure protein levels of Tsg101 in Jurkat cells. As shown in Figure 5.3, we saw an increase in Tsg101 protein by the expression of Tat101, but not Tat72. However, this protein level increase was minimal and was seen only at 48 hours after infection. To determine if the excess protein was being expelled from the cells by the lysosomal pathway in exosomes, we pelleted exosomes by centrifugation at increasing speeds and measured Tsg101 in various fractions in infected or uninfected samples. As shown in Figure 5.4, no increase was seen in Tsg101 protein in exosomes.

We speculated that a small increase in Tsg101 that was not detectable by Western blotting might nevertheless result in an enhancement of viral budding. Therefore, we designed an experiment to express viral proteins under the control of the CMV promoter using the pMDLgRRE vector (provided by D.Trono). This vector contains the HIV protein Gag-Pol in the absence of viral accessory proteins, as well as a Rev-responsive element (RRE), which is necessary for Rev-dependent RNA export from the nucleus and protein expression. CMVpromoter-driven Rev was expressed independently, and we also expressed

E That include a construction of the construction o Manusconary Manusco

energian anticarea anti-anticarea anticarea anti-terregian anticarea anti-anticarea anticarea anti-Print Carlor (St. 2016) 1

All and the second seco

CMV-driven constructs containing either empty vector, Tat72, or Tat101. Cotransfection of these constructs in 293T cells resulted in virus. We were able to measure viral production inside 293T cells as a measure of total or intracellular virus, and compare it to extracellular viral release by measuring Gag-p24 by ELISA (Alliance/NEN Life sciences), as shown in Figure 5.5. Individual wells were harvested (intracellular) or washed (extracellular) at each time point to measure only new p24 production and not cumulative virus.

We found that production of viral p24 peaked at 36-48 hours, and that viral production was similar with empty vector, Tat72, or Tat101 intracellularly (Figure 5.5). However, a great increase in viral release was seen after 48 hours with Tat101, indicating greater viral release in the presence of Tat101 (Figure 5.5). This effect was not seen with Tat72 (Figure 5.5). Furthermore, neither Tat72 nor Tat101 increased the activity of the CMV promoter in this system (data not shown). On the contrary, Tsg101 reduced LTR activity alone (data not shown). We also found an increase in AIP1 in our microarray screen. AIP1 is also necessary for HIV budding. Investigation of AIP1 protein levels indicated a possible increase in protein with Tat72, but not Tat101 (Figure 5.6).

Rational Constants

Manufanaternation

Realition the second second

A CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR A CARE SALE FOR THE STREET

Prerana Jayakumar

٦

£.,

.

5A.5 Discussion

We conclude that the increase in viral budding that appears in cells expressing Tat101 but not Tat72 is likely due to the increase in Tsg101 induced to a greater extent by Tat101. The increase is not likely due to increased expression of AIP1, which is only activated by Tat72.

The enhancement of budding by Tat is a novel mechanism of control between early transcriptional events in the HIV viral cycle and late events such as budding. The results indicate that viral proteins may prepare cellular factors for later stages of the viral cycle by initiating a program of transcription that is more suitable for viral assembly and release.

Tsg101, however, does appear to have a specific effect on the HIV-1 LTR. Unlike the CMV promoter, the HIV-1 LTR is strongly suppressed by Tsg101, even in the absence of Tat. This may indicate that Tsg101 regulates transcription as a form of feedback. This may be advantageous for the virus, in that as later stages of the viral cycle take place, and Tat upregulates Tsg101, the HIV LTR is suppressed to facilitate budding and the shutdown of transcription. Further study is necessary to determine whether LTR suppression is a specific process.

A REPORT AND REPORT OF THE

ł

5A.6 Acknowledgments

We thank Wes Sundquist for reagents and advice. Björn Schwer provided technical assistance with exosome isolation. We are grateful to Melanie Ott, Katrin Kaehlcke, Angelika Pedal, and Vanessa Soros for discussions and advice.

5A.7 Figure Legends

Figure 5.1 – The ESCRT complexes. ESCRT-I, containing Tsg101, is colored in light pink. ESCRT-II is colored in orange. ESCRT-III and AIP-1 are colored red. Green, HIV-1 Gag. Blue – plasma membrane.

Figure 5.2 – Tat101 increases Tsg101 RNA expression. RNA expression in infected Jurkat cells after 48 hours was determined by SYBR Green PCR. Normalized Ct values are shown. Results are the average of triplicate experiments (±SEM).

Figure 5.3 – Tsg101 protein levels are slightly increased in Jurkat cells. Western blot of Jurkat cells at 48 and 72 hours after infection. Laemmli lysates were analyzed on 10% polyacrylamide gels and blotted with anti-Tsg101 or anti-tubulin.

Figure 5.4 – Tsg101 protein levels are not increased by Tat in exosomes. After serial centrifugation, cell pellets and subsequent pellets were analyzed by 10% polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and blotted with anti-Tsg101. Shown below is the Coomassie stain of the same gel as a loading control. P4, P5 – exosome containing pellets. P1 – cell pellet.

Figure 5.5 – Tat101 increases budding in the viral budding assay. (top) Viral budding assay. 293T cells were transfected, and intracellular (cell pellet) or
Constrainty run and

16341377676 4757 ¥767 5

KOARDAN MARK SA 177

enter en esterne trans

معنی میرود و بر معنی معنی معنی میرود. مراجع میرود و میرود میرود مراجع میرود میرود میرود میرود مراجع میرود میرود.

-1

extracellular (supernatant) virus was quantified by ELISA. (bottom, left) Intracellular time course of viral p24 production. At the indicated time points, cells were washed with PBS, lysed, and analyzed for p24 by ELISA. p24 was normalized to cellular protein content. Results are the average of triplicate experiments (±SEM) (bottom, right) Extracellular time course of viral p24 production. At the indicated time points, 200ul aliquots of supernatant were removed and analyzed for p24 by ELISA. p24 was normalized to cellular protein content in the cell pellet. Results are the average of triplicate experiments (±SEM).

Figure 5.6 – Tat101 does not increase AIP1. Western blots of Laemmli-boiled Jurkats were performed 48 hours after infection with viruses. AIP1 antiserum was used at 1:1000 dilution.

£.	C .
Rat 1924	
معتصي	
Sec. 10	and the second s
	- 4 a.
6	
.∉¥ (Be iC	in the start of strong
a ta sa sa sa	14-74 537 233

ŧ

Chapter 6: Conclusions

HIV-1 pathogenesis involves a complex interplay of viral proteins and host factors. The viral proteins Tat, Nef, and Env and the host proteins CD4, CXCR4, and Tsg101 play crucial roles in viral replication, viral dissemination, and disease progression. Microarray studies provide a wealth of information that allows a global view of cellular gene expression. We find that the two alternatively spliced forms of Tat, Tat72 and Tat101, activate a distinct set of cellular genes, with Tat101 inducing the expression of a large number of unique genes. Tat72 activated a small set of genes which largely overlapped with Tat101. We observed little downregulation of specific genes. The genes modulated by Tat are involved in transcription, homeostasis, signaling, and inflammation, indicating that downstream Tat effects are not limited to transactivation. One common thread may be the modulation of Tat activity and Tatassociated transcription factors by deacetylases such as SIRT1. These studies may explain the variety of Tat-induced phenotypes reported.

Among the unique genes activated by Tat101 uniquely is Tsg101, a component of the ESCRT complexes that are essential for virus release. Expression of Tat101 improves viral egress, although whether this improvement is achieved through Tsg101 is unknown. The involvement of Tat in viral budding suggests a novel role for a transcriptional activator in modulating late steps in the viral life cycle.

Both forms of Tat also activate CXCR4, an HIV-1 coreceptor associated with later stages of infection. Tat72 and Tat101 act through an upstream transcriptional element and may activate a transcription factor that in turn induces CXCR4 expression. The change in CXCR4 expression may result in a change in cellular

Autore and a second and a secon

KUNS COTTA DIST BUS

migration to SDF-1, and the subsequent relocalization of infected cells to sites of inflammation for further viral dissemination.

Two-exon Tat101 appears to have multiple novel effects, including the activation of Tsg101, the increased induction of CXCR4, and the activation of many other cellular genes. The second exon of Tat may have distinct interaction partners that lead to the activation of additional genes. The integrin-binding domain in the second exon may also play a role in cell signaling and activation of inflammatory responses.

HIV-1 Nef facilitates rapid replication and increased viral infectivity, but it is not necessary for infection, as changes in Env can lead to pathogenic Nef-deficient viruses, which use CXCR4. Because Nef itself downregulates CXCR4, the absence of Nef may promote CXCR4 tropism by increasing the availability of cell surface CXCR4. This suggests that the coordinated action of Nef and envelope may lead to pathogenic viruses even when viral replication is poor.

Env assists in the assembly and exit of viral particles and interacts through Gag with the ESCRT machinery. However, in entry, envelope is absolutely necessary, and when engaged with CXCR4, allows entry into not only T cells but also macrophages, when modified accordingly – by glycosylation and containing an appropriate envelope charge. Charged regions interact with CXCR4, as indicated by the binding of envelope, SDF-1, and AMD3100. SDF-1 itself has multiple roles in the HIV-1 life cycle to counteract viral effects. SDF-1 binds CXCR4 to induce signaling, to block HIV-1 entry, and to promote chemotaxis. Inside the cell, SDF-1 γ can inhibit Tatmediated transactivation.

Thus, the viral proteins Tat, Nef, and Env appear to interact at multiple levels with CXCR4, Tsg101, and a number of other host proteins at each stage of the life cycle. The interaction of these proteins demonstrates the importance of each aspect of viral pathogenesis, and highlights the need to study viral molecular mechanisms in order to create more effective therapeutic strategies.



1 1000 1000 1000 1000

A RECEIPTION

Chapter 7. References

Abraham, S., B. E. Sawaya, et al. (2003). "Regulation of MCP-1 gene transcription by Smads and HIV-1 Tat in human glial cells." Virology 309(2): 196-202.

Accola, M. A., A. Ohagen, et al. (2000). "Isolation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 cores: retention of Vpr in the absence of p6(gag)." J Virol 74(13): 6198-202.

Adachi, A., H. E. Gendelman, et al. (1986). "Production of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome-associated retrovirus in human and nonhuman cells transfected with an infectious molecular clone." J Virol 59(2): 284-91.

Adams, C. W. and R. N. Poston (1990). "Macrophage histology in paraffinembedded multiple sclerosis plaques is demonstrated by the monoclonal panmacrophage marker HAM-56: correlation with chronicity of the lesion." Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 80(2): 208-11.

Aiken, C., J. Konner, et al. (1994). "Nef induces CD4 endocytosis: requirement for a critical dileucine motif in the membrane-proximal CD4 cytoplasmic domain." Cell 76(5): 853-64.

RECORD FROM MONTH

Restriction and the second

AND AND SALES And and a spectral sector of the sector of t Be address and the second s

Aiuti, A., M. Tavian, et al. (1999). "Expression of CXCR4, the receptor for stromal cell-derived factor-1 on fetal and adult human lympho-hematopoietic progenitors." Eur J Immunol 29(6): 1823-31.

Akekawatchai, C., J. D. Holland, et al. (2005). "Transactivation of CXCR4 by the insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor (IGF-1R) in human MDA-MB-231 breast cancer epithelial cells." J Biol Chem 280(48): 39701-8.

Alberts, B. (2002). Molecular biology of the cell. New York, Garland Science.

Albini, A., S. Ferrini, et al. (1998). "HIV-1 Tat protein mimicry of chemokines." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(22): 13153-8.

Alcami, J., T. Lain de Lera, et al. (1995). "Absolute dependence on kappa B responsive elements for initiation and Tat-mediated amplification of HIV transcription in blood CD4 T lymphocytes." Embo J 14(7): 1552-60.

Ambrosino, C., M. R. Ruocco, et al. (1997). "HIV-1 Tat induces the expression of the interleukin-6 (IL6) gene by binding to the IL6 leader RNA and by interacting with CAAT enhancer-binding protein beta (NF-IL6) transcription factors." J Biol Chem 272(23): 14883-92.

El Harrison Dominion de Lager de la contraction Lager de la contraction estatement estatement de la contraction estateme

t t Server

{

1

1

....

Ancuta, P., P. Autissier, et al. (2006). "CD16+ monocyte-derived macrophages activate resting T cells for HIV infection by producing CCR3 and CCR4 ligands." J Immunol 176(10): 5760-71.

Arthos, J., A. Rubbert, et al. (2000). "CCR5 signal transduction in macrophages by human immunodeficiency virus and simian immunodeficiency virus envelopes." J Virol 74(14): 6418-24.

Atchison, R. E., J. Gosling, et al. (1996). "Multiple extracellular elements of CCR5 and HIV-1 entry: dissociation from response to chemokines." Science 274(5294): 1924-6.

Autschbach, F., E. Palou, et al. (1999). "Expression of the membrane protein tyrosine phosphatase CD148 in human tissues." Tissue Antigens 54(5): 485-98.

Avalos, J. L., I. Celic, et al. (2002). "Structure of a Sir2 enzyme bound to an acetylated p53 peptide." Mol Cell 10(3): 523-35.

Bachelder, R. E., M. A. Wendt, et al. (2002). "Vascular endothelial growth factor promotes breast carcinoma invasion in an autocrine manner by regulating the chemokine receptor CXCR4." Cancer Res 62(24): 7203-6.

Managari (1994) - Anna - An

establistic (Company) and Angelistic (Company) (a stanta in 1980. e o stanta en la el se de la constanta Konzelet zeonalista en el 2014/10/2015/2019 10 10 10/2016/2017/2016/2017 10/2017/2016/2016/2017

主 5.

1 . 1

î i

| |. |-----

i

1

Baker, S. J., S. Markowitz, et al. (1990). "Suppression of human colorectal carcinoma cell growth by wild-type p53." Science 249(4971): 912-5.

Baltimore, D. (1992). "Viral RNA-dependent DNA polymerase. 1970." Biotechnology 24: 3-5.

Barboric, M. and B. M. Peterlin (2005). "A new paradigm in eukaryotic biology: HIV Tat and the control of transcriptional elongation." PLoS Biol 3(2): e76.

Barre-Sinoussi, F., J. C. Chermann, et al. (1983). "Isolation of a T-lymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS)." Science 220(4599): 868-71.

Barre-Sinoussi, F., U. Mathur-Wagh, et al. (1985). "Isolation of lymphadenopathyassociated virus (LAV) and detection of LAV antibodies from US patients with AIDS." Jama 253(12): 1737-9.

Berger, E. A., P. M. Murphy, et al. (1999). "Chemokine receptors as HIV-1 coreceptors: roles in viral entry, tropism, and disease." Annu Rev Immunol 17: 657-700.

; '

11

•... [

ľ

• - <u>-</u> .

i

Ţ

ĺ

Berlier, W., T. Bourlet, et al. (2005). "Selective sequestration of X4 isolates by human genital epithelial cells: Implication for virus tropism selection process during sexual transmission of HIV." J Med Virol 77(4): 465-74.

Bernardi, P., L. Scorrano, et al. (1999). "Mitochondria and cell death. Mechanistic aspects and methodological issues." Eur J Biochem 264(3): 687-701.

Bestwick, R. K., S. L. Kozak, et al. (1988). "Overcoming interference to retroviral superinfection results in amplified expression and transmission of cloned genes." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85(15): 5404-8.

Bettaccini, A. A., A. Baj, et al. (2005). "Proliferative activity of extracellular HIV-1 Tat protein in human epithelial cells: expression profile of pathogenetically relevant genes." BMC Microbiol 5(1): 20.

Bieniasz, P. D., T. A. Grdina, et al. (1998). "Recruitment of a protein complex containing Tat and cyclin T1 to TAR governs the species specificity of HIV-1 Tat." Embo J 17(23): 7056-65.

Birch, M. R., J. C. Learmont, et al. (2001). "An examination of signs of disease progression in survivors of the Sydney Blood Bank Cohort (SBBC)." J Clin Virol 22(3): 263-70.

1

۲. .

i.

Î

.....

Bitterman, K. J., R. M. Anderson, et al. (2002). "Inhibition of silencing and accelerated aging by nicotinamide, a putative negative regulator of yeast sir2 and human SIRT1." J Biol Chem 277(47): 45099-107.

Blaak, H., A. B. van't Wout, et al. (2000). "In vivo HIV-1 infection of CD45RA(+)CD4(+) T cells is established primarily by syncytium-inducing variants and correlates with the rate of CD4(+) T cell decline." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(3): 1269-74.

Bleul, C. C., M. Farzan, et al. (1996). "The lymphocyte chemoattractant SDF-1 is a ligand for LESTR/fusin and blocks HIV-1 entry." Nature 382(6594): 829-33.

Bleul, C. C., M. Farzan, et al. (1996). "The lymphocyte chemoattractant SDF-1 is a ligand for LESTR/fusin and blocks HIV-1 entry." Nature 382(6594): 829-33.

Borgstrom, B. (1975). "On the interactions between pancreatic lipase and colipase and the substrate, and the importance of bile salts." J Lipid Res 16(6): 411-7.

Bres, V., R. Kiernan, et al. (2002). "Tat acetyl-acceptor lysines are important for human immunodeficiency virus type-1 replication." J Biol Chem 277(25): 22215-21.

Bres, V., R. E. Kiernan, et al. (2003). "A non-proteolytic role for ubiquitin in Tatmediated transactivation of the HIV-1 promoter." Nat Cell Biol 5(8): 754-61.

1 %

. . .

٠. ا

] ب

F

Brother, M. B., H. K. Chang, et al. (1996). "Block of Tat-mediated transactivation of tumor necrosis factor beta gene expression by polymeric-TAR decoys." Virology 222(1): 252-6.

Bukrinsky, M. I., T. L. Stanwick, et al. (1991). "Quiescent T lymphocytes as an inducible virus reservoir in HIV-1 infection." Science 254(5030): 423-7.

Bunnik, E. M., E. D. Quakkelaar, et al. (2006). "Increased neutralization sensitivity of recently emerged CXCR4-using HIV-1 as compared to co-existing CCR5-using variants from the same patient." J Virol. (Epub)

Buonaguro, L., G. Barillari, et al. (1992). "Effects of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat protein on the expression of inflammatory cytokines." J Virol 66(12): 7159-67.

Buonaguro, L., F. M. Buonaguro, et al. (1994). "The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat protein transactivates tumor necrosis factor beta gene expression through a TAR-like structure." J Virol 68(4): 2677-82.

Cai, S. H., Y. Tan, et al. (2004). "Loss of C-terminal alpha-helix decreased SDF-1alpha-mediated signaling and chemotaxis without influencing CXCR4 internalization." Acta Pharmacol Sin 25(2): 152-60.

Prerana Jayakumar

 \mathbf{j} :

1

Ĩ

1

• • · • ·

•/

ſ

Caldwell, R. L., B. S. Egan, et al. (2000). "HIV-1 Tat represses transcription from the mannose receptor promoter." J Immunol 165(12): 7035-41.

Calnan, B. J., B. Tidor, et al. (1991). "Arginine-mediated RNA recognition: the arginine fork." Science 252(5010): 1167-71.

Carl, S., R. Daniels, et al. (2000). "Partial "repair" of defective NEF genes in a longterm nonprogressor with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection." J Infect Dis 181(1): 132-40.

Carroll, I. R., J. Wang, et al. (1998). "HIV Tat represses transcription of the beta 2microglobulin promoter." Mol Immunol 35(18): 1171-8.

Cavrois, M., C. De Noronha, et al. (2002). "A sensitive and specific enzyme-based assay detecting HIV-1 virion fusion in primary T lymphocytes." Nat Biotechnol 20(11): 1151-4.

Cecilia, D., V. N. KewalRamani, et al. (1998). "Neutralization profiles of primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates in the context of coreceptor usage." J Virol 72(9): 6988-96. Chan, S. Y., R. F. Speck, et al. (1999). "V3 recombinants indicate a central role for CCR5 as a coreceptor in tissue infection by human immunodeficiency virus type 1." J Virol 73(3): 2350-8.

Chen, L., W. Fischle, et al. (2001). "Duration of nuclear NF-kappaB action regulated by reversible acetylation." Science 293(5535): 1653-7.

Chen, L. F., Y. Mu, et al. (2002). "Acetylation of RelA at discrete sites regulates distinct nuclear functions of NF-kappaB." Embo J 21(23): 6539-48.

Chen, L. F., S. A. Williams, et al. (2005). "NF-kappaB RelA phosphorylation regulates RelA acetylation." Mol Cell Biol 25(18): 7966-75.

Chen, P., M. Mayne, et al. (1997). "The Tat protein of HIV-1 induces tumor necrosis factor-alpha production. Implications for HIV-1-associated neurological diseases." J Biol Chem 272(36): 22385-8.

Cheng, H. L., R. Mostoslavsky, et al. (2003). "Developmental defects and p53 hyperacetylation in Sir2 homolog (SIRT1)-deficient mice." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(19): 10794-9.

Chesebro, B., K. Wehrly, et al. (1992). "Macrophage-tropic human immunodeficiency virus isolates from different patients exhibit unusual V3 envelope sequence

homogeneity in comparison with T-cell-tropic isolates: definition of critical amino acids involved in cell tropism." J Virol 66(11): 6547-54.

Chirmule, N. and S. Pahwa (1996). "Envelope glycoproteins of human immunodeficiency virus type 1: profound influences on immune functions." Microbiol Rev 60(2): 386-406.

Chiu, Y. L., V. B. Soros, et al. (2005). "Cellular APOBEC3G restricts HIV-1 infection in resting CD4+ T cells." Nature 435(7038): 108-14.

Chowers, M. Y., C. A. Spina, et al. (1994). "Optimal infectivity in vitro of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 requires an intact nef gene." J Virol 68(5): 2906-14.

Cimarelli, A., G. Zambruno, et al. (1994). "Quantitation by competitive PCR of HIV-1 proviral DNA in epidermal Langerhans cells of HIV-infected patients." J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 7(3): 230-5.

Clapham, P. R. and A. McKnight (2001). "HIV-1 receptors and cell tropism." Br Med Bull 58: 43-59.

Clevestig, P., L. Pramanik, et al. (2006). "CCR5 use by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 is associated closely with the gp120 V3 loop N-linked glycosylation site." J Gen Virol 87(Pt 3): 607-12.

Cocchi, F., A. L. DeVico, et al. (1995). "Identification of RANTES, MIP-1 alpha, and MIP-1 beta as the major HIV-suppressive factors produced by CD8+ T cells." Science 270(5243): 1811-5.

Coffin, J. M. (1979). "Structure, replication, and recombination of retrovirus genomes: some unifying hypotheses." J Gen Virol 42(1): 1-26.

Coffin, J. M., S. H. Hughes, et al. (1997). Retroviruses. Plainview, N.Y., Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.

Cohen, H. Y., C. Miller, et al. (2004). "Calorie restriction promotes mammalian cell survival by inducing the SIRT1 deacetylase." Science 305(5682): 390-2.

Col, E., C. Caron, et al. (2001). "The histone acetyltransferase, hGCN5, interacts with and acetylates the HIV transactivator, Tat." J Biol Chem 276(30): 28179-84.

Collman, R., N. F. Hassan, et al. (1989). "Infection of monocyte-derived macrophages with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1). Monocyte-tropic and lymphocyte-tropic strains of HIV-1 show distinctive patterns of replication in a panel of cell types." J Exp Med 170(4): 1149-63.

Collman, R. G. and Y. Yi (1999). "Cofactors for human immunodeficiency virus entry into primary macrophages." J Infect Dis 179: 422-6.

Conant, K., A. Garzino-Demo, et al. (1998). "Induction of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in HIV-1 Tat-stimulated astrocytes and elevation in AIDS dementia." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(6): 3117-21.

Connor, R. I., B. K. Chen, et al. (1995). "Vpr is required for efficient replication of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 in mononuclear phagocytes." Virology 206(2): 935-44.

Connor, R. I., W. A. Paxton, et al. (1996). "Macrophages and CD4+ T lymphocytes from two multiply exposed, uninfected individuals resist infection with primary nonsyncytium-inducing isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1." J Virol 70(12): 8758-64.

Connor, R. I., K. E. Sheridan, et al. (1997). "Change in coreceptor use coreceptor use correlates with disease progression in HIV-1--infected individuals." J Exp Med 185(4): 621-8.

Cordingley, M. G., R. L. LaFemina, et al. (1990). "Sequence-specific interaction of Tat protein and Tat peptides with the transactivation-responsive sequence element

of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in vitro." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87(22): 8985-9.

Cota-Gomez, A., N. C. Flores, et al. (2002). "The human immunodeficiency virus-1 Tat protein activates human umbilical vein endothelial cell E-selectin expression via an NF-kappa B-dependent mechanism." J Biol Chem 277(17): 14390-9.

Daelemans, D., D. Schols, et al. (2000). "A second target for the peptoid Tat/transactivation response element inhibitor CGP64222: inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus replication by blocking CXC-chemokine receptor 4-mediated virus entry." Mol Pharmacol 57(1): 116-24.

Dandekar, D. H., K. N. Ganesh, et al. (2004). "HIV-1 Tat directly binds to NFkappaB enhancer sequence: role in viral and cellular gene expression." Nucleic Acids Res 32(4): 1270-8.

Daniel, M. D., F. Kirchhoff, et al. (1992). "Protective effects of a live attenuated SIV vaccine with a deletion in the nef gene." Science 258(5090): 1938-41.

Davenport, M. P., J. J. Zaunders, et al. (2002). "Cell turnover and cell tropism in HIV-1 infection." Trends Microbiol 10(6): 275-8.

, ...,

1

•• - ···

D'Aversa, T. G., K. O. Yu, et al. (2004). "Expression of chemokines by human fetal microglia after treatment with the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 protein Tat." J Neurovirol 10(2): 86-97.

de Gassart, A., C. Geminard, et al. (2004). "Exosome secretion: the art of reutilizing nonrecycled proteins?" Traffic 5(11): 896-903.

de la Fuente, C., F. Santiago, et al. (2002). "Gene expression profile of HIV-1 Tat expressing cells: a close interplay between proliferative and differentiation signals." BMC Biochem 3(1): 14.

De Luca, L. G., D. R. Johnson, et al. (1994). "cAMP and tumor necrosis factor competitively regulate transcriptional activation through and nuclear factor binding to the cAMP-responsive element/activating transcription factor element of the endothelial leukocyte adhesion molecule-1 (E-selectin) promoter." J Biol Chem 269(30): 19193-6.

Deacon, N. J., A. Tsykin, et al. (1995). "Genomic structure of an attenuated quasi species of HIV-1 from a blood transfusion donor and recipients." Science 270(5238): 988-91.

Dean, M., M. Carrington, et al. (1996). "Genetic restriction of HIV-1 infection and progression to AIDS by a deletion allele of the CKR5 structural gene. Hemophilia

; ;

<u>۲</u>

Ĩ

1

....

....

Growth and Development Study, Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study, Multicenter Hemophilia Cohort Study, San Francisco City Cohort, ALIVE Study." Science 273(5283): 1856-62.

Derdeyn, C. A., C. Costello, et al. (1999). "Correlation between circulating stromal cell-derived factor 1 levels and CD4+ cell count in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected individuals." AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 15(12): 1063-71.

Desrosiers, R. C. (1992). "HIV with multiple gene deletions as a live attenuated vaccine for AIDS." AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 8(8): 1457.

Desrosiers, R. C., J. D. Lifson, et al. (1998). "Identification of highly attenuated mutants of simian immunodeficiency virus." J Virol 72(2): 1431-7.

Dhawan, S., R. K. Puri, et al. (1997). "Human immunodeficiency virus-1-tat protein induces the cell surface expression of endothelial leukocyte adhesion molecule-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1, and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in human endothelial cells." Blood 90(4): 1535-44.

Dimitrov, D. S., H. Golding, et al. (1991). "Initial stages of HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein-mediated cell fusion monitored by a new assay based on redistribution of fluorescent dyes." AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 7(10): 799-805.

1

2

٦.

2

11

° i

Dingwall, C., I. Ernberg, et al. (1989). "Human immunodeficiency virus 1 tat protein binds trans-activation-responsive region (TAR) RNA in vitro." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86(18): 6925-9.

Dittmer, U., T. Nisslein, et al. (1995). "Cellular immune response of rhesus monkeys infected with a partially attenuated nef deletion mutant of the simian immunodeficiency virus." Virology 212(2): 392-7.

Doms, R. W., P. L. Earl, et al. (1991). "The assembly of the HIV-1 env glycoprotein into dimers and tetramers." Adv Exp Med Biol 300: 203-19; discussion 220-1.

Dong, X. N., X. Chen, et al. (2005). "Short communication: HIV type 1 phenotype, tropism, and sequence patterns: association and preference." AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 21(3): 234-8.

Donzella, G. A., D. Schols, et al. (1998). "AMD3100, a small molecule inhibitor of HIV-1 entry via the CXCR4 co-receptor." Nat Med 4(1): 72-7.

Dorr, A., V. Kiermer, et al. (2002). "Transcriptional synergy between Tat and PCAF is dependent on the binding of acetylated Tat to the PCAF bromodomain." Embo J 21(11): 2715-23.

Douek, D. C., L. J. Picker, et al. (2003). "T cell dynamics in HIV-1 infection." Annu Rev Immunol 21: 265-304.

Dumonceaux, J., S. Nisole, et al. (1998). "Spontaneous mutations in the env gene of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 NDK isolate are associated with a CD4-independent entry phenotype." J Virol 72(1): 512-9.

Dunn, B. M., M. M. Goodenow, et al. (2002). "Retroviral proteases." Genome Biol 3(4): REVIEWS3006.

Earl, P. L., R. W. Doms, et al. (1990). "Oligomeric structure of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87(2): 648-52.

Eckstein, D. A., M. L. Penn, et al. (2001). "HIV-1 actively replicates in naive CD4(+) T cells residing within human lymphoid tissues." Immunity 15(4): 671-82.

Eckstein, D. A., M. P. Sherman, et al. (2001a). "HIV-1 Vpr enhances viral burden by facilitating infection of tissue macrophages but not nondividing CD4+ T cells." J Exp Med 194(10): 1407-19.

Edelstein, L. C., A. Pan, et al. (2005). "Chromatin modification and the endothelialspecific activation of the E-selectin gene." J Biol Chem 280(12): 11192-202.

<u>۲</u>

1

1

El-Hage, N., J. A. Gurwell, et al. (2005). "Synergistic increases in intracellular Ca2+, and the release of MCP-1, RANTES, and IL-6 by astrocytes treated with opiates and HIV-1 Tat." Glia 50(2): 91-106.

Emi, N., T. Friedmann, et al. (1991). "Pseudotype formation of murine leukemia virus with the G protein of vesicular stomatitis virus." J Virol 65(3): 1202-7.

Endo-Munoz, L., T. Warby, et al. (2005). "Phosphorylation of HIV Tat by PKR increases interaction with TAR RNA and enhances transcription." Virol J 2: 17.

Ensoli, B., L. Buonaguro, et al. (1993). "Release, uptake, and effects of extracellular human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat protein on cell growth and viral transactivation." J Virol 67(1): 277-87.

Este, J. A., D. Schols, et al. (1997). "Development of resistance of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 to dextran sulfate associated with the emergence of specific mutations in the envelope gp120 glycoprotein." Mol Pharmacol 52(1): 98-104.

Estes, J. D., B. F. Keele, et al. (2002). "Follicular dendritic cell-mediated upregulation of CXCR4 expression on CD4 T cells and HIV pathogenesis." J Immunol 169(5): 2313-22. Fackler, O. T. and A. S. Baur (2002). "Live and let die: Nef functions beyond HIV replication." Immunity 16(4): 493-7.

Falini, B., L. Flenghi, et al. (1993). "PG-M1: a new monoclonal antibody directed against a fixative-resistant epitope on the macrophage-restricted form of the CD68 molecule." Am J Pathol 142(5): 1359-72.

Fanales-Belasio, E., S. Moretti, et al. (2002). "Native HIV-1 Tat protein targets monocyte-derived dendritic cells and enhances their maturation, function, and antigen-specific T cell responses." J Immunol 168(1): 197-206.

Farnet, C. M. and W. A. Haseltine (1991). "Determination of viral proteins present in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complex." J Virol 65(4): 1910-5.

Farzan, M., G. J. Babcock, et al. (2002). "The role of post-translational modifications of the CXCR4 amino terminus in stromal-derived factor 1 alpha association and HIV-1 entry." J Biol Chem 277(33): 29484-9.

Fauci, A. S. (1996). "Host factors and the pathogenesis of HIV-induced disease." Nature 384(6609): 529-34.

Feng, Y., C. C. Broder, et al. (1996). "HIV-1 entry cofactor: functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor." Science 272(5263): 872-7.

Fenouillet, E., B. Clerget-Raslain, et al. (1989). "Role of N-linked glycans in the interaction between the envelope glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus and its CD4 cellular receptor. Structural enzymatic analysis." J Exp Med 169(3): 807-22.

Finkel, T. H., G. Tudor-Williams, et al. (1995). "Apoptosis occurs predominantly in bystander cells and not in productively infected cells of HIV- and SIV-infected lymph nodes." Nat Med 1(2): 129-34.

Fischer, U₋, S. Meyer, et al. (1994). "Evidence that HIV-1 Rev directly promotes the nuclear export of unspliced RNA." Embo J 13(17): 4105-12.

Fisher, A. G., E. Collalti, et al. (1985). "A molecular clone of HTLV-III with biological activity." Nature 316(6025): 262-5.

Fortin, J. F., C. Barat, et al. (2004). "Hyper-responsiveness to stimulation of human immunodeficiency virus-infected CD4+ T cells requires Nef and Tat virus gene products and results from higher NFAT, NF-kappaB, and AP-1 induction." J Biol Chem 279(38): 39520-31.

Fotopoulos, G., A. Harari, et al. (2002). "Transepithelial transport of HIV-1 by M cells is receptor-mediated." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(14): 9410-4.

Fox, C. and M. Cottler-Fox (1993). In situ hybridization for the detection of HIV RNA in cells and tissues. Current Protocols in Immunology. J. Coligan, A. Kruisbeek, D. Margulies, E. Shevach and S. W. Wiley, NY.

Fox, C. H. and M. Cottler-Fox (1993a). "In situ hybridization in HIV research." Microscop Res Tech 25(1): 78-84.

Franke, E. K., H. E. Yuan, et al. (1994). "Specific incorporation of cyclophilin A into HIV-1 virions." Nature 372(6504): 359-62.

Fritzsching, B., B. Schwer, et al. (2002). "Release and intercellular transfer of cell surface CD81 via microparticles." J Immunol 169(10): 5531-7.

Fujinaga, K., T. P. Cujec, et al. (1998). "The ability of positive transcription elongation factor B to transactivate human immunodeficiency virus transcription depends on a functional kinase domain, cyclin T1, and Tat." J Virol 72(9): 7154-9.

Fulco, M., R. L. Schiltz, et al. (2003). "Sir2 regulates skeletal muscle differentiation as a potential sensor of the redox state." Mol Cell 12(1): 51-62.

Gait, M. J. and J. Karn (1993). "RNA recognition by the human immunodeficiency virus Tat and Rev proteins." Trends Biochem Sci 18(7): 255-9.

Gallo, R. C., S. Z. Salahuddin, et al. (1984). "Frequent detection and isolation of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and at risk for AIDS." Science 224(4648): 500-3.

Garber, M. E. and K. A. Jones (1999). "HIV-1 Tat: coping with negative elongation factors." Curr Opin Immunol 11(4): 460-5.

Garcia, J. V. and A. D. Miller (1991). "Serine phosphorylation-independent downregulation of cell-surface CD4 by nef." Nature 350(6318): 508-11.

Gartner, S., P. Markovits, et al. (1986). "Virus isolation from and identification of HTLV-III/LAV-producing cells in brain tissue from a patient with AIDS." Jama 256(17): 2365-71.

Gartner, S., P. Markovits, et al. (1986a). "The role of mononuclear phagocytes in HTLV-III/LAV infection." Science 233(4760): 215-9.

Gasser, S. M. and M. M. Cockell (2001). "The molecular biology of the SIR proteins." Gene 279(1): 1-16. Geleziunas, R., W. Xu, et al. (2001). "HIV-1 Nef inhibits ASK1-dependent death signalling providing a potential mechanism for protecting the infected host cell." Nature 410(6830): 834-8.

Gendelman, H. E., J. M. Orenstein, et al. (1989). "The macrophage in the persistence and pathogenesis of HIV infection." Aids 3(8): 475-95.

Gendelman, H. E., J. M. Orenstein, et al. (1988). "Efficient isolation and propagation of human immunodeficiency virus on recombinant colony-stimulating factor 1-treated monocytes." J Exp Med 167(4): 1428-41.

Ghaffari, G., D. L. Tuttle, et al. (2005). "Complex determinants in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope gp120 mediate CXCR4-dependent infection of macrophages." J Virol 79(21): 13250-61.

Ghezzi, S., D. M. Noonan, et al. (2000). "Inhibition of CXCR4-dependent HIV-1 infection by extracellular HIV-1 Tat." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 270(3): 992-6.

Ghosh, S. and M. Karin (2002). "Missing pieces in the NF-kappaB puzzle." Cell 109 Suppl: S81-96.

Gibbs, J. S., A. A. Lackner, et al. (1995). "Progression to AIDS in the absence of a gene for vpr or vpx." J Virol 69(4): 2378-83.

Gleichmann, M., C. Gillen, et al. (2000). "Cloning and characterization of SDF-1gamma, a novel SDF-1 chemokine transcript with developmentally regulated expression in the nervous system." Eur J Neurosci 12(6): 1857-66.

Glushakova, S., B. Baibakov, et al. (1995). "Infection of human tonsil histocultures: a model for HIV pathogenesis." Nat Med 1(12): 1320-2.

Goffinet, C. and O. T. Keppler. (2007). PNAS In press.

Goldsmith, M. A., M. T. Warmerdam, et al. (1995). "Dissociation of the CD4 downregulation and viral infectivity enhancement functions of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef." J Virol 69(7): 4112-21.

Gorry, P. R., G. Bristol, et al. (2001). "Macrophage tropism of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates from brain and lymphoid tissues predicts neurotropism independent of coreceptor specificity." J Virol 75(21): 10073-89.

Gorry, P. R., J. Sterjovski, et al. (2004). "The role of viral coreceptors and enhanced macrophage tropism in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 disease progression." Sex Health 1(1): 23-34.
Gown, A. M., T. Tsukada, et al. (1986). "Human atherosclerosis. II. Immunocytochemical analysis of the cellular composition of human atherosclerotic lesions." Am J Pathol 125(1): 191-207.

Green, M. and P. M. Loewenstein (1988). "Autonomous functional domains of chemically synthesized human immunodeficiency virus tat trans-activator protein." Cell 55(6): 1179-88.

Greene, W. C. and B. M. Peterlin (2002). "Charting HIV's remarkable voyage through the cell: Basic science as a passport to future therapy." Nat Med 8(7): 673-80.

Grivel, J. C. and L. B. Margolis (1999). "CCR5- and CXCR4-tropic HIV-1 are equally cytopathic for their T-cell targets in human lymphoid tissue." Nat Med 5(3): 344-6.

Grivel, J. C., M. L. Penn, et al. (2000). "Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 coreceptor preferences determine target T-cell depletion and cellular tropism in human lymphoid tissue." J Virol 74(11): 5347-51.

Grubisha, O., B. C. Smith, et al. (2005). "Small molecule regulation of Sir2 protein deacetylases." Febs J 272(18): 4607-16.

Gruters, R. A., J. J. Neefjes, et al. (1987). "Interference with HIV-induced syncytium formation and viral infectivity by inhibitors of trimming glucosidase." Nature 330(6143): 74-7.

Gupta, S. K., P. G. Lysko, et al. (1998). "Chemokine receptors in human endothelial cells. Functional expression of CXCR4 and its transcriptional regulation by inflammatory cytokines." J Biol Chem 273(7): 4282-7.

Hartmann, T. N., J. A. Burger, et al. (2005). "CXCR4 chemokine receptor and integrin signaling co-operate in mediating adhesion and chemoresistance in small cell lung cancer (SCLC) cells." Oncogene 24(27): 4462-71.

Hayden, M. S., E. H. Palacios, et al. (2003). "Real-time quantitation of HIV-1 p24 and SIV p27 using fluorescence-linked antigen quantification assays." Aids 17(4): 629-31.

Hayden, M. S., E. H. Palacios, et al. (2003). "Real-time quantitation of HIV-1 p24 and SIV p27 using fluorescence-linked antigen quantification assays." Aids 17(4): 629-31.

Helbig, G., K. W. Christopherson, 2nd, et al. (2003). "NF-kappaB promotes breast cancer cell migration and metastasis by inducing the expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR4." J Biol Chem 278(24): 21631-8.

Hernandez, P. A., R. J. Gorlin, et al. (2003). "Mutations in the chemokine receptor gene CXCR4 are associated with WHIM syndrome, a combined immunodeficiency disease." Nat Genet 34(1): 70-4.

Hirata, H., A. Takahashi, et al. (1998). "Caspases are activated in a branched protease cascade and control distinct downstream processes in Fas-induced apoptosis." J Exp Med 187(4): 587-600.

Hofman, F. M., P. Chen, et al. (1999). "HIV-1 tat protein induces the production of interleukin-8 by human brain-derived endothelial cells." J Neuroimmunol 94(1-2): 28-39.

Holness, C. L. and D. L. Simmons (1993). "Molecular cloning of CD68, a human macrophage marker related to lysosomal glycoproteins." Blood 81(6): 1607-13.

Hoshino, Y., D. B. Tse, et al. (2004). "Mycobacterium tuberculosis-induced CXCR4 and chemokine expression leads to preferential X4 HIV-1 replication in human macrophages." J Immunol 172(10): 6251-8.

Howard, T. L., D. R. Stauffer, et al. (2001). "CHMP1 functions as a member of a newly defined family of vesicle trafficking proteins." J Cell Sci 114(Pt 13): 2395-404.

Howitz, K. T., K. J. Bitterman, et al. (2003). "Small molecule activators of sirtuins extend Saccharomyces cerevisiae lifespan." Nature 425(6954): 191-6.

Hrecka, K., T. Swigut, et al. (2005). "Nef proteins from diverse groups of primate lentiviruses downmodulate CXCR4 to inhibit migration to the chemokine stromal derived factor 1." J Virol 79(16): 10650-9.

Huang, L., I. Bosch, et al. (1998). "Tat protein induces human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) coreceptors and promotes infection with both macrophage-tropic and T-lymphotropic HIV-1 strains." J Virol 72(11): 8952-60.

Hunter, E. and R. Swanstrom (1990). "Retrovirus envelope glycoproteins." Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 157: 187-253.

Igarashi, T., C. R. Brown, et al. (2002). "Rapid and irreversible CD4+ T-cell depletion induced by the highly pathogenic simian/human immunodeficiency virus SHIV(DH12R) is systemic and synchronous." J Virol 76(1): 379-91.

Igarashi, T., C. R. Brown, et al. (2001). "Macrophage are the principal reservoir and sustain high virus loads in rhesus macaques after the depletion of CD4+ T cells by a highly pathogenic simian immunodeficiency virus/HIV type 1 chimera (SHIV): Implications for HIV-1 infections of humans." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(2): 658-63.

190

:

1

1

•~•.... 1 ,

į. .

1

Igarashi, T., O. K. Donau, et al. (2003). "Macrophage-tropic simian/human immunodeficiency virus chimeras use CXCR4, not CCR5, for infections of rhesus macaque peripheral blood mononuclear cells and alveolar macrophages." J Virol 77(24): 13042-52.

Izmailova, E., F. M. Bertley, et al. (2003). "HIV-1 Tat reprograms immature dendritic cells to express chemoattractants for activated T cells and macrophages." Nat Med 9(2): 191-7.

Jayakumar, P., I. Berger, et al. (2005). "Tissue-resident macrophages are productively infected ex vivo by primary X4 isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1." J Virol 79(8): 5220-6.

Jekle, A., O. T. Keppler, et al. (2003). "In vivo evolution of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 toward increased pathogenicity through CXCR4-mediated killing of uninfected CD4 T cells." J Virol 77(10): 5846-54.

Jekle, A., B. Schramm, et al. (2002). "Coreceptor phenotype of natural human immunodeficiency virus with nef deleted evolves in vivo, leading to increased virulence." J Virol 76(14): 6966-73.

Johnson, B. K., G. A. Stone, et al. (1993). "Long-term observations of human immunodeficiency virus-infected chimpanzees." AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 9(4): 375-8.

Johnson, R. P. and R. C. Desrosiers (1998). "Protective immunity induced by live attenuated simian immunodeficiency virus." Curr Opin Immunol 10(4): 436-43.

Jones, K. A. (1993). "Tat and the HIV-1 promoter." Curr Opin Cell Biol 5(3): 461-8.

Jordan, A., D. Bisgrove, et al. (2003). "HIV reproducibly establishes a latent infection after acute infection of T cells in vitro." Embo J 22(8): 1868-77.

Jordan, A., D. Bisgrove, et al. (2003). "HIV reproducibly establishes a latent infection after acute infection of T cells in vitro." Embo J 22(8): 1868-77.

Jordan, A., P. Defechereux, et al. (2001). "The site of HIV-1 integration in the human genome determines basal transcriptional activity and response to Tat transactivation." Embo J 20(7): 1726-38.

Jordan, A., P. Defechereux, et al. (2001). "The site of HIV-1 integration in the human genome determines basal transcriptional activity and response to Tat transactivation." Embo J 20(7): 1726-38.

1

1

L

Juffermans, N. P., S. Weijer, et al. (2002). "Expression of human immunodeficiency virus coreceptors CXC chemokine receptor 4 and CC chemokine receptor 5 on monocytes is down-regulated during human endotoxemia." J Infect Dis 185(7): 986-9.

Kabat, D., S. L. Kozak, et al. (1994). "Differences in CD4 dependence for infectivity of laboratory-adapted and primary patient isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1." J Virol 68(4): 2570-7.

Kaehlcke, K., A. Dorr, et al. (2003). "Acetylation of Tat defines a cyclinT1independent step in HIV transactivation." Mol Cell 12(1): 167-76.

Kamel, C., M. Abrol, et al. (2006). "SirT1 fails to affect p53-mediated biological functions." Aging Cell 5(1): 81-8.

Kamura, T., D. Burian, et al. (2001). "Cloning and characterization of ELL-associated proteins EAP45 and EAP20. a role for yeast EAP-like proteins in regulation of gene expression by glucose." J Biol Chem 276(19): 16528-33.

Kao, S. Y., A. F. Calman, et al. (1987). "Anti-termination of transcription within the long terminal repeat of HIV-1 by tat gene product." Nature 330(6147): 489-93.

Karn, J. (1999). "Tackling Tat." J Mol Biol 293(2): 235-54.

Kaul, M., G. A. Garden, et al. (2001). "Pathways to neuronal injury and apoptosis in HIV-associated dementia." Nature 410(6831): 988-94.

Kelly, G. D., B. Ensoli, et al. (1998). "Purified Tat induces inflammatory response genes in Kaposi's sarcoma cells." Aids 12(14): 1753-61.

Keppler, O. T., F. J. Welte, et al. (2002). "Progress toward a human CD4/CCR5 transgenic rat model for de novo infection by human immunodeficiency virus type 1." J Exp Med 195(6): 719-36.

Keppler, O. T., W. Yonemoto, et al. (2001). "Susceptibility of rat-derived cells to replication by human immunodeficiency virus type 1." J Virol 75(17): 8063-73.

Kiernan, R., V. Bres, et al. (2003). "Post-activation turn-off of NF-kappa B-dependent transcription is regulated by acetylation of p65." J Biol Chem 278(4): 2758-66.

Kiernan, R. E., C. Vanhulle, et al. (1999). "HIV-1 tat transcriptional activity is regulated by acetylation." Embo J 18(21): 6106-18.

Kim, B. O., Y. Liu, et al. (2004). "Induction of C chemokine XCL1 (lymphotactin/single C motif-1 alpha/activation-induced, T cell-derived and

5 -

23

1

· ····

chemokine-related cytokine) expression by HIV-1 Tat protein." J Immunol 172(3): 1888-95.

Kinter, A., J. Arthos, et al. (2000). "Chemokines, cytokines and HIV: a complex network of interactions that influence HIV pathogenesis." Immunol Rev 177: 88-98.

Kinter, A. L., G. Poli, et al. (1995). "HIV replication in IL-2-stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells is driven in an autocrine/paracrine manner by endogenous cytokines." J Immunol 154(5): 2448-59.

Kirchhoff, F., T. C. Greenough, et al. (1995). "Brief report: absence of intact nef sequences in a long-term survivor with nonprogressive HIV-1 infection." N Engl J Med 332(4): 228-32.

Koch, M., M. Pancera, et al. (2003). "Structure-based, targeted deglycosylation of HIV-1 gp120 and effects on neutralization sensitivity and antibody recognition." Virology 313(2): 387-400.

Koot, M., I. P. Keet, et al. (1993). "Prognostic value of HIV-1 syncytium-inducing phenotype for rate of CD4+ cell depletion and progression to AIDS." Ann Intern Med 118(9): 681-8.

5 7

- - -

I.

Í

Ł.

•

Kreisberg, J. F., D. Kwa, et al. (2001). "Cytopathicity of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 primary isolates depends on coreceptor usage and not patient disease status." J Virol 75(18): 8842-7.

Kreisberg, J. F., W. Yonemoto, et al. (2006). "Endogenous factors enhance HIV infection of tissue naive CD4 T cells by stimulating high molecular mass APOBEC3G complex formation." J Exp Med 203(4): 865-70.

Kulkosky, J. and A. M. Skalka (1990). "HIV DNA integration: observations and interferences." J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 3(9): 839-51.

Kutsch, O., J. Oh, et al. (2000). "Induction of the chemokines interleukin-8 and IP-10 by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 tat in astrocytes." J Virol 74(19): 9214-21.

Kwong, P. D., R. Wyatt, et al. (1998). "Structure of an HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein in complex with the CD4 receptor and a neutralizing human antibody." Nature 393(6686): 648-59.

Lacey, S. F., C. B. McDanal, et al. (1997). "The CXC chemokine stromal cell-derived factor 1 is not responsible for CD8+ T cell suppression of syncytia-inducing strains of HIV-1." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94(18): 9842-7.

۲ r

7 -

ľ

14

L

x, e 1

?____

ſ

1

بيد به د

T

12.2

ĺ

Langford, D., V. J. Sanders, et al. (2002). "Expression of stromal cell-derived factor 1alpha protein in HIV encephalitis." J Neuroimmunol 127(1-2): 115-26.

Langley, E., M. Pearson, et al. (2002). "Human SIR2 deacetylates p53 and antagonizes PML/p53-induced cellular senescence." Embo J 21(10): 2383-96.

Lapham, C. K., M. B. Zaitseva, et al. (1999). "Fusion of monocytes and macrophages with HIV-1 correlates with biochemical properties of CXCR4 and CCR5." Nat Med 5(3): 303-8.

Lawn, S. D., S. T. Butera, et al. (2001). "Contribution of immune activation to the pathogenesis and transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection." Clin Microbiol Rev 14(4): 753-77, table of contents.

Le Borgne, S., M. Fevrier, et al. (2000). "CD8(+)-Cell antiviral factor activity is not restricted to human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-specific T cells and can block HIV replication after initiation of reverse transcription." J Virol 74(10): 4456-64.

Learmont, J. C., A. F. Geczy, et al. (1999). "Immunologic and virologic status after 14 to 18 years of infection with an attenuated strain of HIV-1. A report from the Sydney Blood Bank Cohort." N Engl J Med 340(22): 1715-22. Lee, B., B. J. Doranz, et al. (1998). "An intricate Web: chemokine receptors, HIV-1 and hematopoiesis." Stem Cells 16(2): 79-88.

Lee, C., Q. H. Liu, et al. (2003). "Macrophage activation through CCR5- and CXCR4-mediated gp120-elicited signaling pathways." J Leukoc Biol 74(5): 676-82.

Lee, Y. W., S. Y. Eum, et al. (2004). "Estrogen-mediated protection against HIV Tat protein-induced inflammatory pathways in human vascular endothelial cells." Cardiovasc Res 63(1): 139-48.

Lee, Y. W., S. Y. Eum, et al. (2004). "Estrogen-mediated protection against HIV Tat protein-induced inflammatory pathways in human vascular endothelial cells." Cardiovasc Res 63(1): 139-48.

Lee, Y. W., A. A. Hirani, et al. (2005). "Human immunodeficiency virus-1 Tat protein up-regulates interleukin-6 and interleukin-8 expression in human breast cancer cells." Inflamm Res 54(9): 380-9.

Levy, J. A., A. D. Hoffman, et al. (1984). "Isolation of lymphocytopathic retroviruses from San Francisco patients with AIDS." Science 225(4664): 840-2.

Li, C. J., D. J. Friedman, et al. (1995). "Induction of apoptosis in uninfected lymphocytes by HIV-1 Tat protein." Science 268(5209): 429-31.

198

Li, L. and S. N. Cohen (1996). "Tsg101: a novel tumor susceptibility gene isolated by controlled homozygous functional knockout of allelic loci in mammalian cells." Cell 85(3): 319-29.

Li, S., J. Juarez, et al. (1999). "Persistent CCR5 utilization and enhanced macrophage tropism by primary blood human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates from advanced stages of disease and comparison to tissue-derived isolates." J Virol 73(12): 9741-55.

Li, Y., L. Luo, et al. (1993). "Glycosylation is necessary for the correct folding of human immunodeficiency virus gp120 in CD4 binding." J Virol 67(1): 584-8.

Li, Y., M. A. Rey-Cuille, et al. (2001). "N-linked glycosylation in the V3 region of HIV type 1 surface antigen modulates coreceptor usage in viral infection." AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 17(16): 1473-9.

Lim, S. P. and A. Garzino-Demo (2000). "The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat protein up-regulates the promoter activity of the beta-chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 in the human astrocytoma cell line U-87 MG: role of SP-1, AP-1, and NF-kappaB consensus sites." J Virol 74(4): 1632-40. Lin, Y. L., P. Portales, et al. (2005). "CXCR4 overexpression during the course of HIV-1 infection correlates with the emergence of X4 strains." J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 39(5): 530-6.

Liu, O. J. (2005). "The vins of T cell activation." Sci. STKE 2005, re 1.

Liu, Q. H., D. A. Williams, et al. (2000). "HIV-1 gp120 and chemokines activate ion channels in primary macrophages through CCR5 and CXCR4 stimulation." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(9): 4832-7.

Liu, X., M. Jana, et al. (2002). "Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) tat induces nitric-oxide synthase in human astroglia." J Biol Chem 277(42): 39312-9.

Llano, A., J. Barretina, et al. (2001). "Interleukin-7 in plasma correlates with CD4 Tcell depletion and may be associated with emergence of syncytium-inducing variants in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-positive individuals." J Virol 75(21): 10319-25.

Losman, B., A. Bolmstedt, et al. (2001). "Protection of neutralization epitopes in the V3 loop of oligomeric human immunodeficiency virus type 1 glycoprotein 120 by N-linked oligosaccharides in the V1 region." AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 17(11): 1067-76.

200

Lu, M., S. C. Blacklow, et al. (1995). "A trimeric structural domain of the HIV-1 transmembrane glycoprotein." Nat Struct Biol 2(12): 1075-82.

Luecke, H. F. and K. R. Yamamoto (2005). "The glucocorticoid receptor blocks P-TEFb recruitment by NFkappaB to effect promoter-specific transcriptional repression." Genes Dev 19(9): 1116-27.

Lusic, M., A. Marcello, et al. (2003). "Regulation of HIV-1 gene expression by histone acetylation and factor recruitment at the LTR promoter." Embo J 22(24): 6550-61.

Mackewicz, C. E., D. J. Blackbourn, et al. (1995). "CD8+ T cells suppress human immunodeficiency virus replication by inhibiting viral transcription." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92(6): 2308-12.

Mackewicz, C. E., H. W. Ortega, et al. (1991). "CD8+ cell anti-HIV activity correlates with the clinical state of the infected individual." J Clin Invest 87(4): 1462-6.

Mackewicz, C. E., B. K. Patterson, et al. (2000). "CD8(+) cell noncytotoxic antihuman immunodeficiency virus response inhibits expression of viral RNA but not reverse transcription or provirus integration." J Gen Virol 81(Pt 5): 1261-4. Mahmoudi, T., M. Parra, et al. (2006). "The SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complex is a cofactor for Tat transactivation of the HIV promoter." J Biol Chem 281(29): 19960-8.

Marechal, V., F. Arenzana-Seisdedos, et al. (1999). "Opposite effects of SDF-1 on human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication." J Virol 73(5): 3608-15.

Margolis, L. B., S. Glushakova, et al. (1995). "Syncytium formation in cultured human lymphoid tissue: fusion of implanted HIV glycoprotein 120/41-expressing cells with native CD4+ cells." AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 11(6): 697-704.

Mariani, R., F. Kirchhoff, et al. (1996). "High frequency of defective nef alleles in a long-term survivor with nonprogressive human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection." J Virol 70(11): 7752-64.

Marone, G., G. Florio, et al. (2001). "Dysregulation of the IgE/Fc epsilon RI network in HIV-1 infection." J Allergy Clin Immunol 107(1): 22-30.

Martin, J. C. and J. C. Bandres (1999). "Cells of the monocyte-macrophage lineage and pathogenesis of HIV-1 infection." J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 22(5): 413-29.

Martin-Serrano, J., T. Zang, et al. (2001). "HIV-1 and Ebola virus encode small peptide motifs that recruit Tsg101 to sites of particle assembly to facilitate egress." Nat Med 7(12): 1313-9.

Matsui, M., R. J. Warburton, et al. (1996). "Effects of HIV-1 Tat on expression of HLA class I molecules." J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 11(3): 233-40.

McBurney, M. W., X. Yang, et al. (2003). "The mammalian SIR2alpha protein has a role in embryogenesis and gametogenesis." Mol Cell Biol 23(1): 38-54.

McCune, J. M. (2001). "The dynamics of CD4+ T-cell depletion in HIV disease." Nature 410(6831): 974-9.

McManus, C. M., K. Weidenheim, et al. (2000). "Chemokine and chemokinereceptor expression in human glial elements: induction by the HIV protein, Tat, and chemokine autoregulation." Am J Pathol 156(4): 1441-53.

McMichael, A. J. and S. L. Rowland-Jones (2001). "Cellular immune responses to HIV." Nature 410(6831): 980-7.

Mengozzi, M., C. De Filippi, et al. (1999). "Human immunodeficiency virus replication induces monocyte chemotactic protein-1 in human macrophages and U937 promonocytic cells." Blood 93(6): 1851-7.

Michael, N. L., G. Chang, et al. (1995). "Defective accessory genes in a human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected long-term survivor lacking recoverable virus." J Virol 69(7): 4228-36.

Michel, N., K. Ganter, et al. (2006). "The Nef protein of human immunodeficiency virus is a broad-spectrum modulator of chemokine receptor cell surface levels that acts independently of classical motifs for receptor endocytosis and Galphai signaling." Mol Biol Cell 17(8): 3578-90.

Micklem, K., E. Rigney, et al. (1989). "A human macrophage-associated antigen (CD68) detected by six different monoclonal antibodies." Br J Haematol 73(1): 6-11.

Miller, M. D., M. T. Warmerdam, et al. (1994). "The human immunodeficiency virus-1 nef gene product: a positive factor for viral infection and replication in primary lymphocytes and macrophages." J Exp Med 179(1): 101-13.

Mills, J., R. Desrosiers, et al. (2000). "Live attenuated HIV vaccines: a proposal for further research and development." AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 16(15): 1453-61.

Min, J., J. Landry, et al. (2001). "Crystal structure of a SIR2 homolog-NAD complex." Cell 105(2): 269-79.

204

Montefiori, D. C., W. E. Robinson, Jr., et al. (1988). "Role of protein N-glycosylation in pathogenesis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85(23): 9248-52.

Moore, J. P., A. Trkola, et al. (1997). "Co-receptors for HIV-1 entry." Curr Opin Immunol 9(4): 551-62.

Moriuchi, M., H. Moriuchi, et al. (1997). "Cloning and analysis of the promoter region of CXCR4, a coreceptor for HIV-1 entry." J Immunol 159(9): 4322-9.

Moriuchi, M., H. Moriuchi, et al. (1998). "Exposure to bacterial products renders macrophages highly susceptible to T-tropic HIV-1." J Clin Invest 102(8): 1540-50.

Mujtaba, S., Y. He, et al. (2002). "Structural basis of lysine-acetylated HIV-1 Tat recognition by PCAF bromodomain." Mol Cell 9(3): 575-86.

Nabatov, A. A., G. Pollakis, et al. (2004). "Intrapatient alterations in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 V1V2 and V3 regions differentially modulate coreceptor usage, virus inhibition by CC/CXC chemokines, soluble CD4, and the b12 and 2G12 monoclonal antibodies." J Virol 78(1): 524-30.

Nabel, G. and D. Baltimore (1987). "An inducible transcription factor activates expression of human immunodeficiency virus in T cells." Nature 326(6114): 711-3.

Naif, H. M., A. L. Cunningham, et al. (2002). "A human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate from an infected person homozygous for CCR5Delta32 exhibits dual tropism by infecting macrophages and MT2 cells via CXCR4." J Virol 76(7): 3114-24.

Nakatani, Y. (2002). "HIV-1 transcription: activation mediated by acetylation of Tat." Structure 10(4): 443-4.

Nath, A., K. Conant, et al. (1999). "Transient exposure to HIV-1 Tat protein results in cytokine production in macrophages and astrocytes. A hit and run phenomenon." J Biol Chem 274(24): 17098-102.

Navia, M. A. and B. M. McKeever (1990). "A role for the aspartyl protease from the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) in the orchestration of virus assembly." Ann N Y Acad Sci 616: 73-85.

Nekhai, S., M. Zhou, et al. (2002). "HIV-1 Tat-associated RNA polymerase Cterminal domain kinase, CDK2, phosphorylates CDK7 and stimulates Tat-mediated transcription." Biochem J 364(Pt 3): 649-57.

Oberlin, E., A. Amara, et al. (1996). "The CXC chemokine SDF-1 is the ligand for LESTR/fusin and prevents infection by T-cell-line-adapted HIV-1." Nature 382(6594): 833-5.

206

Odemis, V., B. Moepps, et al. (2002). "Interleukin-6 and cAMP induce stromal cellderived factor-1 chemotaxis in astroglia by up-regulating CXCR4 cell surface expression. Implications for brain inflammation." J Biol Chem 277(42): 39801-8.

Okada, T., V. N. Ngo, et al. (2002). "Chemokine requirements for B cell entry to lymph nodes and Peyer's patches." J Exp Med 196(1): 65-75.

Orenstein, J. M., C. Fox, et al. (1997). "Macrophages as a source of HIV during opportunistic infections." Science 276(5320): 1857-61.

Ott, D. E., L. V. Coren, et al. (1996). "Cytoskeletal proteins inside human immunodeficiency virus type 1 virions." J Virol 70(11): 7734-43.

Ott, M., S. Emiliani, et al. (1997). "Immune hyperactivation of HIV-1-infected T cells mediated by Tat and the CD28 pathway." Science 275(5305): 1481-5.

Ott, M., J. L. Lovett, et al. (1998). "Superinduction of IL-8 in T cells by HIV-1 Tat protein is mediated through NF-kappaB factors." J Immunol 160(6): 2872-80.

Ott, M., M. Schnolzer, et al. (1999). "Acetylation of the HIV-1 Tat protein by p300 is important for its transcriptional activity." Curr Biol 9(24): 1489-92.

Pagans, S., A. Pedal, et al. (2005). "SIRT1 regulates HIV transcription via Tat deacetylation." PLoS Biol 3(2): e41.

Pal, R., V. S. Kalyanaraman, et al. (1989). "Processing and secretion of envelope glycoproteins of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in the presence of trimming glucosidase inhibitor deoxynojirimycin." Intervirology 30(1): 27-35.

Pauza, C. D., P. Trivedi, et al. (2000). "Vaccination with tat toxoid attenuates disease in simian/HIV-challenged macaques." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(7): 3515-9.

Paxton, W. A. and S. Kang (1998). "Chemokine receptor allelic polymorphisms: relationships to HIV resistance and disease progression." Semin Immunol 10(3): 187-94.

Pear, W. S., G. P. Nolan, et al. (1993). "Production of high-titer helper-free retroviruses by transient transfection." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90(18): 8392-6.

Peng, H., Y. Huang, et al. (2004). "Stromal cell-derived factor 1-mediated CXCR4 signaling in rat and human cortical neural progenitor cells." J Neurosci Res 76(1): 35-50.

Penn, M. L., J. C. Grivel, et al. (1999). "CXCR4 utilization is sufficient to trigger CD4+ T cell depletion in HIV-1-infected human lymphoid tissue." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(2): 663-8.

Perelson, A. S., A. U. Neumann, et al. (1996). "HIV-1 dynamics in vivo: virion clearance rate, infected cell life-span, and viral generation time." Science 271: 1582-6.

Persidsky, Y. and H. E. Gendelman (2003). "Mononuclear phagocyte immunity and the neuropathogenesis of HIV-1 infection." J Leukoc Biol 74(5): 691-701.

Peruzzi, F. (2006). "The multiple functions of HIV-1 Tat: proliferation versus apoptosis." Front Biosci 11: 708-17.

Peter, F. (1998). "HIV nef: the mother of all evil?" Immunity 9(4): 433-7.

Pfaffl, M. W. (2001). "A new mathematical model for relative quantification in realtime RT-PCR." Nucleic Acids Res 29(9): e45.

Polacino, P. S., H. A. Liang, et al. (1995). "Formation of simian immunodeficiency virus long terminal repeat circles in resting T cells requires both T cell receptor- and IL-2-dependent activation." J Exp Med 182(2): 617-21.

Pollakis, G., S. Kang, et al. (2001). "N-linked glycosylation of the HIV type-1 gp120 envelope glycoprotein as a major determinant of CCR5 and CXCR4 coreceptor utilization." J Biol Chem 276(16): 13433-41.

Polzer, S., M. T. Dittmar, et al. (2001). "Loss of N-linked glycans in the V3-loop region of gp120 is correlated to an enhanced infectivity of HIV-1." Glycobiology 11(1): 11-9.

Polzer, S., M. T. Dittmar, et al. (2002). "The N-linked glycan g15 within the V3 loop of the HIV-1 external glycoprotein gp120 affects coreceptor usage, cellular tropism, and neutralization." Virology 304(1): 70-80.

Popovic, M., M. G. Sarngadharan, et al. (1984). "Detection, isolation, and continuous production of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and pre-AIDS." Science 224(4648): 497-500.

Preble, O. T. and R. M. Friedman (1983). "Interferon-induced alterations in cells: relevance to viral and nonviral diseases." Lab Invest 49(1): 4-18.

Pulford, K. A., A. Sipos, et al. (1990). "Distribution of the CD68 macrophage/myeloid associated antigen." Int Immunol 2(10): 973-80.

210

Rana, S., G. Besson, et al. (1997). "Role of CCR5 in infection of primary macrophages and lymphocytes by macrophage-tropic strains of human immunodeficiency virus: resistance to patient-derived and prototype isolates resulting from the delta ccr5 mutation." J Virol 71(4): 3219-27.

Raposo, G., H. W. Nijman, et al. (1996). "B lymphocytes secrete antigen-presenting vesicles." J Exp Med 183(3): 1161-72.

Rizzi, C., M. Alfano, et al. (2004). "Inhibition of intra- and extra-cellular Tat function and HIV expression by pertussis toxin B-oligomer." Eur J Immunol 34(2): 530-6.

Robichaud, G. A. and L. Poulin (2000). "HIV type 1 nef gene inhibits tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis and promotes cell proliferation through the action of MAPK and JNK in human glial cells." AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 16(18): 1959-65.

Rodgers, J. T., C. Lerin, et al. (2005). "Nutrient control of glucose homeostasis through a complex of PGC-1alpha and SIRT1." Nature 434(7029): 113-8.

Rowland-Jones, S., S. Pinheiro, et al. (2001). "New insights into host factors in HIV-1 pathogenesis." Cell 104(4): 473-6. Roy, A. M., B. Schweighardt, et al. (2005). "Enhanced replication of R5 HIV-1 over X4 HIV-1 in CD4(+)CCR5(+)CXCR4(+) T cells." J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 40(3): 267-75.

Roy, S., U. Delling, et al. (1990). "A bulge structure in HIV-1 TAR RNA is required for Tat binding and Tat-mediated trans-activation." Genes Dev 4(8): 1365-73.

Ruben, S., A. Perkins, et al. (1989). "Structural and functional characterization of human immunodeficiency virus tat protein." J Virol 63(1): 1-8.

Ruprecht, R. M. (1999). "Live attenuated AIDS viruses as vaccines: promise or peril?" Immunol Rev 170: 135-49.

Saifuddin, M., M. L. Hart, et al. (2000). "Interaction of mannose-binding lectin with primary isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1." J Gen Virol 81(Pt 4): 949-55.

Sanchez-Pescador, R., M. D. Power, et al. (1985). "Nucleotide sequence and expression of an AIDS-associated retrovirus (ARV-2)." Science 227(4686): 484-92.

Sattentau, Q. J., J. P. Moore, et al. (1993). "Conformational changes induced in the envelope glycoproteins of the human and simian immunodeficiency viruses by soluble receptor binding." J Virol 67(12): 7383-93.

27

- · · ·

ľ

1

. L

,

11

12

; |

Sauve, A. A., C. Wolberger, et al. (2006). "The Biochemistry of Sirtuins." Annu Rev Biochem.

Sawai, E. T., M. S. Hamza, et al. (2000). "Pathogenic conversion of live attenuated simian immunodeficiency virus vaccines is associated with expression of truncated Nef." J Virol 74(4): 2038-45.

Scala, G., M. R. Ruocco, et al. (1994). "The expression of the interleukin 6 gene is induced by the human immunodeficiency virus 1 TAT protein." J Exp Med 179(3): 961-71.

Scarlatti, G., E. Tresoldi, et al. (1997). "In vivo evolution of HIV-1 co-receptor usage and sensitivity to chemokine-mediated suppression." Nat Med 3(11): 1259-65.

Schacker, T., S. Little, et al. (2001). "Productive infection of T cells in lymphoid tissues during primary and early human immunodeficiency virus infection." J Infect Dis 183(4): 555-62.

Schindler, M., J. Munch, et al. (2006). "Nef-mediated suppression of T cell activation was lost in a lentiviral lineage that gave rise to HIV-1." Cell 125(6): 1055-67.

Schmidtmayerova, H., M. Alfano, et al. (1998). "Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 T-lymphotropic strains enter macrophages via a CD4- and CXCR4-mediated pathway: replication is restricted at a postentry level." J Virol 72(6): 4633-42.

Schmidtmayerova, H., M. Lackovicova, et al. (1992). "Virus neutralizing antibodies at different stages of the HIV disease: increased levels after azidothymidine treatment." Acta Virol 36(2): 157-65.

Schneider, U., H. U. Schwenk, et al. (1977). "Characterization of EBV-genome negative "null" and "T" cell lines derived from children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and leukemic transformed non-Hodgkin lymphoma." Int J Cancer 19(5): 621-6.

Schols, D., J. A. Este, et al. (1997). "Bicyclams, a class of potent anti-HIV agents, are targeted at the HIV coreceptor fusin/CXCR-4." Antiviral Res 35(3): 147-56.

Schramm, B., M. L. Penn, et al. (2000). "Cytopathicity of human immunodeficiency virus type 2 (HIV-2) in human lymphoid tissue is coreceptor dependent and comparable to that of HIV-1." J Virol 74(20): 9594-600.

Schramm, B., M. L. Penn, et al. (2000a). "Viral entry through CXCR4 is a pathogenic factor and therapeutic target in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 disease." J Virol 74(1): 184-92.

Schroder, A. R., P. Shinn, et al. (2002). "HIV-1 integration in the human genome favors active genes and local hotspots." Cell 110(4): 521-9.

Schuitemaker, H., M. Koot, et al. (1992). "Biological phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 clones at different stages of infection: progression of disease is associated with a shift from monocytotropic to T-cell-tropic virus population." J Virol 66(3): 1354-60.

Schuitemaker, H., N. A. Kootstra, et al. (1991). "Monocytotropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) variants detectable in all stages of HIV-1 infection lack T-cell line tropism and syncytium-inducing ability in primary T-cell culture." J Virol 65(1): 356-63.

Schwartz, O., V. Marechal, et al. (1996). "Endocytosis of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules is induced by the HIV-1 Nef protein." Nat Med 2(3): 338-42.

Secchiero, P., D. Zella, et al. (1999). "Extracellular HIV-1 tat protein up-regulates the expression of surface CXC-chemokine receptor 4 in resting CD4+ T cells." J Immunol 162(4): 2427-31.

Secchiero, P., D. Zella, et al. (2000). "Engagement of CD28 modulates CXC chemokine receptor 4 surface expression in both resting and CD3-stimulated CD4+ T cells." J Immunol 164(8): 4018-24.

Shaw, K. T. and N. H. Greig (1999). "Chemokine receptor mRNA expression at the in vitro blood-brain barrier during HIV infection." Neuroreport 10(1): 53-6.

Sheng, W. S., S. Hu, et al. (2000). "Activation of human microglial cells by HIV-1 gp41 and Tat proteins." Clin Immunol 96(3): 243-51.

Sherman, M. P., C. M. de Noronha, et al. (2003). "Nuclear export of Vpr is required for efficient replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in tissue macrophages." J Virol 77(13): 7582-9.

Shirazi, Y. and P. M. Pitha (1998). "Interferon downregulates CXCR4 (fusin) gene expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells." J Hum Virol 1(2): 69-76.

Simmons, A., V. Aluvihare, et al. (2001). "Nef triggers a transcriptional program in T cells imitating single-signal T cell activation and inducing HIV virulence mediators." Immunity 14(6): 763-77.

Simmons, G., J. D. Reeves, et al. (1998). "CXCR4 as a functional coreceptor for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection of primary macrophages." J Virol 72(10): 8453-7.

Slagsvold, T., K. Pattni, et al. (2006). "Endosomal and non-endosomal functions of ESCRT proteins." Trends Cell Biol 16(6): 317-26.

Smith, K. A. (1988). "Interleukin-2: inception, impact, and implications." Science 240(4856): 1169-76.

Sorin, M. and G. V. Kalpana (2006). "Dynamics of virus-host interplay in HIV-1 replication." Curr HIV Res 4(2): 117-30.

Spina, C. A., T. J. Kwoh, et al. (1994). "The importance of nef in the induction of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication from primary quiescent CD4 lymphocytes." J Exp Med 179(1): 115-23.

Stent, G., G. B. Joo, et al. (1997). "Macrophage tropism: fact or fiction?" J Leukoc Biol 62(1): 4-11.

Stevenson, M., T. L. Stanwick, et al. (1990). "HIV-1 replication is controlled at the level of T cell activation and proviral integration." Embo J 9(5): 1551-60.

Stewart, G. J., L. J. Ashton, et al. (1997). "Increased frequency of CCR-5 delta 32 heterozygotes among long-term non-progressors with HIV-1 infection. The Australian Long-Term Non-Progressor Study Group." Aids 11(15): 1833-8.

Strack, B., A. Calistri, et al. (2003). "AIP1/ALIX is a binding partner for HIV-1 p6 and EIAV p9 functioning in virus budding." Cell 114(6): 689-99.

Stremlau, M., C. M. Owens, et al. (2004). "The cytoplasmic body component TRIM5alpha restricts HIV-1 infection in Old World monkeys." Nature 427(6977): 848-53.

Swigut, T., N. Shohdy, et al. (2001). "Mechanism for down-regulation of CD28 by Nef." Embo J 20(7): 1593-604.

Temin, H. M., C. Y. Kang, et al. (1973). "Endogenous RNA-directed DNA polymerase activity in normal cells." Johns Hopkins Med J Suppl 2: 141-56.

Terwilliger, E. F., B. Godin, et al. (1989). "Construction and use of a replicationcompetent human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1) that expresses the chloramphenicol acetyltransferase enzyme." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86(10): 3857-61. Tokunaga, K., M. L. Greenberg, et al. (2001). "Molecular basis for cell tropism of CXCR4-dependent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates." J Virol 75(15): 6776-85.

Tomaras, G. D., S. F. Lacey, et al. (2000). "CD8+ T cell-mediated suppressive activity inhibits HIV-1 after virus entry with kinetics indicating effects on virus gene expression." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(7): 3503-8.

Toohey, K., K. Wehrly, et al. (1995). "Human immunodeficiency virus envelope V1 and V2 regions influence replication efficiency in macrophages by affecting virus spread." Virology 213(1): 70-9.

UNAIDS (2002). "AIDS Epidemic Update."

Unutmaz, D., P. Pileri, et al. (1994). "Antigen-independent activation of naive and memory resting T cells by a cytokine combination." J Exp Med 180(3): 1159-64.

van't Wout, A. B., N. A. Kootstra, et al. (1994). "Macrophage-tropic variants initiate human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection after sexual, parenteral, and vertical transmission." J Clin Invest 94(5): 2060-7.

Vaziri, H., S. K. Dessain, et al. (2001). "hSIR2(SIRT1) functions as an NADdependent p53 deacetylase." Cell 107(2): 149-59. Vendeville, A., F. Rayne, et al. (2004). "HIV-1 Tat enters T cells using coated pits before translocating from acidified endosomes and eliciting biological responses." Mol Biol Cell 15(5): 2347-60.

Verani, A., E. Pesenti, et al. (1998). "CXCR4 is a functional coreceptor for infection of human macrophages by CXCR4-dependent primary HIV-1 isolates." J Immunol 161(5): 2084-8.

Vincent, M. J., L. R. Melsen, et al. (1999). "Intracellular interaction of simian immunodeficiency virus Gag and Env proteins." J Virol 73(10): 8138-44.

Ward, J. M. (2000). Pathology of genetically engineered mice. Ames, Iowa State University Press.

Weeks, K. M., C. Ampe, et al. (1990). "Fragments of the HIV-1 Tat protein specifically bind TAR RNA." Science 249(4974): 1281-5.

Wei, P., M. E. Garber, et al. (1998). "A novel CDK9-associated C-type cyclin interacts directly with HIV-1 Tat and mediates its high-affinity, loop-specific binding to TAR RNA." Cell 92(4): 451-62.

Weiss, J. M., A. Nath, et al. (1999). "HIV-1 Tat induces monocyte chemoattractant protein-1-mediated monocyte transmigration across a model of the human blood-brain barrier and up-regulates CCR5 expression on human monocytes." J Immunol 163(5): 2953-9.

Weiss, R. A. (2002). "HIV receptors and cellular tropism." IUBMB Life 53(4-5): 201-5.

Weissman, J. D., J. A. Brown, et al. (1998). "HIV-1 tat binds TAFII250 and represses TAFII250-dependent transcription of major histocompatibility class I genes." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(20): 11601-6.

Westendorp, M. O., M. Li-Weber, et al. (1994). "Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat upregulates interleukin-2 secretion in activated T cells." J Virol 68(7): 4177-85.

Westendorp, M. O., V. A. Shatrov, et al. (1995). "HIV-1 Tat potentiates TNF-induced NF-kappa B activation and cytotoxicity by altering the cellular redox state." Embo J 14(3): 546-54.

Westervelt, P., D. B. Trowbridge, et al. (1992). "Macrophage tropism determinants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in vivo." J Virol 66(4): 2577-82.

Whatmore, A. M., N. Cook, et al. (1995). "Repair and evolution of nef in vivo modulates simian immunodeficiency virus virulence." J Virol 69(8): 5117-23.

Winkler, C., W. Modi, et al. (1998). "Genetic restriction of AIDS pathogenesis by an SDF-1 chemokine gene variant. ALIVE Study, Hemophilia Growth and Development Study (HGDS), Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study (MACS), Multicenter Hemophilia
Cohort Study (MHCS), San Francisco City Cohort (SFCC)." Science 279(5349): 389-93.

Wong, G. H., J. F. Krowka, et al. (1988). "In vitro anti-human immunodeficiency virus activities of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interferon-gamma." J Immunol 140(1): 120-4.

Wu, Y. and J. W. Marsh (2001). "Selective transcription and modulation of resting T cell activity by preintegrated HIV DNA." Science 293(5534): 1503-6.

Wysoczynski, M., R. Reca, et al. (2005). "Incorporation of CXCR4 into membrane lipid rafts primes homing-related responses of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells to an SDF-1 gradient." Blood 105(1): 40-8.

Xiao, H., C. Neuveut, et al. (2000). "Selective CXCR4 antagonism by Tat: implications for in vivo expansion of coreceptor use by HIV-1." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(21): 11466-71.
Xiao, L., D. L. Rudolph, et al. (1998). "Adaptation to promiscuous usage of CC and CXC-chemokine coreceptors in vivo correlates with HIV-1 disease progression." Aids 12(13): F137-43.

Xiao, X., A. Kinter, et al. (2000a). "Interactions of CCR5 and CXCR4 with CD4 and gp120 in human blood monocyte-derived dendritic cells." Exp Mol Pathol 68(3): 133-8.

Xiao, X., D. Norwood, et al. (2000b). "Inefficient formation of a complex among CXCR4, CD4 and gp120 in U937 clones resistant to X4 gp120-gp41-mediated fusion." Exp Mol Pathol 68(3): 139-46.

Yamada, T. and A. Iwamoto (2000). "Comparison of proviral accessory genes between long-term nonprogressors and progressors of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection." Arch Virol 145(5): 1021-7.

Yeung, F., J. E. Hoberg, et al. (2004). "Modulation of NF-kappaB-dependent transcription and cell survival by the SIRT1 deacetylase." Embo J 23(12): 2369-80.

Yi, Y., W. Chen, et al. (2003). "An unusual syncytia-inducing human immunodeficiency virus type 1 primary isolate from the central nervous system that is restricted to CXCR4, replicates efficiently in macrophages, and induces neuronal apoptosis." J Neurovirol 9(4): 432-41.

Yi, Y., S. N. Isaacs, et al. (1999). "Role of CXCR4 in cell-cell fusion and infection of monocyte-derived macrophages by primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) strains: two distinct mechanisms of HIV-1 dual tropism." J Virol 73(9): 7117-25.

Yi, Y., S. Rana, et al. (1998). "CXCR-4 is expressed by primary macrophages and supports CCR5-independent infection by dual-tropic but not T-tropic isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1." J Virol 72(1): 772-7.

Yi, Y., F. Shaheen, et al. (2005). "Preferential use of CXCR4 by R5X4 human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates for infection of primary lymphocytes." J Virol 79(3): 1480-6.

Yin P.D., D. Das, et al. (2006). "Overcoming HIV drug resistance through rational drug design based on molecular, biochemical, and structural profiles of HIV resistance." Cell Mol Life Sci 63(15):1706-24.

Yoon, K., J. G. Jeong, et al. (2001). "Stable expression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef confers resistance against Fas-mediated apoptosis." AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 17(2): 99-104.

Zaitseva, M., A. Blauvelt, et al. (1997). "Expression and function of CCR5 and CXCR4 on human Langerhans cells and macrophages: implications for HIV primary infection." Nat Med 3(12): 1369-75.

Zaitseva, M., T. Romantseva, et al. (2005). "Increased CXCR4-dependent HIV-1 fusion in activated T cells: role of CD4/CXCR4 association." J Leukoc Biol 78(6): 1306-17.

Zauli, G., D. Gibellini, et al. (1996). "Pleiotropic effects of immobilized versus soluble recombinant HIV-1 Tat protein on CD3-mediated activation, induction of apoptosis, and HIV-1 long terminal repeat transactivation in purified CD4+ T lymphocytes." J Immunol 157(5): 2216-24.

Zennou, V., D. Perez-Caballero, et al. (2004). "APOBEC3G incorporation into human immunodeficiency virus type 1 particles." J Virol 78(21): 12058-61.

Zhang, L., Y. Huang, et al. (1997). "Genetic characterization of vif, vpr, and vpu sequences from long-term survivors of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection." Virology 228(2): 340-9.

Zhang, Z., T. Schuler, et al. (1999). "Sexual transmission and propagation of SIV and HIV in resting and activated CD4+ T cells." Science 286(5443): 1353-7.

Zhou, M., M. A. Halanski, et al. (2000). "Tat modifies the activity of CDK9 to phosphorylate serine 5 of the RNA polymerase II carboxyl-terminal domain during human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transcription." Mol Cell Biol 20(14): 5077-86.

Zidovetzki, R., J. L. Wang, et al. (1998). "Human immunodeficiency virus Tat protein induces interleukin 6 mRNA expression in human brain endothelial cells via protein kinase C- and cAMP-dependent protein kinase pathways." AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 14(10): 825-33.

Chapter 8: Notes and Appendices

8A. Tables

Table 1.1 – Two major viral phenotypes

Viral coreceptor	CCR5	CXCR4
Prevalence	100%	50-90%
Time of emergence	Early	Late
T cell infection	5-10%	Most T cells
T cell type	Activated, memory	Naive
Macrophage infection	Most isolates	Only some isolates
Transmission rate	High	Low
Cytopathicity	Few isolates	Most isolates
		(with syncytia)

^a The percentage of p24-positive macrophages was determined from images acquired by confocal double-immunofluorescence microscopy.

Vrus		Coreceptor ^b	Charge ^c	MOM	HLH M∳ [€]
	g13 g14 g15 g17				
NL4-3	QLMT SVELNGTEPNNNTEKSIEL QRGPGERAFVIIGKI - GRHRQRHCMI SPAKWMAI	X4	6) +	No	No
HXB2	QLMT SVELMCTEPMMNTRKELEL QRGPGERAFVTIGKI – GMARQAAGMI SDAKWMNT	X4	+10	No	ı
UG024	HLMESVVINCTEPY <u>MMI</u> RQR-TPI-GLGQALYTTERI-EDIERAHCMI SEAAW <u>KKT</u>	X4	5+	Yes	ı
UG021	HLME SUPTOCTEP Y <u>DKU</u> SYR-TPIGUGEA SYTTELKGDIE QAHCMI SGEKWMKT	X4	÷5	Yes	Yes
J130	QLMB SVQIMCTRPMMYLRKRVIHI - GPGRAFYT - GBIKGTIRQAHCML SDAQWMDT	X4	<u>5</u> +	Yes	Yes
J3 4	QL MT SVEI M CT RP M <u>MY I</u> RER - I HI - GP GRREYT - GKI T GMI RKRYCMI SDAKW <u>HD T</u>	X4	9+	Yes	ı
TYBE	OLME SVOIMCTRVSK <u>HI</u> ROKRIKI – GP GRAFVAR GDI – GDIRKAHCHI SKAKWHKA	X4	L+	Yes	ı
7/86	ÓT KES VELMELER BUUNTEKG-IHI - GP GERWYET GELVGDIR OF YCHI SETKWUNT	R5X4	+4	Yes	Yes
YU2	ÓTRESANTRCIEDRINNIEKKS-TRI-GÐ GEFFT ALL GETI GDIEGFFGRT SKLÖM <u>ert</u>	R5	۴ +	Yes	ı
Ва-Г	QL ME SVEI MCT EP MNMT RKS-IHL-GP GRAFYTT GELI GDI ROAHCML SRAKW <u>MDT</u> 336	R5	+2	Yes	
aThe set	quence from C2 to C3 of gp120 is shown relative to NL4-3 sequent	e positions. N-gly	cosylation site	es are indic	ated
and highli	ighted in NL4-3. Underlined sequences indicate loss of potential M-gly	cosylation sites.			
b Corece	sptor tropism as determined by HeLa-H11 infection (see also Fig. 1) ϵ	nd as published.			
°V3 loo	p charge calculated by the number of K or R residues minus the num	er of D or E resid	0-(X+X)) san	·+E)).	
dProduc	ctive infection of MDM (Yi 2005; Scarlatti 1997).				

Table 3.1 – V1-V3 sequences, glycosylation sites, and V3 charge of R5, R5X4, X4 lab-adapted, and X4 dualtropic viruses.

^eProductive infection of tissue-resident macrophages in human lymphoid histocultures (this study) (-, not determined).

.

2.11

÷.

1

1

5

Table 3.2 - Quantification of HIV-1 p24-positive macrophages in tonsil histoculturesfrom two donors.

Virus	Donor	p24 ⁺ Macrophages ^a
NL4-3 (TCLA-X4)	T189	22/644 (3.4%)
7/86 (R5X4)	T189	46/376 (12.2%)
	T190	43/344 (12.5%)
UG021 (X4)	T189	51/542 (9.4%)
	T190	47/388 (12.1%)
J130 (X4)	T189	62/628 (9.9%)

^a The percentage of p24-positive macrophages was determined from images acquired by confocal double-immunofluorescence microscopy.

213

2 ...

1. 6

Ł.

ſ

1

1

)

Tat72 ^a	Tat101 ^a	Method of verification ^b
CXCR4 (2)	CXCR4 (2.5)	R, F, L WB
MAPK3 (2.2)	MAPK3 (2)	-
ASMTL (2.1)	ASMTL (2.1)	-
	Tsg101 (2.5)	R, WB
	BMP8 (2)	-
	CAMK1 (2)	
	Thymosin beta	

Table 4.1 – Genes upregulated by GFP, Tat72, or Tat101 on microarray

* Values in parentheses are fold changes, determined by statistical analysis with Acuity software.

^b R: RNA quantification (SYBR green); W: western blot; F: flow cytometry; L: luciferase assay.

3 📩

4

14

 $\left[\right]$

4

F

l

.

Tat72 ^a	Tat101 ^a	Verified by
AP2B (2)	TIEG (2.1)	_
CD59 (2.5)	PCNA (2.6)	-
ASMTL (2.1)	Vimentin (2.5)	-
	PGK1 (2.4)	-
	RSP3 (2)	-
	Poly A BP (2)	-
	Thymosin beta	

Table 4.2 – Genes downregulated by GFP, Tat72, or Tat101 on microarray.

^a Values in parentheses are fold changes, determined by statistical analysis

with Acuity software.

Prerana Jayakumar

8B. Figures

Figure 1.1 – HIV life cycle



Figure 1.2 – HIV genome





3

721

d,

5-11

311

S

AF

12/2

N

Г

NIN SANNE T

Fi

BR

DR.J.F

29-216

JY

-2122

)

" I'L'



Figure 1.3 – CXCR4 signaling pathways

From http://www.biocarta.com/pathfiles/cxcr4Pathway.gif





Prerana Jayakumar

Figure 1.5 – Tat72 and Tat101



21 321 YE 17/21 BR 041/1 20-212 JY 2122 (1) 11.0

ť i

210

7.1.2

4,...

17

i

[]

s est

ويبد وال

к. Ул 12 г.

ŗ

1.

I.





Figure 1.8 - Tat domains



| |...

Figure 2.1 – The D36/99 isolate depletes $CD4^+$ T-cells more efficiently and replicates faster than D36/95 in *ex vivo* human lymphoid cell cultures.



1

1

1

[1]

Į

ſ

•••

L...

Figure 2.2 - D36/99 induces high levels of apoptosis among CD4⁺ T-cells in human lymphoid cell cultures.



10

 U_{n}^{p}

i

Figure 2.3 - D36/99 induces depletion and apoptosis of both CCR5⁺ and CCR5⁻



CD4⁺ T-cells in human *ex vivo* lymphoid cell cultures.

1:

11.

1

1

٠, ۱

١,

 $[\cdot]$

ſ



Figure 2.4 - D36/99 can use CXCR4 as a coreceptor more efficiently than D36/95.







Figure 2.6 – Human CD4 and CXCR4 are expressed on rat lymphocytes and macrophages.



Prerana Jayakumar



Α.



В.



C.



ſ

•

31

- •

4

1

...

۲.

ĺ

!

~~.... k. .

13

I

Figure 2.8 - Limited entry and early gene expression in transgenic rat

macrophages.







- 1

÷.

1 1

İ.

2

1.2

Γ

r r

Ł

Figure 2.10 – Cloning of human SDF-1gamma.







Prerana Jayakumar

Figure 2.12 – SDF-1gamma is predominantly a cytoplasmic protein with a discrete nucleolar localization.



23

7:

5

HI HI

t.

27,

13

54

41

Pii.

ε

52.1





.

2

i.

1

Ĺ

ſ

x 1 -

2

ľ

ſ

1

() |---

Ł





2 1

11.

6.

unana Ka

[

1 :::

ł

Figure 2.15 – SDF-1gamma blocks both X4 and R5 virus infection in GHOST cells.



ŧ

23 3

) .

1 |

6.

4

1.

۰.

L .

 \mathbb{D}

ĺ___

ŗ

 $\beta^{(1)}$

r ?





Prerana Jayakumar

Figure 2.17 - Tat-mediated superinduction of NF_KB response genes requires SIRT1



l

Prerana Jayakumar



Figure 2.18 - Tat neutralizes SIRT1 inhibition on NFkB promoter activity



į

133

3

ć.

ſ

(d

ŝ

1. 23

3 🔍

1___

Γ

12

<` [``



Figure 2.19 - Tat binds to the acetyl lysine-binding site in SIRT1

- 1

2:1

2...

ŗ

f

1.....

(.

ż

ł.

ifi Ma

ĺ___

j F

1





i

1:

2 ...

। नः

ł.

3

Γ

 \pm

 L_{i}^{*}

Figure 2.21 - Tat blocks the SIRT1 deacetylase activity and superinduces T-cell activation and HIV transcription via NF κ B.



 $\frac{1}{2}$

2.2

ł,

ſ

1 :

ŧ

Figure 3.1 - Primary X4 viruses UG021 and J130 do not use CCR5 as a coreceptor

and require CXCR4 for infection.



Figure 3.2 - Primary X4 viruses replicate in ex vivo human tonsil histocultures.



Figure 3.3 - Primary X4 isolates UG021 and J130, but not the TCLA-X4 strain NL4-3, productively infect tissue macrophages in human tonsil histocultures.



6 5+3-11. E SAIF AN YK 7112 1 NIN C BR 4 YY 112 27/21

2.

JY

Figure 3.4 - Tissue-resident macrophages in tonsils histocultures infected with primary X4 isolates are HIV-1 RNA positive.



3

34
Figure 3.5 - Confocal double-immunofluorescence microscopy allows determination of frequency of infected tissue macrophages.



Figure 3.6 - Markers for T cells and macrophages do not colocalize in infected tonsil histocultures.



Figure 3.7 – N-glycosylation pathway



From http://www.mun.ca/biochem/courses/3107/images/VVP/Ch15/15-34.jpg

Figure 3.8 – X4 dualtropic viruses NL4-3 and glycosylation mutants infect HeLa CD4-CCR5 cells.



Figure 3.9 – X4 dualtropic viruses and glycosylation mutants infect GHOST-CD4 cells.



Figure 3.10 – Glycosylation mutants fail to infect monocyte-derived macrophages.







Figure 4.2 – Tat expression in infected cells and GFP mean fluorescence intensity in Tat-infected cells





Figure 4.3 – Activation of GFP expression by extracellular Tat.

Figure 4.4 – Microarray comparisons















268



Figure 4.8 – Tat improves migration of T cells to SDF1alpha.

Figure 4.9 – Tat activates the CXCR4 promoter.



Figure 4.10 – The Tat-responsive element in CXCR4 is located between –600 and – 357 upstream of the start site.



Figure 4.11 – A conserved region in the Tat-responsive element of CXCR4

600 TAGTGATGCT.GTGAATGTGC.AAGTATAGAT.ACATCCTCCG.AAGGAAGGAT 551 550 CTTTACTCCT.TTTACCTCCT.GAATGGGCTG.CGTCTGCTGA.AAGCGCGGGG 501 500 AATGGCGTTG.GAAGCTTGGC.CCTACTCCA.GCATTGCCGC.CTACTGGTTG 451 450 GGTTACTCCA.GCAAGTCACT.CCCTTCCCT.GGGCCTCAGT.GTCTCTACTG 401 400 TAGCATTCCC.AGGTCTGGAA.TTCCATCCAC.TTTAGCAAGG.ATGG357 351 B Vertebrate Multi-Z Alignment and Conservation Conservation
550 CTTTACTCCT.TTTACCTCCT.GAATGGGCTG.CGTCTGCTGA.AAGCGCGGGG 50 500 AATGGCGTTG.GAAGCTTGGC.CCTACTTCCA.GCATTGCCGC.CTACTGGTTG 45 450 GGTTACTCCA.GCAAGTCACT.CCCCTTCCCT.GGGCCTCAGT.GTCTCTACTG 40 400 TAGCATTCCC.AGGTCTGGAA.TTCCATCCAC.TTTAGCAAGG.ATGG357 35 B Vertebrate Multi-Z Alignment and Conservation
500 AATGGCGTTG.GAAGCTTGGC.CCTACTTCCA.GCATTGCCGC.CTACTGGTTG 45: 450 GGTTACTCCA.GCAAGTCACT.CCCCTTCCCT.GGGCCTCAGT.GTCTCTACTG 40: 400 TAGCATTCCC.AGGTCTGGAA.TTCCATCCAC.TTTAGCAAGG.ATGG357 8 Vertebrate Multi-Z Alignment and Conservation Conservation
450 GGTTACTCCA . GCAAGTCACT . CCCCTTCCCT . GGGCCTCAGT . GTCTCTACTG 400 400 TAGCATTCCC . AGGTCTGGAA . TTCCATCCAC . TTTAGCAAGG . ATGG 357 353 B Vertebrate Multi-Z Alignment and Conservation
400 TAGCATTCCC.AGGTCTGGAA.TTCCATCCAC.TTTAGCAAGG.ATGG357 357 B Vertebrate Multi-Z Alignment and Conservation
B Vertebrate Multi-Z Alignment and Conservation
B Vertebrate Multi-Z Alignment and Conservation
Conservation
Conservation
Malina and in the still of the second state of the
hall (Mulaiand I) and alla alla alla allandarada a a lubar (
ing in the state of the state o
Armadillo
i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i
C abaA CE2-II HOXA LV-E1 NE-V PEA3 STAT5a
ADR1 Etz HrnF MATA NIT2 PPARa T-Aa
AP-2 GATA1/4/5 HSE MIG1 P BAB/BXB
C/EBP GCN4 lk-1/2/3 MZF1 p300 Sp1
c-Ets GCR1 IL6-RE BP NF-1 Pax Spz1

Figure 4.12 – Model of in vivo CXCR4 upregulation.







e.

9



Figure 5.2 – Tat upregulates Tsg101 RNA levels

Figure 5.3 – Tat101 slightly increases Tsg101 protein levels.





1

78

1212

1

The second

7.

Ŀ

FIT AT

IV

112-

NIND NING

T

71

Fr

3R

T PART AL

IV

1122

tran





CMV- Tat











111. J Fancisco San Francis Sun francisco Simulas LIBRO

Image: State of the second
